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PROCEEDINGS

. OF THE

American Society for Psychical Research

A CASE OF VERIDICAL HALLUCINATIONS.
Chapter I.
Introduction.

I wish to report on a remarkably interesting case which
exhibits several phases of importance in the study of super-
normal phenomena. It is an instance of combined halluci-
nations, at least apparently veridical, and of apparent ob-
session or “ possession.” The significance of it cannot be
discussed until the facts have been presented, and I have
mentioned so much of its real or apparent character merely
to suggest the point of view which the phenomena illustrate,
whether they prove it or not. There should be some point
de repere from which the narrative should start and this tenta-
tive view may serve to indicate the general purport of the
facts.

The case came to my attention in the following mannet.
Mr. Thompson came to me one evening, having been sent to
me by a friend to whom he had gone with his experiences.
I interrogated him very carefully and brought out the facts
which appear in his own narrative. My prompt and natural
diagnosis of it was that it was an interesting case of halluci-
nations with probable tendencies to disintegrating personal-
ity, and with possible tendencies to more serious disturb-
ances. But having heard of a few instances in which appar-
ently supernormal phenomena had been associated with de-
lusional states, I was interested in the auditory phenomenon
which he reported and which had at least the superficial
characteristics of mediumistic automatism. The association
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also of the hallucinations with the impulse to paint pictures
when this was not the natural habit of the man suggested
clearly enough what the apparent meaning of the phenomena
was. But I had no means of verifying any of them, and
while I was interested in the case psychologically it was per-
fectly clear that whatever interest for psychology the case
would have must depend on precisely this verification of the
experiences as unusual and as distinct from secondary per-
sonality. But it seemed to be that disintegration of the nor-
mal self was the only diagnosis which could be given the case
with suspicions of deeper tendencies sooner or later.

I therefore advised Mr. Thompson to abandon the paint-
ing into which his impulses and hallucinations had led him
and to do all he could to suppress the tendency. I have since
learned that it. is probably not best to do so in such cases
But without dwelling on the therapeutic aspect of such in-
stances, as later investigation may prove to be advisable or
not, I can only allude to my opinion to show how I felt about
the phenomena and that I saw no interest for supernormal
psychology in the case, at least in so far as evidence and
corroboration could show. These left me without any other
interest or importance in the phenomena than the usual
place of them. in abnormal psychology. I could only counsel
the man to go back to his trade of goldsmith and to try to
overcome the impulse to do what seemed to me impossible
of success.

While reflecting on this advice to the man and on the
apparent evidence of the supernormal in his case, it flashed
on my mind that I ought to take him to a medium. I had
often thought that it might be a good test of certain halluci-
natory cases to have an experiment with mediums to see if
their halluctnations might not be proved to be veridical when
they could not be made such by corroborative testimony of
others. This plan, however, had not suggested itself to me
at first, as I felt so confident that the case was an abnormal
one. But when it did come to my mind to try it I even
hesitated, but soon saw that this was the only course to
adopt and so suggested it to the man. He told me that he
had never visited a medium in his life and did not know what
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they were or what might be accomplished by an experiment
with him. I was very careful not to tell him what I wanted
to do. My plan, of course, was to see if what seemed to be
a subjective hallucination might not turn out to be objective
and veridical, but I made no hint of this to him. I merely
asked him if he had ever visited a medium and on his reply-
ing in the negative, I further asked him if he would like to
go with me. He assented, and I arranged with him to meet
me at my house on a certain evening and a certain hour, the
times indicated in my report on the first experiment. I asked
him to remain in the house until I went to the telephone and
returned. He did so. The telephone was half a block away.
I called up a psychic whose work had been slightly familiar
to me and arranged for a sitting, giving no names and no
data by which she could conjecture whom I was bringing.
I returned and told Mr. Thompson that I had successfully
arranged for the experiment, but I made no mention of where
it was to be. I simply had him agree to meet me at my
house. He did so with the result that the record below
shows (p. 100).

There were apparent evidences of the stipernormal in the
statements of the psychic. Of that the reader can judge for
himself. I myself took the notes and had previously cau-
tioned Mr. Thompson against hints and suggestions or ques-
tions that might be equivalent to these. The record shows
to what extent he did or did not conform to this policy. It is
certain that on the main points he did not give any sugges-
tions. Tho the evidence was not overwhelming for super-
normal phenomena, it created the obligation to pursue the
matter further. But without being conclusive it pointed in
the direction of veridical as opposed to subjective hallucina-
tions and more than justified the suggestion which came to
my mind to try the experiment. The decidedly spiritistic
form of the results need not be accepted at their superficial
value, but whether they be so accepted or not, it was inter-
esting to find that the artist vhich Mr. Thompson felt was
about him was identified so far as the experiment went and
some allusion made to the sitter’s grandmother under terms
that were strongly suggestive of her real presence. The only
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thing to be done after this was to follow up the case by fur-
ther experiment.

The peculiar form of Mr. Thompson’s hallucinations was
that of trees and scenes which he had an impulse to paint.
He had not been trained as an artist and had never practiced
painting as a profession or to any considerable extent. The
only connection with art of any kind which he had was that
of goldsmith and some sporadic attempts to paint as later
notes indicate, and the testimony, so far as it goes, shows
that he was not remarkable in that. The impulse to paint
seems to have come to him largely, if not altogether, after
the death of Mr. Gifford and the hallucinations that persist-
ently presented themselves to him were of scenes and objects
familiar to this deceased artist. They persecuted his vision
like fixed ideas until he put them upon canvas. The cuts
represented in Figures IV and X VI inclusively are illustra-
tions of pictures painted under such impulses. The scenes
were apparently those which he himself had never seen and
were painted without the presence of the real view before his
vision. He had only the hallucination by which to guide his
brush. There were several of these completed before any
resolution was formed to try painting from nature. A number
of paintings were then made of scenes in the Bronx and one
or two in Connecticut. This practice gave him familiarity
with painting from nature, and he then resolved to go to the
scenes and haunts of Mr. Gifford to paint the originals of that
locality. Along with his hallucinations he had the fixed idea
that, if he went to Mr. Gifford’s old haunts, he would find the
scenes which had affected his own vision. He could not rest
until this task was fulfilled. He was simply obsessed with a
perfectly passionate desire to get to the place for this work.
Before he went, however, he made a number of sketches from
the scenes which haunted his hallucinatory vision and left
them with me. This was on July 2nd, 1907. I made the
following note to this effect:—

July 2nd, 1907.
“Mr. F. L. Thompson gave me the enclosed drawings as
those which he has painted since his inspiration from Gifford
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seized him. The simplest ones, most of them with dates and
mere sketches, were drawn automatically and before he knew
that Mr. Gifford was dead. The others were drawn after
knowledge of his death and consciously, tho with automatic
tendencies at the time.”

These pictures are represented in Figures IV and XII
inclusively, XVII, XXI, XXII and XXIII. Among them
that of Figure XXIII has a remarkable history. The hallu-
cination of that sketch had haunted Mr. Thompson persist-
ently with a clear idea of what its subject was, namely, a
‘“ Battle of the Elements,” and it was the picture which he
thought was described in the record of Mrs. Rathbun and also
alluded to in the record of Mrs. Chenoweth. The same scene
was apparently described by another psychic as Mr. Thomp-
son felt impelled to draw automatically the same scene which
he did not recognize until I pointed out to him its intention.
The actual finding of the scene on the island and painting it,
as represented in Figure XX VI, completed the incident and
the two pictures may be compared by the reader.

Perhaps quite as remarkable, if not more so, is the sketch
and paintings represented by Figures XVII and XX inclu-
sively. Mr. Thompson had left in my hands the sketch rep-
resented by Figure XVII on July 2nd, 1907. When he ar-
rived at Nonquitt, Mass., expecting to find there the scenes
representing Mr. Gifford’s work, he was admitted to Mr. Gif-
ford’s studio and found there on the easel the unfinished
_painting of Mr. Gifford represented by Figure XVIII. Mr.
Thompson had never seen this painting. The circumstances
which justify this statement will be found later, and I only
call attention to it because the cuts illustrating them will ex-
plain the importance of the incident, if its genuineness can
be accepted.

In the meantime a number of Mr. Thompson’s paintings
were shown me by him and the success with the first psychic
induced me to try an experiment with another who had dem-
onstrated her ability to produce supernormal phenomena.
The record (pp. 112-33) shows what was effected in this ex-
periment. The psychic was never apprised of the sitters and
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they themselves simply had requests to meet me at a certain
place and hour when their sittings would be given them.
They did not know and most of them to-day do not know
who the psychic was to whom they were taken. Nor did
the psychic at any time, then or now, know the sitter. Mr.
Thompson was no exception to these. He simply met me at
the hotel where I was conducting the experiments and I did
not introduce him into the room until after the psychic had
been put into the trance. He came away before she recov-
ered normal consciousness. The results under these condi-
tions speak for themselves. The reader will remark that the
sitter unwittingly gave himself away in a few statements, but
in the main incidents there was nothing inferred from his
unfortunate slips. The record with its notes must speak for
itself.

It was soon after this that Mr. Thompson went away for
the summer and fall to find the scenes of Mr. Gifford’s work.
He spent several months there, apparently finding the very
places and trees which had infested his vision for so long a
time, and this without help or guidance from others. He
went over the islands without the accompaniment of any one
and apparently with familiar ease. He found many of the
very scenes which had appeared in his hallucinations, all
without the directing help of any guide, and brought home
with him as the result of his work a large number of paint-
ings, some of which appear in the illustrations. Quite a num-
ber of the views were marine and some were shore views not
associated with any of the previous hallucinations. Conse-
quently they are not produced here, as not being of any in-
terest in the evidence of the supernormal. They have their
importance for estimating the relation of his art to his mea-
ger experience before this strange development occurred,
but the nature of this would have to be determined by the
student of art. Illustrations will not exhibit it.

One of the most interesting of these incidents is the fol-
lowing. A certain peculiar group of trees had appeared in
Mr. Thompson’s hallucinations. While wandering about on
the island whose name I am not permitted to use and which
was a favorite haunt of Mr. Gifford, Mr. Thompson happened
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upon a group which he took to be identical with his appari-
tion and proceeded to sketch the same. He stood some sixty
feet from them while at work and while sketching heard a
phantom voice say: “ Look on the other side of the tree.”
He went forward and on the opposite side of one of the trees
he found Mr. Gifford’s initials carved in the bark with the
date of 1902 under them. The details of this incident will
be found below (p. 78). The auditory apparition is inter-
esting when considered in connection with the one Mr.
Thompson experienced when visiting the exhibition of Mr.
Gifford’s paintings. Figure XXXIX represents the initials
and date as found on the tree.

During his stay on the islands and while painting his
pictures he had some strange experiences, especially of the
auditory type, of which he made a record at the time of their
occurrence. I publish this diary as he wrote it and it will
have its own interest. It is interesting to note that the artist
whom I asked to look at the paintings and to see if he dis-
covered any suggesions of the author imitated, spontane-
ously remarked in connection with one of the pictures that it
suggested music. As a matter of fact, Mr. Thompson had
the most distinct hallucinations of music when painting that
scene that he had experienced in all his stay on the island.
Of course, we can treat the facts as a mere coincidence, but
it is an interesting one. Mr. Thompson seems not to have
consciously thought of music when he saw the scene, but
simply seemed to hear it more distinctly than when before
other scenes.

A curious circumstance may indicate some significance in
Mr. Thompson’s musical experiences. When telling a friend
of Mr. Gifford’s about the facts of the case and without hav-
ing made any remark to him about Mr. Thompson’s experi-
ences with the music, not having myself attached any im-
portance of an evidential character to them, this friend asked
me if Mr. Thompson had shown any experiences in music. I
replied that he had and then told him what they were, as the
detailed notes indicate, and this friend at once remarked that
Mr. Gifford was passionately fond of music, especially the
violin. The reader may be left to interpret the facts himself.
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Mr. Thompson’s story of his life, if accepted as entirely
veracious, as I think it can be, has been corroborated by
other testimony, and it shows too little experience in art to
explain his productions in accordance with the usual stand-
ards of education, even tho we felt no temptations with the
hypothesis of the supernormal. Very early in the case it
seemed necessary on the part of a friend to ascertain how
much value attached to his paintings and an arrangement
was made to have an expert judge of paintings pass judgment
on them. Mrs. Miiller’s account describes what took place on
this occasion and incidentally the gentleman remarked that
the pictures looked like Gifford’s, tho he knew nothing what-
ever of the facts connected with their production. In truth,
he had not been brought to discover any relation between the
style of the picture and any artist, but to decide upon their
economic value. He simply noticed spontaneously the like-
ness to Gifford’s pictures.

I also resolved upon a similar experiment. I obtained a
reference to a teacher of art and an artist himself. I went to
him and explained that I wanted him to do a little piece of
work purely for science, saying that I wanted to show him
some pictures from which he was to discover any artist whom
they suggested. I told him absolutely nothing of the history
of the pictures. I explained that I did not desire any judg-
ment upon the artistic merits of the pictures, but solely upon
their resemblances to any one he might know. I did not
even indicate whether the pictures were imitations or orig-
inals. I took to him first the sketches which are represented
in Figures IV and XII inclusively, XVII, XXI and XXIII,
and took down verbatim what he said as he examined them.
The following is the report of that experiment. A part of
the experiment was to show him the actual paintings also
which I did afterward the same day, without any explanation
of their history. The account of this is included in the re-
port.

March 16th, 1908.
I made an arrangement with Prof. Dow, of the Teachers’ Col-
lege, to call at Mr. Thompson’s room and examine his pictures.
I told him absolutely nothing about their origin or about the
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person whom they supposedly represented. I explained to him
that my object was to see if he would detect the artist represented
by them. I carefully avoided the mention of any names that
might suggest the man involved in the pictures, and explained
that I did not care whether he succeeded in discovering the right
name or not. I was not primarily concerned, I said, in the merits
of the paintings, but in the personality possibly represented by
them.

Before going I showed him the sketches which Mr. Thompson
had put into my hands last summer before he went out to Gif-
ford’s haunts and with them I also showed him_the photographs
which Mr. Thompson took of the scenes on the islands and in the
localities in which Gifford did his work. Prof. Dow recognized
spontaneously and at once the resemblance between the sketches
and the photographs.

The first sketch shown him was a clump of trees and he re-
marked that they looked like storm blown trees on the Pacific
coast. The second which was a similar sketch brought out the
remark that the trees looked like storm blown trees on Cape Cod.
When I showed him a photograph of storm blown trees from that
locality without saying where it was taken he said it represented
trees on the New England coast and reminded him of old apple
trees he had seen there.

Comparing the photographs and the sketches he remarked
that the trees had the same lines in them and that the person who
drew them was specially interested in those lines, and he noted
especially that he was interested in massing foliage and tree tops,
a characteristic which he also remarked was in the photographs.

When we arrived at Mr. Thompson’s place I simply intro-
duced Prof. Dow without explanations except that he would like
to see the pictures. The first set was of marine views, and Prof.
Dow remarked of one of them that it was of the kind that Wins-
low Homer liked to paint. The first painting of trees suggested
Innes. It was not specially typical of Gifford. Presently after
two or three pictures with similar trees in them were shown,
Prof. Dow remarked of one of them: “ That is the kind of thing
Swain Gifford liked to paint down there.” Some allusion had
been made by Mr. Thompson, in exhibiting the pictures, to an
island in the locality which Gifford had haunted. Prof. Dow then
remarked that all the tree scenes recalled Gifford and said that he
was always struck with Gifford’s long marshes and storm blown
trees.

No hint of Gifford had been given up to this point, even the
allusion to an island without specifying it not being suggestive
of the man, tho it may have aided recollection and suggestion in
the mind of the critic. But I then told Prof. Dow how the pic-
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tures were painted and he was quite surprised at the work and
remarked that the technique involved would require years to
master. When told that the copy of Venus on the wall was made
in three days he was much surprised and said that he himself
would require two weeks to do it. He was also astonished at the
number of pictures he had painted during the summer, and espe-
cially when told that a certain one was painted in two hours.

When shown the painting that represented the “ Battle of the
Elements ” Prof. Dow remarked that the technique showed great
detail and called attention to the spray on the grass and trees.
Mr. Thompson remarked that he had not known what that meant.
It was quite clear when attention was called to it that this was
the intention in the painting and was an important detail in the
completion of the idea.

Prof. Dow volunteered the statement that, if he had been
asked about the man’s experience, he would have said that he
had had a long experience in painting.

The result of this experiment was a clear and spontaneous
identification of Gifford’s style and of technique in the paint-
ing that was not the consequence of long training. It con-
firmed the report made by Mrs. Miiller regarding the state-
ments of a connoisseur of art. This, of course, does not
afford proof of the supernormal, but it does suggest inter-
esting psychological phenomena, that make the careful in-
vestigation of such cases imperative. We cannot forestall
any conclusions regarding such cases, as they must be ob-
served in many instances for assuring us of their meaning.
But we cannot dismiss the phenomena with a sneer or dis-
regard the superficial claims which they present. The recog-
nition of these is the first step in ascertaining the real ex-
planation, whatever it may be.

A man’s training and experience as a goldsmith neces-
sarily involve some artistic instincts and habits, so that Mr.
Thompson’s painting is not without a background of artistic
nature and culture, tho it did not take the direction of paint-
ing either by habit or impulse. The small amount of edu-
cation which he had in drawing is not sufficient to account for
either his technique or his versatility in painting, tho it de-
tracts from the evidential value of the phenomena. But
that the impulse to do this new work was not preceded by
any indications of the abnormal is perhaps fairly well sup-
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ported by the testimony of several companies with whom
Mr. Thompson had worked. I was given their names and
addresses, and inquiries brought out favorable reports from
all who received the inquiry. I received replies from three
firms with whom he had worked. Two or three firms did
not recall him, as it was some years before that he had been
under their employment. Of the three who did reply one
said his work was satisfactory and that nothing unusual was
observed about him during his service with them. Another
firm, while speaking well of his character and mental condi-
tion, did not find his work artistic enough to retain him in
their service. The third firm thought him “ dreamy and not
particularly practical, so much so that we did not care to
retain him jin our employ,” not a very good view to support
any claim of native artistic work, especially as designing was
a part of his duties. He seems, however, to have given sat-
isfaction for such work as he was capable of doing, and this
seems to have borne no proportion to the measure of training
and ability required to paint such pictures as many of his are.
One firm, however, states that his work was of “a high
artistic character.” The firm was one of manufacturing
jewelers. Their view is not consistent with that of his other
employers and certain circumstances suggest that it is not
to have the weight of the others, not because it contradicts
theirs or appreciates where theirs depreciates the man’s abil-
ities, but because some personal influences bear upon the
case. I think the general judgment of mediocre artistic pow-
ers naturally is the only one that will bear maintenance.
There are certainly no natural traits of an unusual kind for
art.

This is not said in detraction of Mr. Thompson’s abilities,
as it is probable that they are potentially better than his work
would indicate. We must remember that he was born of
poor parents who could not give him the education or oppor-
tunities for development, and very early he had to earn his
own living. Circumstances compelled him to do work that
did not represent his natural bent. What his real proclivities
were was indicated very early in his work for the Pairpoint
Company whose manager encouraged his sketching as a
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means of improving his work in engraving. Then the judg-
ment of some of the firms that he was “dreamy” and his
constant recurrence to sketching showed natural instincts for
pictorial art. I think, therefore, that there are latent possi-
bilities of art in the man which only lacked early opportunity
and assistance to develop into a very different expression from
that which we have now to observe. Whatever criticism he
has to bear is due less to the lack of native talents than to
the chance for artistic practice and development.

The condition of mind in which Mr. Thompson was, after
the impulse to paint seized him, is a matter of some impor-
tance. What this was is indicated both in his own account
of his experience and in that of Mrs. Thompson. It is even
suggested by the characterization which one of the firms
with which he worked gives of him. This, too, was many
years before the obsession arose. A disposition to reverie
seems to have been characteristic, and when this seizure to
paint came upon him he seems to have been more or less
constantly in a state of absent-mindedness, often bordering
on somnambulism or a trance. This varied from a slight
reverie to a complete trance with amnesia afterward. This
latter feature of it is especially noticeable in the incident
which took him away from home to find his lost pictures (Cf.
p. 111). He seems to have been normal for a part of this
time, but to have been somnambulic for another part of it, as
he has no memory of what transpired after a certain time. I
have often observed him in one of these moods when he
would not answer a question at once and seemed oblivious
to his surroundings. There was a dreamy look in his face,
and he seemed often to even forget the little amenities which

are necessary to appear social. When desiring to get the in-
- spiration to paint he will sit down at a zither to play it and
this without regard to the presence of strangers. Mrs.
Thompson has remarked this and similar facts constantly.
There is no apparent break with his normal consciousness
when these conditions come on. They represent no fixed
state and vary as all degrees of wakefulness and sleep vary.
What relation they sustain to the quality of his work I have
not been able to determine, as I have had no opportunity to
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watch him at his work, except once, when he seemed per-
fectly abstracted and paid no attention whatever to questions
I asked him. The condition, however, whether of light
reverie or deep trance, is evidently associated with his work
and impulses. It is probably identical psychologically with
the mental states of psychics in their supernormal and other
work. ]

It is in these conditions of varying degrees that Mr.
Thompson has his hallucinations from which he is directed
in his painting. These hallucinations have varied, of course,
with the objects and scenes to be painted, but when they
come they seem to obsess the mind until the picture is fin-
ished. The scenes appearing do not always complete them-
selves at the time. They may be a month or more develop-
ing and when he feels that they have reached the degree of
maturity that justifies work he proceeds to his painting. But
they never seem to relax their hold until he makes a picture
of them.

The detailed record of the case shows that I have the
corroborative testimony of his wife as to the phenomena
within her knowledge. I need not repeat them here. But
they show this tendency to reverie and the assertion of hal-
lucinatory forms constantly infesting his imagination, all
related to prospective pictures, or to finishing touches on past
ones. On account of this fact and of the need for further
matter of a mediumistic type I resolved on additional sit-
tings. I arranged for two with Mrs. Rathbun and did not
inform Mr. Thompson where they were to be or with whom
they were to be, tho this might have been guessed by him.
He was to meet me, as in the first case, at my house at an
appointed hour and I took him personally to the sitting with
a stenographer. The records of those two sittings will be
found in their places (p. 133). I had previously arranged -
for two sittings also with Mrs. Chenowith in the same man-
ner as the first one. They followed those with Mrs. Rath-
bun just a week, and the records tell their own story. The
notes explain their value and cogency. Their importance
lies in their evidence of the objectivity, if I may so speak, of
the hallucinatory phenomena. By this, of course, I mean
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that the hallucinations represent something more real than
the usually subjective hallucinations. They correspond to
the realities in the life of Mr. Gifford. It was this possibility
that suggested the first experiment and the second one con-
firmed the results of the first. Whatever explanation we
give of the phenomena the evidently supernormal nature of
the information conveyed by the mediunms suggests that we
are not dealing with merely subjective mental states of Mr.
Thompson, but with facts in the life of another and deceased
person as well. This was not evidentially apparent in the
mere narrative of Mr. Thompson’s experience, but has to be
treated more seriously when the same and other similar facts
are told through a medium. Whatever difficulty we might
entertain regarding the cause of the phenomena when at-
tested only by Mr. Thompson, we have it removed by the
mediumistic experiments, and the problem becomes a much
more interesting one. )

I shall reserve all discussion of the nature of the phe-
nomena until the detailed record of them has been given.
It suffices to understand that the case represents persistent
hallucinations of an apparently veridical type followed by
identification of the scenes pictured in them and not known
previously, with an impulse to paint accompanied by the
consciousness of the presence at time of the deceased artist in
whose life the scenes are recognizable facts. The occurrence
of these alleged facts is supported by the phenomena of me-
diumistic experiment. With this conception of the case as
outlining its character and suggestiveness we may proceed
with the detailed record and then discuss afterward the mean-
ing of the phenomena.

As my first diagnosis of the case was one of disintegrating
personality, tho not being a physician I could not trust this
judgment, I resolved to send or take Mr. Thompson to three
of the leading neurologists of New York City. One of these
to whom Mr. Thompson was sent stated that he had given
up this kind of work and he sent Mr. Thompson to Dr.
Charles E. Atwood. My object in so doing was to have the
natural judgment of expert opinion upon the case. Above
all I wanted to know how the physician acquainted with ab-
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normal psychology would pronounce upon phenomena of the
kind without knowing anything more about them than I did
at the first interview with Mr. Thompson. I therefore told
Mr. Thompson not to tell the physician any of the facts
which might serve as evidence for the supernormal, but sim-
ply to give the story of his experience up to the time of my
experiment with a psychic. To me it seemed that there was
only one general verdict to be given on the facts, where evi-
dence was lacking ‘that the phenomena were not the usual
ones, and that was some abnormal tendency to hallucina-
tions. The verdict of an expert physician would confirm or
deny this view. Hence Dr. Atwood was to have just the
data on which I had to form my own opinion at the outset,
together with such as his own inquiry might develop. Mr.
Thompson was not to say anything about the later facts de-
veloped by my own inquiries, nor was he to indicate his own
opinion of them which he had gradually formed from self-
examination and the results of my experiments. The follow-
ing is Dr. Atwood’s verdict. It was addressed to Dr. Titus
Bull through whom I arranged the experiment, concealing:
my own identity 1o avoid suspicion of motives.

New York, April 5th, 1908.
Dr. Titus Bull,

Dear Doctor:—My chief, Dr. Starr, sent your patient, Mr.
Thompson, to me stating that he did not see mental cases any
more. 1 have had twenty-five years experience with mental
cases, so hope I can give the correct diagnosis, etc.

The case is an exceedingly interesting one. I presume the
man has gone into detail with you regarding his hallucinations,
so I need not repeat them here.

His condition represents, in my opinion, a prodromal one of
paranoia, or of one of the paranoid states. The diagnosis is based
on the exclusion of all toxic causative factors chiefly. The
variety of paranoia developing appears at present to be what is
known as the late or acquired type and is a variety of paranoia
hallucinatoria. As yet, apparently, delusions have not developed
(based on the hallucinations) so that now is the time to treat the
condition. The patient realizes that his hallucinations of vision
and audition are hallucinations, so he cannot be said to be insane.
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If he should develop delusions and lose his present grasp and in-
sight into the situation, the prognosis would become less good,
in proportion to the impairment.

* * * * * * * *

C. E. ATWOOD.

I omit the suggestion as to treatment as this is not
important, except to remark that it was suggestive hypnosis.
In his conversation with Mr. Thompson Dr. Atwood ex-
pressed some perplexity regarding the relation between the
hallucinations and his physically normal condition. Appar-
ently he found no expected physical lesions or indications of
them to account for the hallucinations, and so was somewhat
interested in the unusual nature of the case. But I think
every intelligent student of mental phenomena would recog-
nize the justifiable nature of Dr. Atwood’s diagnosis with the
data presented. His is a technical diagnosis and I do not
know enough of medicine to say whether it agrees or dis-
agrees with the interpretation which seemed to me proper.
But in the main question of hallucinations and indications of
abnormal disturbances I think they agree, and that is all that
it was necessary to establish. In addition to this we have
also the judgment of a man who has had many years ex-
perience, and with the knowledge placed at his command I
think no disapproval of his judgment would be entertained,
unless by peers in his own profession. There was certainly
no satisfactory evidence in the phenomena themselves for
the conclusion which later experiment suggested and without
this additional evidence psychopathology could hardly ad-
vance any other opinion than the one proposed, assuming, of
course, that the patient was telling the truth, and this he
seemed to Dr. Atwood to be doing.

I also sent Mr. Thompson to two other physicians of
similar standing. One of them, requesting that his name
should not be published, reported that the man’s “ story was
an artefact, that it is a clever and ingenious scheme for dis-
posing of some pretty bad pictures.” I wrote for this physi-
cian’s statement as to what the story was that was told him
and asked for a copy of the notes made and also for the de-
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tailed evidence of this judgment, saying that I had found this
to be the interpretation of it at his old home and that I had
considered it in my study of the case. The reply was as
follows:

_ New York, July 10th, 1908.
My dear Mr. Hyslop:

I have your letter of July 8th and I am sorry that I made no
notes in the case under investigation. ‘I saw him three or four
times. I should be very glad to talk his case over with you and
we could make some notes at the time, but I should really not
care to publish anything in regard to him which might be hurtful
to him since the poor fellow is evidently having a struggle to
make his living.

Very sincerely,

The following is the report of Dr. Charles L. Dana after
an examination of the case.

New York City, July 14, 1908.
My dear Professor Hyslop:

I am rather unwilling to make a diagnosis of Mr. Thompson’s
case without some further knowledge substantiating his story.
While I have every confidence in it so far as the statements go, I
am depending entirely upon his statements. Assuming them to
be true, I should say he was suffering from a hallucinosis, such as
we find associated with certain abortive types of paranoia, and I
believe his malady belongs to that group and should like very
much to watch the progress of it still further.

Very sincerely yours,
CHARLES L. DANA.

Apart from what the mediumistic experiments might re-
veal it was apparent from the outset of the case that much
depended upon the veracity of Mr. Thompson. It seems to
have been the suspicion and even strong opinion of many
persons that the whole story of his experiences had been fab-
ricated to dispose of his pictures. Those who advanced this
opinion did not know that it had been told to me eight months
before any of the pictures had been painted and before he
felt any strong normal impulse to do the painting. It was
the first psychic experiment which seems to have reinforced
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the impulse to paint, sufficiently, to induce Mr. Thompson
normally to yield to it unreservedly. I had received the story
when Mr. Thompson himself was anxious to know what it
meant and had not made up his mind either to indulge his
impulse or to accept the apparent interpretation of them.
But it seems also never to have occurred to the promoters of
the clever scheme theory that such an attempt was far from
“clever and ingenious.” No sane person would expect to
sell pictures on the allegation of such an origin as was super-
ficially apparent in the story, and the physician had to assume
him sane, if he made the story an artefact or lie, and if he
was not sane, he could not properly regard it as an artefact
or conscious lying. A man might be assumed to be clever
and ingenious if he copled pictures of Gifford’s and tried to
sell them as originals. But to invent the story that he was
influenced by hallucinations to imitate Gifford or that his own
paintings were produced under the influence of a dead artist
is not a clever way to dispose of them, and it is surprising to
see men who wish to sustain a reputation for intelligence
proposing such a view of the case, as one would suppose it
the highest folly to think of such a thing. Such a scheme
might well deceive the credulous spiritualist who does not
investigate, but not only were the paintings having a special
interest not in existence when the story was on record, but
Mr. Thompson had not tried to dispose of any of them to that
class. Two pictures had been sold before the important ones
had been painted, but this was after the facts had been told
me and after my experiment had been performed, which gave
the man confidence in his experiences. But as the pictures
which gave rise to this theory were not in existence at the
time the record was made of the facts it is hardly wise to
propose or defend it, unless there is definite evidence of its
truth. There was no evidence for those who put it forward
and it was or could be only a device to save investigation.
Let me summarize the facts. Mr. Thompson told me the
whole story on January 16th, 1907, and had his first sitting on
January 18th. Until this date he had painted only six or
eight small pictures. He states that he had no idea of their
artistic merits, and this statement is borne out by his ex-
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pressed fear when he said to me on the first of the above dates
that he might be threatened by insanity and wanted to know
whether this fear was well grounded or not. He had sold
two of these pictures when he came to me and they were sold,
according to the testimony of the parties who took them, on
their artistic merits alone and without using the story of his
experiences to influence the buyer. Mr. Townsend bought
one and expressed his appreciation of the same without
knowing anything of its origin until afterwards. Dr. Miiller
bought his solely on its artistic merits. On February 14th,
1907, Mr. Thompson put into my hands the account of his
experiences, as it will be found below. On July 2nd, the same
year, he put into my hands a number of sketches made in the
summer and fall of 1905, made from his hallucinations as
models, and then went out to the Elizabeth Islands the latter
part of the summer. His later pictures were painted between
this time and December when he returned with them to New
York, and many of them had less artistic merits than those
which he had previously sold, and were produced under the
encouragement which my two experiments gave him to be-
lieve that his hallucinations were not symptomatic as feared.
From the beginning it was perfectly clear to me that the
claim for supernormal phenomena, independently of what
might be discovered by mediumistic experiment, depended
wholly upon the veracity of Mr. Thompson, and this regard-
less, too, of all questions of his sanity. The coincidences in-
volved at once suggested whether his story was true or not.
Previous to the psychic experiment I had nothing but his own
word for the experiences which he reported, and the one
incident which was most suggestive was the auditory hallu-
cination or voice which he reported to me as having occurred
when he was looking at Gifford’s pictures at the sale and be-
fore he had learned of Gifford’s death. This was so char- °
acteristic a phenomenon in the experience of psychic research-
ers that it enforced its own lessons, whether of belief or dis-
belief. I had not known at that timé anything about Gifford’s
pictures nor of any resemblance between his and the few of
Thompson’s that had been painted. All that I had was his
own narrative and the apparently veridical nature of his hal-
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lucinations. The first inquiry that presented itself was the
acceptability of the facts. Without this there was no claim
to the supernormal, and the immediate proof of their real
nature and of the narrator’s story lay in the experiment
which I proposed and effected.

Then when Mr. Thompson went to the old haunts of Mr.
Gifford and actually found the scenes which had infested his
mind and painted them, tho he avowed that he had never
been on the island, the question of veracity was raised again.
The determination of this is best indicated in the detailed
account of the facts, but its greatest importance was in the
two pictures represented by Figures XVIII and XXVI. His
veracity in the first of these instances is protected by the
statements of Mrs. Gifford. They show that Mr. Thompson
could not have seen the unfinished painting which his sketch
had reproduced, and the same is true of the smaller sketch.
But I could not obtain such confirmation regarding the sec-
ond picture. Hence it was all important that I should visit
the place where Mr. Thompson said he found the scene and
trees represented in Figures XXVII and XXVIII and photo-
graph them. Mr. Thompson had photographed them himself
when he painted the scene and also many others on the island.
But not only was his negative spoiled but had it been good I
could not have accepted it. The evidential feature of the prob-
lem required that I should see the place and have it photo-
graphed myself. There was no question, as the reader can see
from the illustrations, of the resemblance between the sketch
put in my hands and the painting which was made from the
actual scene. But whether the scene was what the picture
represented it to be or whether it was an actual scene at all
and at the place indicated by Mr. Thompson was the issue
to be decided.

The consequence was that I arranged to visit the island
and hunt up the scene and photograph it. Mr. Thompson
had given me directions for finding the spot, saying it was
at the end of a forest known as the “ Black Woods ” on the
shore of Vineyard Sound, and near a certain group of trees
of which I had a picture. The first result of the trip, which
was made on May 14th, 1908, was the discovery that the
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trees on the island were correctly represented in both Mr.
Thompson’s sketches and paintings. The gnarled oaks and
storm blown trees all over it were exactly as represented. I
soon found the spot where I was told I would find the trees.
The seashore and rocks at this point corresponded to those
of the sketch and painting that I had seen. I thought I had
found one group of trees at one end of the site, but I could
not find the group represented in the “ Battle of the Ele-
ments.” I found what I supposed was a number of indi-
vidual trees at different places which might have been se-
lected for representing a group, tho there was no specific
points of resemblance with those in the picture. One of
them represented the effects of the wind on its growth, an-
other had the rent in its side, another the S-shaped limb, but
none of them stood near the shore and none of them had the
peculiar gnarled limb on it and there were no limbs lying near
on the ground. I took for granted that Mr. Thompson, under
the domination of his ideal, had assumed the privileges of an
artist and idealized the scene and trees, and so piecing the
individual parts fogether, had formed the whole in that
way. As soon as I arrived home with the photographs Mr.
Thompson said that they did not represent what he had seen
and painted, and that the scene was exactly as painted with
the exception of the idealization of details. The group of
trees and limbs on the ground as well as the distinctive fea-
tures of the sketch and painting were all in the same locality.
It was the same with the group of trees which I had taken
to represent another painting. The photograph of these
was not recognized. It was clear to me at the time that the
scenes were not identical with the paintings and that they
would have to be idealized very considerably to bear any
distinctive resemblances with the paintings. With his re-
fusal to recognize them and insistence that he had painted
real scenes with all the distinctive features of both the orig-
inal sketches and actual localities present in the paintings, I
had to treat the first expedition to verify Mr. Thompson’s
statements in these particulars as a failure. I had so far
proved his story true that the type of trees was exactly as
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represented, but the crucial question of identity between
pictures and scenes was not answered.

A sécond trip was necessary. This time I took Mr.
Thompson with me. Before going he told me that a tele-
graph wire was fastened on one of the group of trees by
which I was to identify the site, and he called my attention
to the fact that this wire was not present in the photograph
of the group I had found. But we soon found the spot where
he expected to find the desired group representing the *“ Bat-
tle of the Elements” and the group of trees near which he
said the other group would be found. I at once recognized
the correctness of this scene and its clear identity with the
painting which he had made of it. The telegraph wire was
there, but not the other group of trees which we were seek-
ing. Mr. Thompson pointed out where he expected to find
it, but not a trace of such trees was there and evidently
never had been there. He was amazed and perplexed that
he could not find them and could not account for the fact.
But no apologies could be made and I suggested that per-
haps he had been hallucinated and painted the picture from
his imagination. He insisted, however, that he had painted
a real scene and after long reflection remarked that he had
painted it the day after painting one which I am not per-
mitted to represent by a cut, and may have wandered to the
other side of the island without noticing that the locality
was not the same. But there was no time to examine that
shore and we had to leave without accomplishing the object
of our mission tho we examined carefully the whole shore
near the place where we found one group of trees that had
been painted. A fuller account of the facts will be found in
the detailed narrative (p. 75).

The insistance on the part of Mr. Thompson that he
painted a real scene and the mention of the reasons why he
was convinced of this made a third trip necessary. He came
to the conclusion that the scene might be found on the north
shore of the island, and one incident told in my notes of this
trip lent some support to this expectation. He had formerly
been so convinced that his hallucinations were subjective
that he felt the force of my contention that he may have
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painted the picture from such, but he insisted that he had
carved his initials on one of the trees and could not be made
"to believe that the scene he painted was an hallucination. I
resolved, therefore, on another and final effort to find it.
Before going out and on the eve of our departure from New
York he told me that he had come to the conclusion that he
would never find the place and trees himself and that he had
gone to a psychic, a lady whom I knew and who was not the
one to which I had taken him at first, to see if she could find
the spot. This was the psychic that had been consulted to
find the pictures when they were lost in the express office
(p. 110). The report of that sitting was'written out before
the steamer left the dock and will be found in the detailed
notes (p. 84). Before starting he also told me that there
was an old box on the site of the trees.

We sailed for the north shore and searched every spot
and tree on it for the group and did not find them. There
was nothing remotely resembling them, except in the gen-
erally gnarled and storm blown character of the trees. But
not a single distinctive feature of the scene painted could be
found on the whole three or four miles of the shore. As a
last chance we resolved to investigate a little section of the
other shore which we had not examined on the second trip
and started for this, intending to take a row boat to it. By
accident the tide would not allow the row boat to pass under
a bridge and the necessity of carrying the boat around the
bridge created a fortunate condition that led to the discovery
of the place and the trees which were not at the place we
were going to examine. The mode of discovering it is de-
scribed in the full notes (p. 81). But the striking facts
were the finding of the initials and the box as predicted.
When we arrived we also found the hole in the ground where
the easel had been and also the stick used to do the painting.
Not less striking in the identification of the spot was the
statement that he had lost a tube of red paint when there.
We searched among the leaves and huckleberry bushes and
found it, tarnished and showing the effects of the weather
for eight months. The place was thus undoubtedly identi-
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fied, and photographs taken of it and the trees. The veracity
of Mr. Thompson seemed protected in this instance again.

One interesting circumstance helps to explain the failure
to find the site on the second trip. The group of trees which
we found on that visit and near which he expected to find
the desired group has a very good double in a group near the
trees we finally found. The resemblance is so striking that
it cannot but be remarked by any one who should see both
of them. Besides this the group we were seeking occupies
the same relative position to this resembling group (cut omit-
ted) that it would have occupied had we found it near the
place where we expected to find it on the second visit. Also
the shore on the northeast of the trees resembled that shown
in the painting and photograph of a group of trees on the
island elsewhere. Still further Mr. Thompson did not recall
the scene where we found the trees. He had painted it on a
stormy day and did not recognize it, neither does he recog-
nize any part of it except the bridge on which he stood.
These facts perhaps explain why we did not find the place
more easjly. I have noticed, too, that he has a poor sense of
locality. He recognizes individual objects in a place readily
and accurately enough, but for the general ensemble of
things and places he is exceedingly poor, not being an ob-
server of the associated and synthetic objects that make up a
whole. This is quite consistent, and indeed is characteristic
of his absent-minded habits, while it explains the dlfﬁculty
in ﬁndmg the place sought.

In every respect I found Mr. Thompson’s veracity pro-
tected, so far as that was possible. I had considered the
first two trips with their failures as likely to damage the evi-
dence very considerably, but taken with the manner of the
final success and especially from the absence of similar
groups of trees and characteristics anywhere else in the
island, in specific and distinctive features, the case is remark-
ably good and strengthens the evidence beyond what would
have accrued if we had succeeded on the first trip. I had
found Mr. Thompson perfectly truthful in all other instances
and also free from distortions in his work so far as it might
have been affected by imagination and hallucination, so that




A Case of Veridical Hallucinations. 25

it remained only to find the same in this special instance
where so much depended for the defence of the supernormal.
The result justified the effort. It does not protect his state-
ment that he had never been on the island from suspicion,
but it does throw the burden of proof on the man who wishes
to maintain that he had. The accuracy of his statements
being vindicated in all other respects it creates a presumption
for the more natural incidents. The circumstances attend-
ing the failure to find the trees tend to support the statement
that he had never been on the island before, and with the
various incidents connected with his work make it much
more probable that his experiences are correctly reported
than that they are fabricated.

When it comes to the mediumistic experiments the pro-
tection against fraud was as good as any one would desire
for the first two sittings. The first of the two psychics is
well known to the public from her connection with Spiritual-
ism and the work she does for one of its organizations. Her
work is subject to the usual criticisms and sceptical gibes, but
after a careful investigation of her powers and character I
am willing to say that, whatever suspicions may be enter-
tained regarding certain specific phenomena I have no reason
whatever to doubt her capacity for even remarkable work at
times. But my first experiment with her was proof against
all suspicions, since, whatever knowledge she may have had
of me, and she knew me well, she had no opportunity even
if she had wished it, to use any methods for acquiring normal
knowledge either of Mr. Thompson or of the facts involved
in the result. It was quite the same with Mrs. Chenoweth,
as I shall call the second psychic with whom I tried the ex-
periment of March 16th, 1907. A number of good incidents
came at this experiment which identified Mr. Gifford before
there was any opportunity whatever for seeking normal in-
formation.

In so far as later experiments are concerned it must be
said that the New Bedford Standard of March 23rd, 1907,
had an article about the case in which something of the re-
lation between Gifford and Thompson was told with some
detail, but nothing of Mr. Thompson’s experiences except the
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incident of the auditory hallucination when he visited the
American Art Galleries. It does not give any information
that is repeated in any of the later records. Otherwise it
would be necessary to reproduce it here. My name was
mentioned as connected with the case. But no details of
what I had done and no particulars of Mr. Thompson’s ex-
periences.

This paper, however, is not a well known one outside the
immediate territory of that city. I do not know of any al-
lusion to its article anywhere else and there was no intima-
tion that I was investigating. The presumption was that
I had finished this work. The next four sittings, two with
Mrs. R. and two with Mrs. Chenoweth, were held before any-
thing more got into the papers. But immediately after the
first visit of investigation regarding the picture whose scene
required verification a long account of the matter was pub-
lished in the New Bedford Standard and summaries of it
were then copied in the Boston Globe and also in a number
of newspapers over the country. Mrs. Chenoweth saw the
one in the Boston paper and Mrs. R. saw accounts of it in
some New York papers, so that both psychics then knew that
I was investigating the case. The four later sittings, there-
fore, with Mrs. Chenoweth were held with this knowledge,
and she certainly had the opportunity, had she been inclined
to take it, to obtain information. But in addition to being
perfectly trustworthy and honest the facts were of a type
that it would not have been remunerative to have sought and
ascertained them. The reader may, therefore, accept them
as having such evidential value as their complexity and triv-
iality will suggest. But I shall only ask that they supply
the corroborative testimony to the first series of experiments.

The experiments with Mrs. Smead represent a group that
are not exposed to the same kind of a priori suspicions or
scepticism as those reported of the others. Mrs. Smead is a
private person, the wife of an orthodox clergyman, tho her
real name is withheld from public knowledge. She receives
no compensation for her work. This last remark is true of
two of those who contribute to this record and would have
been true of the third had she been able to support herself
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otherwise. I do not make the comparison of the various
cases with the intention of admitting that the results are af-
fected by the receipt of money in any case, but only to satisfy
the fastidious objections of those who will not study the facts
and the actual conditions under which they were obtdined.
‘The immunity which must have most weight in estimating
the incidents is the ignorance of the medium and this is de-
terminable by the circumstances under which the experi-
ments were performed in connection with the difficulty of
obtaining normal information within the means and oppor-
tunities of the parties concerned. Whatever we may sup-
pose a priori to have held true regarding the first three cases
does not apply to Mrs. Smead. The introduction to the
record of the experiments with her will sufficiently explain
this not to repeat the circumstances here. Suffice it to say
that her ignorance throughout was as complete as that of
the others was until the date indicated in the account above.
‘There will be no question with the intelligent reader, assum-
ing that she was ignorant of the case, that the facts indicate
supernormal information of some kind and they certainly
bear directly upon the personal identity of Mr. Gifford, even
tho we might think them insufficient to prove its existence
apart from a physical organism.

In the detailed records I have included everything that oc-
curred at the sittings, with the exception of one sentence I
believe. I adopted this policy even for the matter not rel-
evant to the case of Mr. Thompson because of the psycho-
logical interest attaching to it, even the enormous amount of
chaff connected with the subliminal action of Mrs. Cheno-
weth. I deem the material that comes from subconscious
mental action to be quite as important in the solution of the
problem connected with the supernormal as the evidence of
these latter phenomena. The scientific student would not
obtain a correct conception of the facts, if I exercised any
judgment of exclusion in regard to irrelevant material, as it
might appear to me. Moreover a part of the evidence that
the psychics are capable of giving supernormal information is
found in incidents related to others than Mr. Thompson, and
even the psychological verisimilitude of material that is not
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evidential at all, tho relevant to persons and characteristics
associated with the Piper records, offer much material of
scientific interest quite in harmony with a supernormal
source, and only await collective instances to possess some
weight.
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Chapter II.
DETAILED INCIDENTS AND COMMENTS.

As soon as Mr. Thompson had told me his story and be-
fore I had investigated it experimentally I asked him to write
out for me an account of his life and of the incidents which
he had narrated to me. He did this, as the date shows, im-
mediately after the experiment with the psychic. It will be
apparent that this record was on file before any of the paint-
ings were made that have excited distrust or suspicion. The
pictures which he had painted and sold had no special claims
made for them, so far as the supernormal was concerned, and
it matters not for the problem before us here what their
origin was. But the present account of Mr. Thompson’s ex-
periences was on file before there was any reason to suspect
his motives and was written when he himself was extremely
anxious to learn whether he was in danger of insanity. This
history of his work is confirmed by the statements of the
people by whom he was employed as well as by the state-
ments of his relatives. It will not be necessary to go into
that matter again. ,

The next account is by Mrs. Thompson confirming the
story of her husband’s experiences. It also states circum-
stances which show how little chance there was at the time
to do the things upon which certain theories of the phe-
nomena would have to rely for support.

The remaining accounts will be explained as we come to
them. But they contain statements in response to inquiries
regarding special points affecting the genuineness of the
facts or of the allegations of Mr. Thompson. Mr. Gifford
died on Jan. 15th, 1905. The story asserts that the visions
occurred in the summer and fall of 1905 before the discovery
in 1906 of Mr. Gifford’s death, and the sketches put into my
hands bear dates to indicate this fact. The exhibition and
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sale of Mr. Gifford’s pictures was in 1906. Mr. Thompson
saw the pictures on Jan. 25th or 26th, 1906. But as the
sketches were not put into my hands until July 1907 it re-
quired definite evidence that the sketches were made at the
time alleged, and this, so far as it can be produced, is given in
the corroborative statement of Mrs. Thompson. So far as
Mr. Thompson’s veracity is established in other matters de-
veloped later we may suppose it acceptable in this particular,
but it would have been more conclusive if the sketches could
have had their dates attested by other witnesses. Of course
their nature and importance were not discovered until it was
too late to demand these credentials. Hence we have to be
content with such confirmation as the circumstances permit.
The later incidents of the case tend to supply facts consistent
with the assumption of Mr. Thompson’s veracity at the ear-
lier period. The story will supply the details for this view.

It was necessary also to ascertain whether Mr. Thomp-
son’s claim to artistic characteristics of Mr. Gifford could
be corroborated by the impressions of qualified judges and
critics. The facts as reported by several competent judges
seem to confirm this view, whatever opinion we entertain
regarding the origin of the pictures. Mr. Gifford’s character-
istics seem to be apparent in them.

1. Mr. Thompson’s Statement.

New York, Feb. 14, 1907.

I was born in Middleboro, Mass., Nov. 5, 1868. My early
years were spent in New Bedford, Mass. At the age of 13 years
I entered the Pairpoint Mfg. Co. of that place, makers of plated
ware, and learned the trade of metal worker, remaining with that
firm 16 years until 1898. During this time I became familiar
with the country around New Bedford, as I was fond of gunning,
and often made trips along the shores of the ocean, especially in
the Autumn. Occasionally on the rambles I met the late R.
Swain Gifford (artist) sketching an old tree or bit of shore scen-
ery. In this way I became slightly acquainted with him and I
made a few attempts at art work. When I attempted anything
beyond the copying of prints my efforts were so crude and labor-
ious I soon gave it up. Also my interest in music and practice
on a number of instruments, as I was a member of several musical
clubs, took all my spare time so I gave little thought to art mat-
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ters. Mr. Gifford also did not encourage painting as a profession
and was interested in my work at the factory and spoke of the
artistic possibilities in metal work.

I called on Mr. Gifford at his house in New Bedford after the
failure of the Pairpont Co. This was the first time I ever called
on him. I expected to go to New York and asked him for a letter
of introduction to Mr. Louis Tiffany. Mr. Gifford did not recog-
nize me at first and probably thought I was an artist, for he told
me that it was very difficult for an artist to succeed in New York,
but on my explanation that I was only interested in glass and
metal work and wished to find employment with the Tiffany
Glass Company, Mr. Gifford then gave me his New York address
and asked me to call on him when I came to New York. He then
said that there were great possibilities in the combination of glass
and metal work. .

After leaving New Bedford I spent over two years in Boston,
Mass., with the Low Art Tile Co., making moulds for tiles. I
then came to New York and was employed by Redlich and Co.,
Silversmiths, Union Square, as moulder, after which I was with
Howard and Cockshan, Jewelers, 4th Ave. and 19th St., having
charge of the manufacture of silver novelties over two years until
July 1901, when I engaged in business for myself of the manu-
facture of silver novelties and jewelry. After exhausting my
capital in an attempt to compete with larger houses I closed out
my business and was engaged by Higham and Co., Jewelers, 5th
Ave. and 39th St., in the fall of 1905.

Sometime during the summer of 1905 I seemed to have con-
stantly in my mind a group of trees near the sea that I did not
remember having seen in nature, and my desire to paint them
became so great that I got some art materials and worked even-
ings on the picture and I was surprised at the result. The pic-
ture seemed to paint itself. In the fall I was possessed by such
a great desire to paint from nature that for several Sundays I
went into the country near the Sound in Westchester, sketching,
and was greatly surprised at the ease with which I could paint
the most delicate effects. A remarkable fact in connection with
this occurrence is that at this time I was living on East 21st St.,
and the illness of my wife kept me more in the house during my
spare time than at any other period of my life. During the sprin
of 1907 I often went to this park and for nearly three months%
painted and sketched the most beautiful pictures within area of
five hundred yards of the place where I had previously lived for
over two years, and during these two years I cannot recall any
view that interested me at that time. At no time during this
earlier period did I feel the slightest inclination to sketch or paint.

During these walks over the marshes I could see at times
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very clearly the picture of Mr. Gifford’s of a marsh ‘that I had
seen about 25 years ago in New Bedford. This was the only
picture of Mr. Gifford’s I had ever seen before my visit to the
exhibition in 1906. I think it was my memory of this picture that |
made me feel that I actually was Mr. Gifford himself. Altho I
had never before thought of this picture and had been on marsh- -
land several times. I remember that at the time I saw this picture |
I did not like it, it seemed to me to be roughly painted and un-
finished. In fact my preference was for pictures of very smooth |
finish. I saw several of Bierstadt’s pictures. I also greatly ad- |
mired the pictures of James Hart. I never liked autumn pictures. |

The subjects I selected around the marshes of Westchester |
were so much like a picture by Mr. Gifford that during the time I
was sketching I remember having the impression that I was Mr.
Gifford himself, and I would tell my wife before starting out that
Mr. Gifford wanted to go sketching, altho I did not know at this
time that he had died early in the year. In the latter part of
January, 1906, one day at noon instead of going to my usual place
to lunch I walked down 5th Ave. and turned down 23rd St.
Looking up I saw a notice at the American Art Galleries of a sale -
of paintings by the late R. Swain Gifford. I was surprised to
see this notice as this was my first knowledge of his death and
his face came to my mind as I had seen him two years previous,
and he then looked the picture of health. I went into the gal-
leries and was much interested in the collection as they were the
first finished pictures I had ever seen of his. They were for the
most part painted around New Bedford and I was familiar with
many scenes. A large coast picture impressed me very much and
after looking at it a short time I fancied myself out of doors and
could hear sounds of insects and birds. I could feel the breeze
on my face. Then suddenly all was still and I heard these words
very clearly, “ You see what I have done. Go on with the work.”
After this I do not have a clear remembrance of what I did or of
the manner in which I went back to the factory, and only as I
felt faint in the afternoon I recalled the fact that my lunch had
been forgotten. ‘

After this I continued with my work at the factory as usual
and occasionally recalled my visit to the exhibition and often
thought over the words I had heard while there. i

During the spring and summer I made a few paintings out
doors but as the fall approached I seemed to be unusually rest-
less. My work at the factory no longer interested me. I had
continually in my mind beautiful pictures of trees in autumn
foliage with great rolling clouds and always near the ocean, and
the desire to paint these scenes became so great I could not pos-
sibly continue my work and so was obliged to give up business
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pictures were good in color tone, composition and with a good
feeling of atmosphere and that they compared favorably with the
work of some of the best American artists. He advised me to
continue my work by all means. One of the pictures shown him
was the first picture I painted of the group of trees. He said
‘“ the picture strongly suggests R. Swain Gifford. It is a very
good picture.” This was the first time that I had any idea
that my pictures had any resemblance to those of Mr. Gifford.
Mr. Townsend liked it so well he purchased it. I was sur-
prised to hear such a good opinion of my work, @ I have
had no art training with an artist or in art schools and except
watching Mr. Gifford sketch nearly twenty years ago have never
seen an artist at work, and my twenty-five years of continuous
factory work have left me with practically no time for the ob-
servation of nature.

Three years ago I called on Mr. Gifford at his home in New
York to show him some jewelry I was making and at this time
he spoke of his work and explained some changes he intended
making in his method of working to get more atmosphere in his
pictures. At the time I did not understand this explanation but
lately his words have all come back to me and I remember very
clearly just what his intentions were.

In painting my pictures I have no rules or methods. Colors
and forms come to my mind with the desire to paint them as I
start to work. Often I have nothing definite in my mind but as
I work the picture seems to grow and I become, as it were, a part
of the picture.

Recently I have been impressed by scenes of life I have ob-
served around the city and wish to paint these impressions that
have remained most clearly in my mind. I have resolved to make
every possible effort to spend the coming season in the same lo-
cality where Mr. Gifford worked and by visiting and painting
scenes he loved so well I feel I can get in very close communion
with him, and in this way can best carry on his work under his
direction.

FREDERIC LOUIS THOMPSON.

The extent of Mr. Thompson’s acquaintance with Mr.
Gifford being an important matter I inquired for further de-
tails and the following statements, in answer to my inquiries,
explain themselves. They show very little acquaintance
either with art or Mr. Gifford.

“My education in drawing and painting consisted in
drawing exercises at the grammar school up to the time when
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I was thirteen years of age. After I entered the Pairpoint
Manufacturing Company, by advice of the foreman, I made
drawings from plaster casts in charcoal at my home. Mr.
Macy, who was employed by O’Neil, photographer, gave me
a few instructions in coloring photographs in oil colors. This
work was done during the year of 18go.

“ My drawing was done to assist me in my work at the
factory and was suggested by the foreman, Mr. Frost.

“ I have none of my drawings and have only a small paint-
ing of a marsh, made June 24th, 1892.

“Mr. Gifford was not painting at any time I ever saw him.
He was sketching in pencil when I saw him at work. The
first time I talked with him was in the fall of 1889 or 18go. I
was on a marsh where I sometimes went gunning. He car-
ried only a hand camera and did not sketch. I spoke with
him a few minutes about the weather, etc.

“1 met him again the next summer near the same place.
He carried sketching materials. He crossed a small creek
and I afterwards saw him from a distance seated under a tree
on the edge of the marsh, but I did not go near him.

“1 again came across him sometime later in the season.
He was making a drawing of some trees and a rock in pencil.
This was during the early fall of 1890. In 1898 I called upon
him at his house on Union St., New Bedford. 1 asked for a
letter of introduction to Mr. Lewis Tiffany of New York, as
I expected to go to that city, the Pairpoint Company having
failed and I was obliged to leave New Bedford. He asked
me to call upon him when I arrived in New York and gave
me his New York address. I called on him during the win-
ter of 1904.

“1I saw him make the pencil sketch during the summer of
18go. I received the impulse to paint during the summer of
1905, an interval of exactly fifteen years.

I was alone on each occasion when I met Mr. Gifford and
mention these facts only to show the extent of my acquaint-
ance with him.”

Many will ask the question how Mr. Thompson visited
Nantucket without having seen the island which lies nearer
the Massachusetts shore. In reply to inquiries as to how he
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came to see the place he writes: “About 18 years ago I
spent my two weeks’ vacation there. I went driving, riding
the bicycle, and bathing and in various amusements. It was
recommended to me as a good place to spend a vacation. I
took the steamer from New Bedford.”

This has a bearing on the question of his having seen or
not seen the island on which he afterward painted his pic-
tures. The reader who would examine the map of that coast
would wonder why the island in mind would not be the first
place to visit for any such purposes as are named. But there
are reasons for this apparent anomaly which are explained
by the owner of the island. Visitors are not usually permit-
ted to go to it without a special concession by the owner.
Picnics have been allowed to land, but not to take possession
of any part of the island or roam about it, with any freedom.
No steamer goes to the island and it can be reached only by
one of three ways. A person may hire a sailing yacht and go
direct to it, but this is not only expensive, but will not give
any one liberties without permission. A second method
would be to go by the regular steamer to Cuttyhunk and
there hire a small row boat and row over to this island. Or
a similar course can be taken by going to Wood’'s Hole and
thence by row boat to the island; tho from Cuttyhunk the dis-
tance on the shore would be something like seven miles and
from Woods Hole a rather difficult channel would have to be
crossed. The restrictions, however, are such that this is
rarely done, and can never give rise to any lengthy stay on
the island. The probabilities, therefore, are all in favor of
the correctness of Mr. Thompson’s statement that he had
never been on the island until he sceured permission in the
summer of 1907 to go there and paint, and this only for a
short time.

The following letter of Mrs. Thompson will explain cir-
cumstances of much interest in the interpretation of many of
the phenomena. It was written in response to my request to
have Mrs. Thompson tell what she knew of the facts. Cer-
tain features of it will afford aid in the understanding of cer-
tain ill formed theories of the motives that affected Mr.
Thompson’s work.
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Boston, Mass., November 27th, 1907.
Dr. James H. Hyslop,

Dear Sir:—Your letter of the 24th inst. at hand and would
say in reply to your request in regard to my husband’s experience
that I first noticed in the fall of 1905 he began to have an intense
desire to sketch from nature. I noticed it as it was such an unusual
thing for him to do. He went for several Sundays at that time
out into the country sketching and I remember his telling me he
felt as if he was R. Swain Gifford while sketching and several
times before startmg out he would say to me “ Mr. Gifford wants
to go sketching.” I could not understand what he meant, as his
acquaintance with Mr. Gifford was very slight. Mr. Thompson S
remaining experience is just as he has stated to you. I tried at
first to persuade him from following out the course he has taken
in going on with Mr. Gifford’s work. My husband gave up
bright business prospects and a comfortable living. We have
been obliged to give up our home as we were unable to keep it
up financially, I mean.

I have been through a very severe and expensive illness,
rheumatic fever. Of course you can understand how much
money it takes for specialists, doctors and nurses for an illness of
three years and I am still quite an invalid. My reason for making
mention of this is that you may understand how hard it has been
for us to undertake a work of this kind, as we have to have
enough to live. My husband seems to have lost all sense of re-
sponsibility in the matter, which is very unlike him. The life of
an artist it at first a difficult one and, as he has not studied at any
art schools or with artists, will be especially so, as he will not
have the schools to help him. But I believe there is a higher
power back of him that is forcing him on and it is impossible for
him to do otherwise than he is doing, as this force seems to con-
trol him. I also believe God will bless him and his efforts, and
I am thoroughly in sympathy with him and willing to help him
all T can, which is very little. * * *

Yours sincerely,
(MRS. F. L)) CARRIE G. THOMPSON.

[Certain private and personal matter in Mrs. Thompson’s
letter, as indicated by the asterisks, is omitted. Its nature
makes it important protective matter but it is too private to
publish—J. H. H.]

2. Evidence of Gifford’s Style in the Pictures.

_ The first painting Mr. Thompson made under the appar-
ent inspiration of Gifford’s influence and after the latter’s
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death was sold to Mr. James B. Townsend, editor of The
American Art News. Mr. Thompson told me the story of this
sale and the statements made by Mr. Townsend at the time.
This led to-an inquiry personally of Mr. Townsend and I was
permitted to see the picture. It is represented in Figure XVI
and was the first important piece of work done by Mr.
Thompson since the New Bedford experience. I refer to the
earlier work with photographs (p. 49-50). In pursuance
of a promise made at the time I interviewed him and saw the
painting, Mr. Townsend wrote me the following statement.

1265 Broadway, New York, May 29th, 1908.
James H. Hyslop,

My dear Sir:—Replying to your favor of May 26th requesting
my impressions as to Mr. Thompson’s picture, I would say that
when he first brought the same to me some months ago, I said at
once, “ This has all the characteristics of the late Swain Gifford.”
I was amazed to have Mr. Thompson then tell me that he had
never seen any of Gifford’s pictures when he painted this canvas.
I was so pleased with the picture, as it recalls so strongly the
work of Gifford, which I have always admired, that I purchased
it from Mr. Thompson, and it now hangs over my desk in this
office as I write. There is surely something of the spirit of Swain
Gifford in Mr. Thompson’s work, but I fear that art lovers who
do not know Mr. Thompson and therefore who might question
his veracity, would say that he is an imitator of Gifford’s work
and must have long studied it to produce canvases so like the
originals in subject and treatment.

Yours very truly,
JAMES B. TOWNSEND.

About the same time several pictures were sold to Dr.
Miiller with merits that had attracted his attention. The pic-
tures were bought without reference to their alleged source,
and it was afterward that he and Mrs. Miiller learned their
psyschological interest. They became interested in the ques-
tion whether Mr. Thompson should be encouraged to con-
tinue his work. They recognized that artists have hard
enough times of it and thought that, unless special reasons
offered to justify the continuance of his painting, he should
not be encouraged to go on. The following account, there-
fore, explains itself as an effort to obtain expert opinion on
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the matter. Mr. Thompson was present when the incidents
occurred and was not introduced to the gentleman present as
the author of the paintings. The story will consequently ex-
plain itself. '

I give immediately below the narrative of these facts by
Dr. Miller herself. They are corroborated by her husband,
who is also a physician.

“ My husband and I went with Mrs. S——— to an enter-
tainment and after it Mrs. S——— said to me: ‘Doctor, I
wish you would go over and see the pictures about which I
wrote you and which I have in my room.” It was late: my
husband did not care to be detained, but as it was only one
block distant he said he would go. He had not heard any-
thing about the pictures and neither had I, except that there
were some pictures to be seen. We went into the room of
Mrs. S——— and the first picture was the large one which
you now see there on the wall. My husband remarked that it
was a beautiful picture and wanted to know something about
it. Then, Mrs. S———said: ‘That is the picture I wanted
you to see.” She then told us the history of Mr. Thompson.
Dr. Miiller, my husband, wanted to buy the picture and re-
marked that he did not have much money, but that he was
going to buy the picture. Mrs. S arranged to have us
see Mr. Thompson and when he came he brought a number
of pictures of which we bought four, and my husband did
what he could to help Mr. Thompson continue his work.

“I wished to have an expert judge of paintings examine
those of Mr. Thompson in order to know how far he should be
encouraged to depend upon his newly acquired powers. I
therefore had Mr. Thompson bring some fifteen of his paint-
ings to my rooms and I asked a personal friend who was one
of the foremost art judges and critics in the city, Mr. Augus-
tine, to come and examine them. Mr. Thompson was pres-
ent, but Mr. Augustine was not told that he was the producer
of the paintings.

“ Mr. Augustine is a German, or rather was of German
extraction, and was of a very quick disposition and an in-
tensely accurate appreciation of pictures. He was a man of
about fifty-eight years, and had been an art critic all his life.
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As soon as he saw the pictures, he said: ‘ Well what do you
want me to look at these pictures for?’ I told him that I
wanted his opinion of them; that they were by an amateur
who had never painted except during the past year; in fact
that he had never painted a picture previous to the past fifteen
months. I said that I wanted to know if it was worth this
man’s while to continue at art. Mr. Augustine looked at the
pictures and laughed, and said: ‘Well, Doctor, you are a
pretty smart woman, but I did not think that you could be
fooled like that!’ I asked, ‘* What do you mean?’ He re-
plied, * Why that is not an amateur. That is a man who has
painted twenty years. Don’t you let him fool you.” I said,
‘ Mr. Augustine, you can think what you please. I simply
want to ask you if you think it is worth while for that man to
paint pictures, and can he earn a living by painting pictures.’

“ Mr. Augustine replied: ‘He can sell all he wants to a
dealer. He will not get a very high price, because there are
a good many pictures of that kind, but I will cut my throat
if that man has not painted for ten years!’

“ Mr. Thompson sat near by, and noticing the fact, with-
out knowing that he was the artist, Mr. Augustine began to
talk in German. He said the pictures showed not only study,
but, in many ways, in some of the pictures, there was a real
genius and a real talent, but that the man painted too much.
He should stick to one or two pictures and make himself
famous through them. I asked: ‘Do you think he could
do it?’ Mr. Augustine replied: ‘If he will paint the right
way, and put in one picture all that he has got in all these
pictures, I am sure he would make a name.” I only replied,
‘Well,” and Mr. Augustine asked who the man was. I said,
‘If T told you his name you would not know it. It is a very
ordinary name.” I then gave him Mr. Thompson’s name,
and said, ‘ You have never heard of him.” He replied, ‘I
know of Thompsons, but probably do not know of this one.’
I remarked, ‘ No, you do not know this one. I can tell you
that he has painted only a year.”’  Mr. Augustine only
laughed again and again. He could not get over it.

“T then asked Mr. Augustine, if these pictures reminded
him of any one. He looked very intently and said that they
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were like a good many pictures he had seen. I then asked
him if they reminded him of any special American artist and
he went up close to the pictures and then viewed them at a
distance, finally saying: ‘Well, yes they do. I thought
there was an exhibition of pictures and I think...’ and then
he stood a minute and at last said, * Well, do you know any-
body they remind you of?’ I said, ‘ No, I want to ask you.’
He replied: ‘Well, they look like Gifford’s pictures.” I
then said, ‘ That is just what I want you to do.” I then told
him that the dealer to whom Mr. Thompson took the pic-
tures told him if he would put Gifford’s name to it, he would
give him a large sum of money for it, and Mr. Thompson re-
fused to do it.”

The reader will remark in Mr. Augustine’s spontaneous
judgment a confirmation of that passed on the pictures by
others who were as ignorant as he regarding the circum-
stances under which they were painted. The paintings con-
cerned were those represented by Figures XIII and XVI
inclusively.

I made some inquiries of a few artists of good standing re-
garding two points in Mr. Thompson’s pictures, namely, their
artistic merits and their resemblance to those of Mr. Gifford.
Mr. Henry W. Ranger writes: “ In some of his (Mr. Thomp-
son’s) pictures there was a superficial resemblance to Gifford;
in others quite a different and up-to-date note was struck.
My impression was that he was honest and weak. His earlier
training would account for what technical skill was shown,
and he probably had a strong dormant artistic sense, which
was awakened by the sight of Mr. Gifford’s pictures.” Mr.
Ranger goes on to explain the facts as told him by Mr.
Thompson in the usual and normal way. I need not quote as
the explanation is irrelevant.

After his interview with Mr. Ranger on May 25th, 1906,
Mr. Thompson recorded in his diary the following judgments
of Mr. Ranger. Of his pictures generally he says: “They
show good feeling for landscape.” Of a spring picture, he
said: “ It is true and very sensitive.” Of an autumn pic-
ture, “ It is very much like the work of Swain Gifford.” Of
a marine picture, “I don't like it.”
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In reply to inquiries, Mr. Carroll Beckwith, who saw only
some of the paintings, says: “ They indicate an artistic feel-
ing and good color sense. They show more feeling than
knowledge, and I am inclined to think show more influence
of other pictures than of study of nature. The resemblance
to R. Swain Gifford’s work is remote and in his method I do
not trace any resemblance.”

Mr. Ben Foster who saw Mr. Thompson’s pictures writes:
“If his own statements of his limited opportunities are true
there is some promise in his paintings. The resemblance to
Swain Gifford’s work is slight and due largely to the simi-
larity of themes.”

As already remarked general resemblances of style to Mr.
Gifford’s work has no importance in the evidence of the super-
normal, and my experience with psychic research would lead
me to believe that in the most genuine influence of external
agencies we should not often, if ever, find technical resem-
blances, and might not find even definite general resem-
blances. The only reason for ascertaining what an artist
thinks about the resemblances is that general style is ex-
pected by the popular judgment and if this resemblance is
there it would be consistent with the claim of foreign agency,
tho in no respect proof of it.

3. Statement by Arthur W. Dow, Professor of Fine Arts,
Teachers’ College, Columbia University.

March 15, 1908.

I have summarized in the Introduction the result of the
experiments with Prof. Dow and his statement of opinion. I
embody here his more detailed report which he wrote out
and submitted after his examination of the pictures.

Last week Dr. Hyslop called upon me and asked if I would go
down town with him to see some paintings. We met to-day ac-
cording to appointment. I was told that the interest was purely

. scientific, not commercial or artistic—that my part would be to
state whether I recognized in these pictures the peculiar charac-
teristics of any artist known to me. Before starting, Dr. Hyslop
spread before me a dozen or more sketches in pastel on gray
paper, and a few photographs. I was asked if I saw any re-
semblance between the sketches and photographs. There was a
close resemblance—the subjects were the same,—mostly storm-
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blown trees such as one sees near the coast. I judged that the
artist had taken the photographs as an aid in painting the trees.
The pastels were rapid, off-hand sketches, but had a well defined
character as studies of a special kind of tree-form.

We then went to an apartment where a man introduced as Mr.
Thompson was asked to show me his pictures. Again I was re-
quested to say whose influence I might observe. I had never
met or even heard of Mr. Thompson before—but judged from ap-

earances that he might be a painter of considerable training.

here were pictures upon the wall, including a large copy of
Cabanel’s “ Birth of Venus.” Other canvases were stacked
against the sides of the room. As Mr. Thompson showed them,
one by one, I saw that he was familiar with all the methods of
handling oil paint. The brush work was that of a man who had
had a long experience in painting,—hence I was astonished to
hear him say that he had never painted out of doors before last
summer. The amount of work was surprising,—good sized can-
vases and many of them.

The first pictures shown were marines, one of which had a
vague resemblance to Winslow Homer’s work. Another land-
scape had a suggestion of Innes. Soon appeared pictures of
marshes and dunes, of moraines with storm-blown trees. Some
of the compositions were very bold and unusual schemes both in
mass and color. He had painted the great rolling hills with the
sea beyond,—the wild sceneryof “one of the Elizabeth Islands,”—
the violence of storms,—a great variety of subject, all with a dash
and force that were most surprising. Nevertheless, there was
always the lack of those qualities that would make them pictures
of power.

I then clearly recognized the style of R. Swain Gifford. This
was more marked as he went on showing his work. The com-
position and technique resembled Gifford’s but always fell short
of his finer qualities of tone and color.

My impression of this strong resemblance, I stated with some
embarrassment, lest it give offense to the painter and his wife
(who was also present). Then was explained to me the origin
of these pictures. Mr. Thompson stated that he is not a painter,
but a goldsmith. In his boyhood he had done a little copying in
oil but had never practiced painting. Not long ago there was an
exhibition of R. Swain Gifford’s work in a gallery on Fifth Ave.,
New York. As Mr. Thompson, when a boy had known Mr. Gif-
ford slightly, he was interested to step in and see the pictures.
While there, he heard a voice say “ See what I have done; go and
do likewise.” Dr. Hyslop said that from that time Mr. Thomp-
son began to have hallucinations of trees. He saw these twisted
trees in the air—everywhere—and was impelled to draw and
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paint them. The pastels first shown me were drawn from his
visions. So distinct were these mental images that he was able
to locate the exact groups on Cuttyhunk, “ one of the Elizabeth
Islands,” and other places where Gifford used to paint. One pic-
ture had a large mass of shadow on a hillside. I asked Mr.
Thompson how he got so fine a relation of sunlight and shadow.
His reply was that it was done unconsciously,—that he had ex-
ecuted most of the work without full consciousness of what he
was doing, as he was not familiar with the technique of painting.

4. Limitations of Mr. Thompson’s Experience.

This discussion of the paintings and their suggestion of
Mr. Gifford suggests that we attach importance to the char-
acteristics which reflect that artist and to the circumstances
which gave rise to the work. To say that Mr. Thompson
was a goldsmith and not an artist is to suggest something in
his capacities at variance with what we usually observe in art
and all other vocations requiring trained skill to accomplish
their objects. As Mr. Thompson is represented to have
been without an artist’s education and experience, such as is
usually required to exhibit artistic merits that are recognized
in his productions of Gifford’s style and genius, it suggests
the supernormal in the very characteristics of his painting,
and this is the point of view that would be taken by the public
in its judgment of the case. The supposition is that a man
blossomed out into an artist without any training and under
the influence of a discarnate spirit. The assumption of many
people would be that the merits of the painting would be due
to the outside influence acting on Mr. Thompson and that any
defects would be his alone. The wonder would be in facts
and characteristics transcending Mr. Thompson’s knowledge
and experience and representing the intruding agency of the
discarnate.

If Mr. Thompson had never taken drawing lessons at
school; if he had never done sketching as he did under the
advice of the manager of the manufacturing company in New
Bedford; if he had never attended the Swain School of De-
sign, and if he had never finished any pictures in oil and ob-
tained thereby the reputation of more or less of an artist, the
contrast between his later work and his entire want of edu-
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cation in art would have made the explanation of his later
skill more troublesome. But as he did all these things the
sceptic has material at hand to minimize the importance of
his later development, at least from the standpoint of natural
experience. We cannot, therefore, make a point for the
supernormal that would be effective in the examination of his
pictures. This is especially true when we know what the
opinion is in the town of New Bedford, where some of Mr.
‘Thompson’s paintings (?) exist and are estimated as produc-
tions of a man who knows more about art than his simple
lessons in drawing would teach him. If the comparison
were made only between his public school education and his
later skill in the reproduction of Gifford, considering that he
had been a mechanic in the meantime, the perplexity in ex-
plaining this unusual difference of knowledge and skill
would be greater. We might wonder how a man could do
so well without intermediate training and experience. But
this period of painting which has impressed his townsmen
with his amateur knowledge of the art is an intermediate
education and creates scepticism as to the birth of his later
skill all at once from inspiration and external origin.

But while we cannot attach any scientific weight to the
resemblance to Gifford in style, as evidence for the super-
normal stimulus suggesting it, there is a side to the facts
which should not be omitted in the interest of a hungry scep-
ticism. Perhaps in no case could we attach any great value
to reproductions of others’ style and skill in paintings as evi-
dence of supernormal influences, unless they came without
any training in art at all. But in this case where there was
a natural artistic taste and an initial impulse and education
toward it, with various amateur experiences in art, we must
concede the primary right to scepticism. But this legitimate
attitude should not be allowed any more than the facts justify.
Hence I think that the basis of the public estimate of Mr.
Thompson’s experience should be known as fully as the cir-
cumstances allow. We can then determine how much his
education and experience have had to do with the later sud-
den development.

In the first place his public school drawing lessons were
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very rudimentary, especially at the time of his early educa-
tion, and they cannot account for the later knowledge and
skill represented in his pictures which sold on their intrinsic
and artistic merits. But this chasm between the early period
is bridged, at least partly, by the work which his townsmen
assume to have involved some further education and practice.
Everything depends on what that experience was and how
effective it could be in training for the manifestly better skill
of the later time.

Those who bought his pictures in New Bedford and who
shake their heads at the idea that there is anything remark-
able in his later paintings, tho they have not seen them, for-
get or do not know what the work was which they estimate
as more or less artistic, or if not this, as at least indicative of
some artistic education and experience.

The record shows that this work which represents the
intermediate period was merely copying photographs in oil.
This was given in answer to my request for a full account of
what this work was. The public in New Bedford think it
the usual art work and do not know that it was simply the
reproduction of photographs in oil. Their judgment of it is
natural enough and is not to be criticised but disillusioned.
Mr. Thompson when I asked him for this statement was not
told why I desired it, and the reader will remark in the first
account of his life in February 19o7 that he alludes to the
character of this work (pp. 30-34) and his own admitted fail-
ure at it in so far as financial success was concerned. Besides
any one who would examine the paintings copied in oil from
photographs would discover very quickly the absence of evi-
dence for any natural artistic skill and the distinct difference
in character between these and the pictures of the Gifford
period. The difference might not be great enough to elicit
respect for mysterious explanations or wonder at the merits
of the latter compared with the former, but it would be such
as to show that the knowledge in this period does not ex-
plain the skill of the later. There is a distinct chasm between
the two periods and products. It may not excite interest or
astonishment, but it is there, and it is only the just thing that
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Mr. Thompson should have the benefit of the fact, especially
as no evidential importance is attached to it in this discussion.

I have spoken as if Mr. Thompson were responsible for
such artistic merits as the photographs in oil may be supposed
to have. This, however, is not the fact. It was his partner,
Mr. Macy, who put on the artistic and finishing touches, ac-
cording to the statement of Mr. Thompson. Mr. Thompson
had simply done the rough work of putting on the oils and
making the first draft of the paintings.

This difference cannot be brought out clearly in cuts from
the original. Nothing but form and light and shade can be
represented in the photographic reproduction of works of
art, as every one knows, while the important features of
artistic ability appear in harmonious color effects. The dif-
ference between the later period of his development and the
one of which we speak is especially marked in this respect.
There is no color excellence in the pictures of the interme-
diate period. Whatever value they have is in perspective
and form and these are predetermined by the photograph
originals! This would appear in the representation, but the
color effects of these and the later work must be absent from
reproductions, and we have no means of illustrating the dif-
ference which is so marked and which indicates the measure
of contrast between the later and the earlier work. There is
something to account for in the excellence of some of the
pictures of the Gifford control. Tho this be true we do not
require to attribute it to external influence. The sensory
automatism may have given the ideals and the motor ex-
perience of his previous life in sketching may have supplied
the physical conditions for reproducing what the inspiration
gave to the mind. But the excellence as recognized need not
be attributed entirely to the supposed instigating cause. It
is only a partial indication of what better evidence may prove
to be a fact, and the only scientific interest which it has is its
conformity to what can be otherwise proved. By itself it is
but an unusual psychological phenomena demanding an ex-
planation, but not so large an hypothesis as the spiritistic,
tho other evidence may show that this influence has been
actively assisting and perhaps inspiring the product.
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Mr. Thompson’s own story of the intermediate period
and its work, and which I give below, was sent me in re-
sponse to the request to give a full account of it, as the New
Bedford Standard had stated in its columns that he had been
taught painting by a Mr. Cumming and had attended the
Swain School for Design. The facts are as given by Mr.
Thompson in his reply and are corroborated by his family.

July 21st, 1908.
My dear Dr. Hyslop:—

In reply to your letter of the 16th inst. I would say that Mr.
Cumming was drawing instructor at the Public School. I have
never received any further instructions or had any art relations
with him since leaving the Grammar School at the age of thirteen
years.

What you probably refer to is some work done with a Mr.
Macy who painted some backgrounds for a photographer in New
Bedford. He also transferred to canvas by the photographic
process a number of pictures, some taken from photographs,
others from prints.

The pictures Mr. A owns were taken from photographs
and the one Mr. D——— owns was taken from a copy of a paint-
ing by De'Haas. These I colored in oils, and Mr. Macy re-
touched them when I got through with them. His part of the
work was done during the day, while I was at the Pairpoint Fac-
tory. I did not see him working on them and do not know how
much of the work was done by him. My part of the work was
done in the evening.

I was sent to the Swain School by the superintendent of the
Pairpoint Factory, Mr. Radcliffe, who wished me to make a mold
from one of the casts at the school, to be used at the Factory. In
order for me to do this I was enrolled as a special student and I
worked on this cast a number of Monday mornings until finished.
The .company paid me for my time.

Mr. Cumming had nothing to do with this work and I have
never studied painting at the Swain School, or with Mr. Cum-
ming at any school. Yours sincerely,

F. L. THOMPSON.

The difference between the conception implied in this
account and that which has circulated regarding Mr.
Thompson’s experience is very-great and tends to show that
the chasm between the two periods and their products is
wider than the first suspicion would suggest.
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With reference to the two pictures in the possession of
Mr. A about whose origin I inquired, Mr. Thompson
writes: “ The only pictures I recall that are owned by Mr.
A are a scene at Nantucket and one at Cuttyhunk. The
Nantucket scene was enlarged from a photograph that I
bought while at Nantucket and which struck Mr. A ’s
fancy, as I think he was born there. The Cuttyhunk scene
was also taken from a photograph of the landing on that
island. The photograph was given to me by a lady.” Mr.
Thompson adds that he was in the employ of the Pairpoint
Manufacturing Company at the time of his finishing these
pictures in oil.

The following are my own notes on the pictures after
seeing them, and I add to them the result of my interview
with the present manager of the Pairpoint Company, who
knew Mr. Thompson well and had him under his employ.

From the editor of the principal newspaper in New Bed-
ford I learned that Mr. Thompson had painted some pictures
long before his seizure by the Gifford influence, however
we choose to interpret this phenomena. I was given the
name of the party who owned the pictures and managed to
call upon him. From him I learned the following facts, and
saw the pictures which I describe.

It must be remembered, however, that these are not
original paintings. They are merely copies of photographs.
This has been discussed above, and needs no comment.
They required no artistic training or skill to reproduce in
oils the skeletons provided by photographs. Had they been
original paintings they might more distinctly mark a stage.
in Mr. Thompson’s development, but being mere copies of
photographs they are less significant in the study of his case
than would otherwise be the fact.

The first was a painting representing a seashore and bluff
at Nantucket and was painted in 1892. There were some
sheep on the landscape. There are some good cloud effects,
but the painting is not especially artistic either in technique.
expression or color. The forms were stiff and inflexible and
to a large extent unreal. Figure III.

The second picture was a marsh and some sea with a
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house or two and was painted in 1892. It was a better
picture than the first one described above. Its management
of light and shade were better and not so amateurish, but it
was stiff and without any pleasing color effects. It might
show promise to an artist, but of this I am not a judge. The
owner, who has himself done some painting, thought it
possessed some artistic merits. To me it had very little, and
as I have had some experience in the observation of good
work in Europe and America I am inclined to trust my own
judgment more than an amateur in a provincial town. But
nevertheless 1 agree that the painting shows merits for a
beginner. Figure II.

The third picture represents a scene at Salter’s Point and
was painted in 1893. It represents a sea and a marsh, but
only the edge of the marsh is visible. Gifford had done good
work on this marsh. Mr. Thompson had his cottage here
and lived in it while working in New Bedford. The painting

*has not as goed artistic merits as the second and may not be
better than the first. It is not rich in color and does not
exhibit any special technique or expression in an artistic
sense. It, like the others, shows some knowledge of art in
general. There is no such artistic merit in it or in any of
the three as is observable in his later paintings under the
Gifford inspiration. This would be apparent to any observer,
whatever the explanation of the facts. But these pictures
show that the chasm between his earlier and later experience
is not so great as is otherwise apparent from Mr. Thompson’s
narrative. This means that the later development has better
claims to a natural source than to the external influence
apparent in it. The chasm is still great. The technique and
harmony as well as artistic merits of the Gifford period are
very much superior to anything that is apparent in the
earlier period. But the fact that more experience and
interest in art are evident than was at first apparent offers
the critic a ground for scepticism of its apparent meaning
and hence a reason for explaining the personal experiences
by the influence of education and taste rather than inspir-
ation from an external source. Figure L

I learned from the same gentleman that the manager of
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the Pairpoint Company knew all about Mr. Thompson and
his connection with the work there. I managed to see him
and to have an interview with him. It brought out the fol-
lowing facts.

Mr. Thompson came to the shop as a young lad He
was put into the work of engraving which he was to learn.
The manager noticed that he was addicted to sketching
various things in connection with his lessons in engraving.
Instead of deploring this the boy was encouraged in it and
it was found that he had a natural disposition for this kind
of work. The man who had taken some of Mr. Thompson’s
pictures, those described above, had told me that, while
employed at the Pairpoint shops, Mr. Thompson on account
of his special gift at sketching, was employed to sketch the
products of other manufacturers for the sake of their designs,
and that Mr. Thompson had especially excelled in this. In-
quiry of the manager resulted in the statement that he had
not been employed so and that his sketches, while they had
merits, were not strikingly such as to justify any employ-
ment of the kind. He said he thought it possible that Mr.
Thompson had sketched some products for this purpose, but
he was not especially employed for it and had never been
sent to New York as stated on any such mission. The fact
that such work was considered perfectly legitimate is in
favor of the truth of the manager’s statement.

This manager, having heard of Mr. Thompson’s work
and claims, stated that he thought it was all gotten up by
Mr. Thompson for the sake of notoriety and in order to sell
his pictures. I have found this impression in several quar-
ters, and Mr. Thompson was conscious of it and has treated
it with becoming contempt. It is a natural hypothesis on the
part of people who do not take the trouble to examine the
facts and I have found both that it is without foundation and
that people who advance it do not produce any evidence for
it whatever. The circumstances in this case do not make it
a rational hypothesis, tho one cannot hinder people who
avoid producing evidence from committing an act of faith in
the interests of scepticism.
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5. Mr. Thompson’s Diary.

During the summer and fall, the period in which he was
painting his pictures on the Elizabeth Islands, Mr. Thomp-
son kept a diary of his various experiences. They have a
considerable interest for the psychologist generally and
especially for the psychic researcher in that they harmonize
completely with all other incidents of the case, both spon-
taneous and experimental. By this time, of course, he had
become possessed of the belief that Mr. Gifford was in-
fluencing him in his work and this circumstance colors many
of the experiences. But their chief interest is in their vari-
ously visual and auditory character with the peculiar forms
which they take in their content. I mentioned these experi-
ences of Mr. Thompson to another artist who is familiar
with that island and he spontaneously remarked that he had
heard music in that place and he did not seem to take it as a
matter of any particular curiosity. The island is not in-
habited except at the extreme eastern end and one house of
the lighthouse keeper on the southern shore and a house or
two at the southwestern end. Sheep and deer, the former
without bells, roam about the island in freedom. There is
nothing natural to produce the music, so far as ordinary
observation can detect.

The following is a verbatim copy of Mr. Thompson’s
diary which he wrote while he was on the island painting his
pictures in the fall of 1907.

July 13, 1907.
Arrived at Cuttyhunk, Mass., and went to the Allen House.
The first few weeks were spent in walking around the island
and I commenced a number of studies in oil and pastel of the
scenery during this time.

Aug. 3rd.

Early this evening I was making a pastel sketch of the twi-
light, and was alone on the west side of the island (Cuttyhunk)
at least one mile from any person. As I sketched I suddenly
heard sounds of music. I thought at first that some persons
were behind some of the hills with guitars, but I looked around
and there was no one in sight. As I again resumed my work, I
heard the music again, this time it seemed to be in the air around




A Case of Veridical Hallucinations. 53

me and as I listened intently the sounds changed and were like
distant chimes of bells, then they were like guitars or banjoes,
then like harps, the sounds varied in intensity and always in
chords and rather quick in march time. I tried to catch some
theme but could not, the music was always in changing chords,
and seemed to combine a great number of notes but always in
harmony. After a while it dies away and I did not hear it again
for several days. .

I have tried to account for this music in several ways. I
tested the sounds of the wind in various places on the island, also
sounds of waves. There is a whistling buoy about four miles away
but when I could hear all of those sounds, I could not hear the
music, several times afterward, once in the afternoon and several
times at night, I heard the same sounds of music again, they
were identical each time, altho I was once by the shore and the
waves were quite high, once in the house and all was still, my
wife was near me but she could hear nothing. I thought it might
be a ringing in my ears, but the once I noticed a slight ringing in
my ears it was entirely different from the music which surely
came from the air around me.

After I went to “one of the Elizabeth Islands,” I heard the same
sounds of music many times and at times I heard the music when
sketching out on the moorlands. I also heard voices seemingly
behind a hill near by, but on stepping to the top of the hill quickly,
there was no one in sight. I was always entirely absorbed in
sketching when I heard sounds of music, as I sketched they would
continue but died away as I stopped to listen and stopped painting
and tried to catch the melody or to analyze the music, but it died
away.*

* It was the express wish of the owner of the island on which Mr. Gifford
did much of his work and in which he was especially interested, that I should
not use the name of the island in my report and to effect my object I promised
to conform to his wishes. The public, however, obtained information of the
facts and the place is well known all over the country and this public knowl-
edge made it necessary in this report to recognize the actual place involved in
the record. I asked the owner for permission to use the name, saying that it
was now folly to withhold a name already well known to the newspapers. But
he obstinately refused to give the permission. It made no difference to me
or this report whether the permission was granted or not, as it is so easy to in-
dicate the island without giving the name. Indeed the facts of Mr. Gifford’s
history and the various allusions in Mr. Thompson’s account of his experiences
and in his diary make it very clear what island is actually meant, so that I
need not give the name. I was granted permission, however, by the owner to
substitute the phrase “one of the Elizabeth Islands” for the name of the spe-
cial island, and the reader will have only to look on any good map and recall
the description of it in the report that it is the largest of the group to know
what island is meant by the phrase. I might say that it is neither Cuttyhunk,
Nashawena, Pasque, nor Nonamesset. I desired to use the correct name only
to avoid a useless circumlocution in the report.
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After the music died entirely away and as I resumed my
sketching again, I did not hear the music again that day but heard
some kind of music at other times. [Cf. pp. 174-175.]

Aug. 10th, Cuttyhunk.
We were invited this morning to join a party to visit “ one of

the Elizabeth Islands,” about 14 miles from Cuttyhunk to the east"

end near Wood's Hole.

We went in a motor boat, after going along the shore of
on the north side about nine miles we entered Hadley’s Harbor
at the east end, I left the party with the intention of finding Tar-
paulin Cove and to see if the group of trees were near it. I had
no idea of its direction, this being my first visit to “ one of the
Elizabeth Islands.” 1 went off into the woods with the thought
that I would be led to the place. Hardly expected to accomplish
much in such a short time, as the island is over nine miles long
and about three miles wide. There are few roads and after a
while I came out of the dense woods to a point of land extending
into the sound, and with a wonderful group of trees on the side
near the sea. I took some photos of these trees and went off in
another direction. After a mile or more of woods, I again came
to the shore and there were more of those old trees only more
curious and storm beaten. Somehow, these trees looked familiar
as if I had seen them before in a vision. I walked along by these
trees now near the shore, then across a strip of sandy beach, then
over a rocky point, then more old trees until I came to a deep
ravine. I looked up, and at once recognized the place where Mr.
Gifford made many pictures (as Miss Gifford had told me when
I called on her in the Spring in New York, that Mr. Gifford made
most of his studies of trees on “one of the Elizabeth Islands,” near
Nonquitt). I remembered I had seen at the exhibition in New
York a picture of this place. The grandeur far exceeded my ex-
pectations. The old trees here were the most wonderful I had
ever seen and altho I have had glimpses of this place in moments
of inspiration, I did not until this moment believe such a place
actually existed in nature and such trees so gnarled and twisted
and weather-beaten. Everything is left as God made it. The
trees and branches have fallen and been left to decay untouched
by the hand of man.

As I reached this place, I was actually led from place to place
where the best views could be obtained as«if I had reached the
home of the spirit of Mr. Gifford and he was delighted in show-
ing me its beauties and I know his spirit must take great delight
in hovering around this spot that must have filled him with grand
inspiration. When in life he wandered over these grey hills and
filled himself with the beauty of the rock and sky, trees and the
distant sea over the moorlands.
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After looking at the old trees and picturesque bits, I was led
up a rough hill side and there from the top I saw before me the
exact spot where the picture that first impressed me at the exhi-
bition in New York was painted, altho I did not know the picture
was taken from one of the Elizabeth Islands, its title was “ The
Shore of Vineyard Sound.” As I looked at the scene the same
sensations came to me that I felt at the exhibition in New York.
except the sounds of insects or songs of birds I heard then, now
seemed like grand chords of music at first like distant harps, then
like chimes of bells, then softly like guitars: the music always in
chords the same as I heard at Cuttyhunk, like a march and music
quite lively, altho always soft and harmonious, and the same
voice I heard at the exhibition said—

“ See how beautiful, you must paint them better than I. This
is to be your life work.” Some more words not clear. Then—
“ You must come back when the leaves are red and work; then 1
will help you.” [Cf. p. 126.]

I retained the impression from these words that I would only
receive the fullest inspiration in the autumn season, that now I
was to observe, then return when the leaves were red and then I
would be helped by his spirit.

While filled with these emotions, I reverently bowed my head
and said “ I here dedicate my life to the work of expressing the
love of God as shown in his works around me and may I by my
efforts bring the love of God to the hearts of men.”

As I again looked at the valley it was filled with a soft mist
the distant trees were seen through this mist and I noticed first
around the outlines of the trees and hills soft colors at first faintly
then growing stronger until the whole picture was tinted as if
from the light of the setting sun. The foreground was a crimson
color which shaded into orange in the valley. The trees and
distant hills were flooded with a golden light, shading into a yel-
lowish green. Around the outlines the extreme distance was a
beautiful blue shading into a violet in the sky and each object
was outlined with tones of these colors like a halo. The whole
scene while covered with these colors was extremely soft, still
everything was clear and distinct and I remember a butterfly on a
thistle bloom with the same halo of color around it and the flower.
In all things the local color was clear but the shadows were
changed. As I looked, I could feel a tingling sensation first in
my fingers then in other parts of the body and as the colors faded
away I seemed to be filled with an electrical energy. I ran up
steep hillsides without the least apparent effort, also ran across
the beach at Tarpaulin Cove to an old house, then finding I had
overstayed my time allowance and was about five miles from the
boat, I ran back and over steep hills covered often with bushes
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and trees on sandy beaches, through coarse marsh grass several
times startling deer from their resting places under the trees and
bushes. They would bound and leap over the bushes and I
would leap and bound like the deer and without any apparent
effort. I reached the boat in about thirty minutes for the entire
distance without any feeling of fatigue; a thing impossible under
ordinary conditions, as the day was very hot.

My time for the distance was verified by the Captain of the
boat, Mr. Bosworth of Cuttyhunk, who telephoned to Tarpaulin
Cove just before I came to the boat and they told him I had left
there a half hour before.

I consider the most remarkable thing in connection with this
visit the fact that I visited, I feel sure, the entire sketching ground
of Mr. Gifford, altho the island is so large and very thickly
wooded. It is interesting to note that I found these old trees
that have been my inspiration on the south shore of this island
near Tarpaulin Cove, altho they lack some important points I re-
member seeing in my visions.

In my two tests with mediums with Prof. Hyslop, the first,
Mrs. Rathbun, said the group of trees were situated in a place
which exactly corresponds with this island, and the second, Miss
S——, said “ What is a Tarpaulin?” and that I must “sit on a
tarpaulin and get the misty view.” These old trees seen through
a mist must be the most wonderful view ever seen by man.

It is interesting to note the way which led to my getting to
one of the Elizabeth Islands. I had been trying for some time to
go there, but all boats have been in use (since I arrived at Cutty-
hunk) as it is the busy season, but owing to the illness of one of
the fishermen, his boat was left with Mr. Bosworth, who is ac-
quainted with Mr. C , the owner of one of the Elizabeth
Islands, and Mr. Bosworth is allowed to visit the island with
friends at any time.

The leader of the party wanted to go to Gay Head and others
wanted to go to Wood’s Hole, so the party all went to Wood’s
Hole, landed on one of the Elizabeth Islands, to leave me and
returned for me later and I believe these influences were brought
about for the purpose of my visit to the island.

FREDERIC L. THOMPSON.

Aug. 24, 1907, Cuttyhunk. (Copied from Diary.)
I took the steamer Goswold at noon' for Nonquitt, as I
wished to see Mrs. R. Swain Gifford.
I found Mrs. Gifford at her cottage and looked over several
portfolios of drawings, water colors and pencil sketches.
Mrs. Gifford then asked me to visit the studio which is a sep-
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arate building from the house. It is a very odd and artistic look-
ing building.

Mrs. Gifford left me there and said I could probably look
things over better alone.

’Ighe first thing I noticed was a picture on an easel that made
me hold my breath. It was a group of old trees on a hillside at
twilight, and was one of the identical group of trees I had in my
mind since I first received my inspiration and felt I must finish
it. [See Figure XVIII.] .

I left a sketch of this group with Prof. Hyslop in New York
and have taken a photo of the group on the easel for comparison.
(Mrs. Gifford told me afterwards that the subject for the picture
was taken from the island of Nashawena). I then looked for the
old rug mentioned by Mrs. C———. There are several old rugs
in the room and the one before the easel, the one Mr. Gifford
stood on while painting, had in it the colors of autumn leaves and
was, I am sure, his favorite. I saw several sketches of places at
Cuttyhunk, that I had just been working on, and felt at the time
as if I had sketched them before.

I also saw sketches of many groups of trees on one of the
Elizabeth Islands that I recognized as having been led to on my
visit to that place, also a group of trees that impressed me so
much on my second visit and the group on which I found R. S. G.
1902 on the trunk. So Mr. Gifford had also stood in the same
place that I was and felt those strange sensations and I was told
to look on the back of the tree where I found his initials.

I found amongst his sketches a great many pictures of oriental
scenes, as he spent considerable time in the Orient. Also many
pictures of the polar regions, but it is apparent that in his last
days his thoughts turned to the old trees of these islands and
shores, as he shows by his last sketch of the old trees on Nasha-
wena and he wants me to be sure that of all the countries he has
visited and sketched, these scenes are the most beautiful and
most worthy of study, as Mrs. C said he says “ Just as
good here ”—and I think he could have said also—*“And these
are the scenes I love.”

FREDERIC L. THOMPSON.

Oct. 16th, 1907,
Came to Tarpaulin Cove this morning with Mr. Nickerson on
the mail boat. Arrived at 12.30 went to Mr. Robinson’s at Tar-
paulin Cove.

Oct. 17th.
Took a long walk around the island and selected several
sketching places. I stretched my canvases and got materials in
order, made a picture of an oak tree in the afternoon.



58 Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

Oct. 18th.
Went to Witches’ Glen and sketched the group of trees that
had the initials R. S. G. 1902 on the largest tree.

Oct. 19th.
I again visited the glen and worked on another group of trees
and while painting this afternoon I heard music similar to that I
heard at Cuttyhunk. The wind was blowing very hard at the
time.

Oct. 20th.

Went to a group of trees beyond the Moraine and painted
some there by the road side. While I was returning, I met Mr.
C He asked my name and where I was stopping and was
surprised to find I was stopping at the Cove House. He told me
he would have to put my case before the Board of Trustees, as it
was against the rules of the estate to have any one but their
servants or invited guests on the island.

Oct. 21st.

I went to the black woods beyond the French watering place,
one of the historical places on the island. At one time the French
watering fleet at the time of the French War got water for the
fleet. It is a large fresh water pond separated from the ocean by
a narrow strip of beach and made a painting of trees there. \While
sketching I heard voices apparently of young people talking in a
joyous manner but there was no one in sight. Also music.

Oct. 22nd.

I took a walk through the woods and found to my surprise
another group of trees almost identical with the group that had
first inspired me to paint a picture of storm'beaten trees and to
show the powers of the sea as is shown around these islands.
These trees were situated on a bank overhanging the sea and
showed the direction of the prevailing winds by their leaning
away from the ocean. I made several sketches and made some
photos of them.

Oct. 23rd.

Went across the island to Kettle Cove. Here I found many
old trees growing amongst the sand dunes. They also leaned
away from the sea. I made a painting of a fallen tree, the moss
growing over the ground was very beautiful, of a grey green and
dull orange and yellow. It was very soft and looked and felt
like velvet. I again heard voices and music.

Oct. 24th.
Made a sketch of an old beach tree back of the Cove. Worked
on a sketch of trees I painted in the glen. Received word from
Mr. C that I must leave the island.
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Oct. 25th.

Went to Witches’ Glen and painted a view of the Moraine.
This was the same picture that first impressed me at the Gifford
exhibition in 1906. While sketching I heard voices apparently
behind a hill like young girls talking and laughing, but when I
went to the top of the hill, there was no one in sight. The voices
stopped then.

Worked on big picture three days then packed up, couldn’t
leave on Monday as it was such a storm the mail boat did not
come.

Oct. 26th.

A heavy southerly wind blowing. After breakfast I took a
large canvas and took a long walk through the woods, as I wished
to make a painting of the surf on the other shore. As I walked
out to a point of land to watch the breakers I came across a group
of oak trees near the bank, that I had never seen before, as I
walked past them. I turned around to look at them and I cannot
describe my emotions, as I realized that I had found at last the
storm beaten trees that I had first seen in a vision and had been
looking for so long, and in my ecstacy I hugged and kissed them,
so great was my joy at having found them. I sketched them on
my canvas and in my book and took a photograph of them.

Oct. 27th.

I went to the old trees and worked on my big picture. As I
returned through the woods and came out to a clear place where
I could get a view of the Sound. I saw a wonderful city in the
clouds dazzlingly bright on the side of a beautiful green moun-
tain. The buildings were white with square tops and in the
center was a building that seemed as if studded with diamonds
and precious stones. The whole scene was reflected in the water
which was of a wonderful turquoise blue shading into a clear
green. This vision slowly faded away. [Cf. pp. 220-221.]

Oct. 28th.
I packed up, but could not get away because the storm was
still severe.

Oct. 29th.

Left this morning, went over to the Vineyard with Mr.
Robinson in his motor boat. Landed at Lambert’s Cove. Went
to Mr. Nelson Lucis.

I worked on sketches of the trees and around the marshes part
of the time I worked for a fisherman getting in nets from the fish
traps at Vineyard Haven, where I stayed for a while and finished
my big picture, when I saw the vision of the mother and child
described in another part of notes.

I also saw some very interesting cedar trees.
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I then went to New Bedford where I got my films from camera
developed by Mr. Willis.

In regard to the music, voices and visions I saw during this
time I did not feel surprised. At first it seemed the most natural
thing in the world and only after a few moments when I began
to realize that they were supernatural then the remarkableness

of the occurrence became evident.
FREDERIC L. THOMPSON.

[Not dated.] About Nov. 1st, 1907. (Copied from Diary.)

8. Vision of Woman and Child.

When I had finished my large picture [Figure XXVI] and as
the twilight gathered around me and as the picture faded away in
the darkness, I saw the face of a beautiful woman formed appar-
ently by the sea mists. As I looked it became clearer and the
figure was faintly outlined. I then saw that she held a child in
her arms. It was a beautiful child, and as he stretched out his
arms toward me, my soul was filled with a great joy and my love
for the child and his mother was as the joy of heaven (so com-
pletely did it fill my soul).

The face of the mother was transfigured with a golden light
and her smile seemed to touch chords of music within me; the
same chords I had heard before while sketching and this won-
derful music made my happiness complete. As the figure came
nearer out of the canvas, in my ecstasy I clasped them in my
arms, as I did so the feeling of heavenly joy was so great that it
seemed as if my soul would leave the body, and it seemed as if
death would be a great happiness. She then whispered to me
“ the time has not yet come for you to go. There is much more
for you to do. We must go but the memory of the joy we have
brought you will remain to help you. ‘When you call, I will
come.” By what name shall I call you, I asked. She replied
“You will know me by the name ‘Alter Ego.’” She then passed
into the mists and I again saw my picture of old trees with the
sea swell breaking over the rocks.

The vision of the city on a mountain side, I saw while sketch-
ing on “one of the Elizabeth Islands” was a dazzlingly bright
city. The buildings were all white and seemed to be covered
with diamonds and other precious stones all reflected in the
water. It was very beautiful and on this occasion I felt also as if
I were dying and my body felt rigid and I felt a feeling of great
exaltation and joy. I heard the music at this time also.

FREDERIC L. THOMPSON.

[This account was not dated, but as it occurred just after
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finishing the “ Battle of the Elements” (Figure XXVI) it
was in October. This was after October 26th Cf. Diary. J.
H. H.] '

" In the course of our conversation Mr. Thompson told me
that, until this peculiar. experience began to come to him, he
had not possessed any color sense and then he told me of its
development soon after he began to be affected by his ap-
paritions. In accordance with my request he then copied
from his diary of 1906 what he had noted down at that time
of his strange development of a color sense as it seems to
manifest itself to an artist. The following is that account
and is apropos of the incidents which give his case its psycho-
logical interest.

Nov. 8th, 1906.

I have noticed the past few months a gradually increasing
ability to see colors. I think I noticed it first in the snow. I
always regarded snow as white and one day was surprised to note
that there was absolutely no white in snow. It was made up of a
multitude of tones. On a grey day the snow was grey, on a
bright clear day with sunshine it was purple and blue in the
shadow, and yellow and orange in the sunshine and between these
colors multitudes of half tones but no white. At sunset and twi-
light the tones of purple, grey, and greenish blue were very
marked. In moonlight the color was greenish and shaded to
deep purple grey in shadow. I also find, especially in the sky,
very little color: what seems a deep blue sky has very little blue
in it. It shades from purple grey through shades of green to
turquoise blue, and through to blue grey, and it is very difficult
to find a place that is actually blue. The same thing applies to
trees, when green there is almost no actual green as shades more
from blue grey in shadow to yellow in high lights. Trees reflect
colors of sky and atmosphere, and the colors are constantly chang-
ing on tree and grass. The effect of colors is varied by the effect
of the eye in seeing the complementary color of any color looked
upon for any length of time, as, after looking at green trees or
grass, the eye sees red, and grey tones will become tinged with
red making blue objects purple, and so after going through the
color scale, I find after studying nature for awhile I see great
varieties of tones and half tones that change and vibrate.

As an example of the automatism characteristic of Mr.
Thompson and perhaps of telepathic influences the following
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is a recent experience. It is told in a letter to me by the
gentleman who witnessed the phenomena.

New York, December 14th, 1908.
My dear Prof. Hyslop:

In accordance with your expressed desire, I herewith send
you an account of a remarkable happening incidental to the case
of Mr. Frederick Thompson. Mr. and Mrs. Thompson, Mrs.
Knowles and I were spending the evening of Wednesday, De-
cember 2nd, at the residence of Dr. Miiller. During the evening
there was some automatic writing done after which Mr. Thomp-
son walked over to the piano and not knowing the first thing
about playing the instrument sat drumming upon it with one
finger. The suggestion was made by me that my wife place her
hand upon Mr. Thompson’s head and think the opening bars of
the Vorspiel to Richard Wagner’s opera, “ Tristan and Isolde.”
I chose this knowing full well that probably nothing could be
more remote from Mr. Thompson’s knowledge.

In a few seconds he played the first few notes correctly and in
the correct key. He then stopped and jerked his head away as
tho very much distressed, then arose from the piano. Any mu-
sician, I am sure, would consider the above a remarkable circum-
stance. Faithfully yours,

LAWRENCE KNOWLES.

I then asked Mr. Knowles to give me the exact music that
Mr. Thompson played and the response was a “ slip of man-

uscript paper with what he played exactly note for note.”
The cut represents what Mr. Knowles reported to me.

Revhs e languidi. > _a N Wogmsn,
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Inquiry on two important points which the reader will
understand resulted in the following.
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New York, April 2nd, 1909.
My dear Dr. Hyslop:

Your communication of April 1st to hand, and would say in
reply to your first question, that I whispered the suggestion to
Mrs. Knowles in regard to the Vorspiel of Tristan and Isolde.
As to your second question, Mrs. Knowles and I were in the
dining room, Mrs. Miller in another part of the apartment, while
Dr. Miiller lay on a couch at the further end of the parlor. AsI
remember it Mr. Thompson was sitting on the piano stool but a
few feet away from Dr. Miiller. Mrs. Thompson sat at the side
of the piano toward the dining room and therefore nearest to Mrs.
Knowles and me. Mrs. Thompson was at least ten feet distant
from us when I whispered to Mrs. Knowles. It was absolutely
impossible for any one else to have heard what I said excepting
Mrs. Knowles. Mrs. Miiller had remarked a few minutes previ-
ous to her leaving the room that she wondered if Mrs. Knowles
couldn’t make Mr. Thompson play. It was immediately after
this that I leaned over to Mrs. Knowles and made the suggestion
about the Vorspiel. Mr. and Mrs. Thompson and Dr. Miiller
were conversing at the time.

Faithfully yours,
JNO. LAWRENCE KNOWLES.

It would not have made any difference in the case if Mr.
Thompson had heard the suggestion, as he does not know
any music of the kind. He does not play the piano, and only
fingers a zither at times, playing chords and some of the
simple pieces of popular music. But it is well to know what
possibilities there were for hearing the suggestion mentioned.
Chance coincidence in the order of notes and the natural re-
sponse of a receptive nature in even a slight knowledge of
music and harmony or melody would seem to me a better
explanation of the facts than the supposition that he had
heard the suggestion and had known the music previously.
There seems, however, to be some evidence of automatism
and telepathy.

Recent experiences of Mr. Thompson are interesting to
the psychologist. He found it necessary to rely upon some-
thing else than his art for a living and tried goldsmith work
again. He says of this:

“1I find great difficulty in continuing with jewelry work altho
I am still much interested in it, and would like to continue that
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work. But after trying it for a short time I always have to give
it up, and it affects my health very strangely. Otherwise I am in
perfect physical condition and can sketch or paint for hours with-
out fatigue.”

In conversation with me he said that the attempt to work
at his former mode of employment resulted in nausea and
that he could not stand it more than two hours at a time.

7. Verification of the Pictures.

The sketch represented by Figure XVII was put in my
hands on July 2nd, 1907, when it was Mr. Thompson’s inten-
tion to go out to Nonquitt, Mass., and endeavor to find the
scenes which he believed were there and which had appeared
in his visions. He arrived there and found that the Elizabeth
Islands were the scene of much of Mr. Gifford’s work. But
while there Mrs. Gifford took him into Mr. Gifford’s studio
and there on the easel was the painting represented in Figure
XVIII. His astonishment was so great and the emotions
excited by it so intense that the effect was hard to describe.
In wandering about the island of Nashawena afterwards he
accidentally stumbled upon the actual scene and painted it,
as represented in Figure XX.

Such was his story of that picture. As he had painted
his own after he had seen the unfinished picture of Mr. Gif-
ford the important coincidence and interest was not between
his sketch and painting but between his sketch and the
painting of Gifford. There can be no doubt that the sketch
of Mr. Thompson represents the same scene as that of Mr.
Gifford, and the question is whether Mr. Thompson had
ever seen Gifford’s painting. Mr. Thompson affirms that he
had not, and the general circumstances of Mr. Thompson’s
life make it extremely improbable that he had seen it, unless
some extraordinary incident had been thrown in his way
which he has either forgotten or deliberately withholds. It
was, therefore, necessary to investigate the matter very care-
fully. Mr. Thompson had been employed for years in New
York and had seen Mr. Gifford but once in this city, according
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to his statement, and that to show him some jewelry when
calling for that purpose. The history of that picture thus be-
came an important factor of the problem. Mr. Thompson had
photographed it on the easel when he saw it. but as I had to
suppose that he had seen it previously it was necessary to
inquire into its antecedent history.

Mr. Thompson had stated that he had seen the Gifford
pictures at the American Art Galleries, but also said that he
did not see this one there. In the course of my inquiries of
the owners of the island, on which Gifford had done much
of his work and on which it was believed by Mr. Thompson
the scene of the “ Battle of the Elements” would be found,
to know if they were acquainted with any such scene my
correspondent remarked that he did not recall any such view,
but referred me to a picture which had been offered, as he
said, to the Museum of Fine Arts and was in the hands of
Mr. Joseph Greenwood for certain purposes. I at once
wrote to Mr. Greenwood and he replied with a note and
pencil sketch of the picture in his care. It was the painting
(Figure XVIII) of which Mr. Thompson’s was the fac simile
Figures XVII and XX. I then went to the American Art
Galleries in New York to see the manager and if possible to
ascertain whether this particular painting had been there.
I learned that absolutely every painting of Mr. Gifford’s
which had been on exhibition there had been sold, and as this
painting in the hands of Mr. Greenwood, an unfinished
sketch, had not been sold, it was apparent that it had not
been among the number on exhibition and sale there.
Furthermore I was fortunately able to obtain a catalogue of
the pictures on exhibition there and tho there were a number
of illustrations of Mr. Gifford’s paintings in it there was none
of this particular one. There were the titles of all the paint-
ings printed in the catalogue, but I could not tell from these
whether the painting in question had been there or not. But
fortunately for the case the manager gave me the stencil
mark which he said had been put on absolutely every picture
sold, these being all that were on exhibition, and I sent it to
Mr. Greenwood to examine whether such a mark was on the
painting in his hands. He replied that there were “ no marks
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on the picture or stretcher in reference to sale.” This com-
pleted the evidence that the picture had not been seen by Mr.
Thompson in the exhibition of Gifford’s paintings.

I then wrote to Mrs. Gifford understanding that the
painting in question was on Mr. Gifford’s easel at the time of
his death and asked somewhat of its history. Mrs. Gifford’s
reply is as follows:

Nonquitt, Mass., June 12th, 1908.
Dr. James H. Hyslop,

Dear Sir:—I owe you an apology for my delay in writing you.
I had a letter partly written when your last one came.

The painting of the five trees on Nashawena, that is now in
Mr. Greenwood’s studio, was not on Mr. Gifford’s easel at the
time of his death. It was not on a stretcher, but rolled up and
kept with other such rolls, in the studio either in New York or
Nongquitt, I forget which.

Some time after Mr.’ Gifford’s death I had it put on a stretcher
and placed on the easel at Nonquitt where it has been until I sent
it to the Boston Museum. From there it was sent to Mr. Green-
wood. It is unfinished and has never been exhibited.

I was with Mr. Gifford when he painted the small sketch, from
which the large one was painted. The small one is in the port-
folio in the studio here and Mr. Thompson has probably seen it
there.

The picture on the easel at the time of Mr. Gifford’s death
was a rather small picture of the Padanaram Salt Works. He
had painted it just before his illness, and the paint was not dry
at the time of his death. It was bought at the sale by Mrs. Gere
of Syracuse.

My delay in writing was partly because of Mr. Gifford’s strong
disinclination to talk with people in the condition of mind of Mr.
Thompson, or with spiritualists so called. His belief in immor-
tality was very positive, and he was open to conviction in any
scientific matter, but that he should influence any one to paint,
except through their own individual efforts would have been
most distasteful to him.

Please feel that I shall gladly give any facts that I may have
that will be of use to you.

Very sincerely,
FRANCES E. GIFFORD.

Further inquiry regarding this picture and the sketch
with a view of ascertaining whether it was at all possible
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for Mr. Thompson to have seen either this picture or the

smaller sketch results in the following statements by Mrs.
Gifford.

“The unfinished picture, Figure XVIII, was rolled up .

in the New York studio before his death. I do not know
for how long before. After his death it remained rolled up
and was packed and sent to Nonquitt.” The smaller sketch
was kept in his sketch book at Nonquitt and might have
been seen there by any visitor at his studio.

There was apparently no opportunity whatever for Mr.
Thompson to see the larger picture in New York, His call
to show Mr. Gifford some jewelry would hardly result in
unrolling this picture on such an occasion, when the two
men were in no respect personal friends and only slightly
acquainted. As to the sketch there was no opportunity to
see that until after Mr. Gifford’s death, as Mr. Thompson
seems never to have been at Nonquitt before the visit to the
studio after Mr. Gifford’s death, unless as a rambling boy
during his life at New Bedford, and this is very improbable,
as it can be reached only by steamer without a walk of many
miles. But this early period would not have found the
sketch there, and he seems not to have visited the Gifford
home until the time mentioned.

The sketch of the “ Battle of the Elements ” was also put
in my hands on July 2nd, 1907. When Mr. Thompson found
that Mr. Gifford had not done his work at Nonquitt, Mass.,
but on one of the Elizabeth Islands, he went to the latter
and found on Nonamesset the scene which had appeared in
his visions so constantly and which was apparently described
by both psychics. The sketch is represented by Figure
XXIII and the painting of the actual scene by Figure XXVI.
Mr. Thompson’s statement was that he had never been on
the island, and as Mr. Gifford had never painted any such
scene and apparently had not contemplated painting any
such, with the idea possessing Mr. Thompson the problem
was to explain the resemblance between the sketch and the
alleged scene on the island. There was no question of the
identity between the sketch and the painting, and the remain-
ing issue was to determine Mr. Thompson’s veracity in the
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case. There were two points to be settled. First had he
ever been on the island, and second had he painted a real
scene and what relation did it bear to the sketch and painting
represented in the illustrations.

As Mr. Thompson had lived in New Bedford a number
of years it would be natural and easy to visit the island,
according to the usual expectations. As he had not lived
in the place until he was twelve years of age he was not
likely to have seen it until after that time. Mrs. Thompson
stands sponsor for his not having seen it within her knowl-
edge, and I wrote to his parents and sister for information
on the matter. Their replies are as follows:’ -

New Bedford, Mass., May 14th, 1908.
James H. Hyslop,

Dear Sir:—Your favor of May 10th came to hand in due time,
but I was away on account of the very sudden death of a very
dear friend and to-day, May 14th, is the first time I could even
think of it, and I cannot write very much now. Of course, I want
to do all in my power to help my son Frederic Louis Thompsoh.
He was such a dear good boy. His life has been saddened by an
invalid father and it has made it very hard for us all.

He was born in Middleboro and lived there seven and a half
years, I think. ‘We have lived in New Bedford since 1882. He
was a very studious boy and young man. He did not finish the
Grammar School here because he had to go to work, but he went
to a private evening school quite awhile.

The Islands are, some say 16, some 20 miles from New Bed-
ford. Some of them it was impossible to reach, Penikese and
one of the Elizabeth Islands being two of them, I know. Now
I am sure Frederic never lived on or visited any of those islands.
I am sure he could not have done so without my knowledge. I
always knew where he was. I do not know why you ask, but I
know you can believe whatever he tells you about this part of his
life. He, I know, thought much of Mr. Gifford.

L. H. THOMPSON.

In reply to my questions individually Mrs. Thompson,
the mother, repeats some of her statements that she “ knows
he did not live or visit on any of these islands, and that there
was always and is now an obstacle to people visiting the one
island concerned.” She also states that he could not have
gone off to the island unknown to any one and that he never
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walked in his sleep to her knowledge. In regard to his edu-
cation she says he had no training in painting, but only some
drawing in the public schools.

Mr. Thompson’s sister writes as follows in reply to my
inquiries bearing upon the questions at issue:

Akron, Ohio, May 16th, 1908.
James H. Hyslop,

Dear Sir:—Your letter of the 10th at hand. I have been away
for several weeks on a visit and your letter has just reached me
here.

In reply to your first question, I would say that the only time
(before last summer) that my brother ever visited any of the
Elizabeth Islands was fully twenty years ago when he spent a few
days at Cuttyhunk. I am very sure he did not visit any of the
other islands. I am positive he did not go to as at that
time the owners were even more strict than now and one could
not land there without a permit. Had he gone there he would
have spoken of it on his return.

In regard to his knowing Mr. Gifford, he was very slightly
agquainted with him. I do not believe he ever saw him more
than perhaps half a dozen times to speak to. He never painted
with him or took any lessons of him. Of that I am positsve.

He received the ordinary Grammar School education, took
drawing lessons as they came in the school course. He did not
go to the High School and has never taken any course in Art
Schools or any special art training of any sort to my knowledge.

As to his walking in his sleep I am positive he never did that.
I would surely have known it if he had. He was a very sound
sleeper and always so well and active. I never remember his
ever being sick abed but once and that was when he had the
measles. .

It seems so strange that anything of this sort should come to
him, as he was such an unbeliever in anything in the spiritualistic
line and always laughed at the least suggestion of the occult. He
always called anything of that sort “ rank foolishness.” I have
always found him truthful and honest in every way, and think
you will find his reputation for these qualities to be of the best.

Of course I am willing to assist my brother in every way,
but would rather you.would not use my name, unless absolutely
necessary, as my husband is as strong in opposition to anything
of this nature as my brother used to be.

Any information I shall gladly give you, if you wish.

I am sincerely,




70 Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

It was clear that, if he had ever visited the island, it would
most likely have been when he lived in New Bedford and he
himself should have remembered it easily, except on the
supposition that he had visited it in a somnambulistic state
or deliberately falsified the facts. He had no reasonable
opportunities to do so when living and working in New
York, and his occupation made it inconsistent with his
work that he should do so for any such purposes as would
involve him in artistic efforts like painting. In addition, the
details of the endeavor to find the scene on the island of
whose previous knowledge it was necessary to ascertain or
dispute tend to sustain the various statements that he had
not seen it, at least in any normal condition of which he or
they were aware, and there seems to be no knowledge or
suspicion of any abnormal condition in which he might have
seen it.

The next question was whether the actual scene could be
discovered as reported and painted by Mr. Thompson. It is
apparent to the reader that the whole issue of the super-
normal in the case depends on Mr. Thompson’s veracity on
the one hand and on the accuracy of the resemblance between
the sketch and the actual scene which he painted. The rocks
in the water, the broken forked limb on the ground, the cleft
in the tree, the S shaped limb on one of the trees and the
peculiarly shaped limb on the other, all of which are found
in both the sketch and the painting, should be found in the
scene, or enough of them to establish the identity of the
sketch and scene. The crooked limb on the first tree running
first to the left and then turning on itself and extending to
the right Mr. Thompson had said was put in, having been
seen on another tree. It was avowedly no part of the actual
scene and trees. It was the same with the foliage. He told
me long before we found the actual spot that the leaves on
the peculiar limb on the first tree were put there by himself
and were not on the tree. The sequel showed it to be a dead
limb. But it was necessary to find a scene sufficiently
resembling the sketch and probably the one painted to
establish Mr. Thompson’s veracity and the probability that
the vision and sketch represent supernormal phenomena.
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To effect this object I first set about obtaining permission
to visit the island and search for the trees. I had learned
that the owners would allow no one to visit the place without
a permit. I therefore applied for this and explained in my
letter the object of my inquiry. The following is the letter
which I received in reply:

Boston, March 28th, 1908.
Dr. James H. Hyslop, Secretary,

Dear Sir:—Yours of March 22nd received. In answer to your
questions, I will say that I think it is going to be very difficult for
you to ascertain the truth in this matter. I assume that this is
what has happened that, somebody has shown you a picture of
‘“ one of the Elizabeth Islands,” which he declares he painted,
without ever having seen the island. If this is the case, I do not
see how it would be possible to prove that the man has not been
there. There is no rule made by the Trustees of (above
mentioned island) against anyone landing there, €xcept with dogs
or guns, or for camping purposes, or lighting fires, and we know
that various people have landed and taken photographs and made
sketches. It may be that someone who has never beer on
has painted a picture from a photograph that someone has taken
who has been there. A few people have applied for permission
to paint on (above mentioned island). There were two
men who did so last summer, and I gave them both permission to
do so on condition that they should not label the pictures they
paint with the name of the island, for we, above all things, are
seeking to avoid publicity. The name of one of these men I have
forgotten, but I remember he was connected with the art depart-
ment of some college in New York, possibly Columbia. The
other man’s name was Frederick L. Thompson. He asked for
permission to stay on the island, as he wanted to paint the morn-
ing and evening effects. I replied, after consultation with the
trustees, that he could paint the island, but that we could not
allow him to stay there. Not many weeks afterwards, I discov-
ered this man on the island late on a stormy evening, and found
that he had, without my knowledge, persuaded one of the farmers
at the West End of the island to allow him to stay there for a few
days. I write these details in case they may be of assistance to
you in your enquiries.

As to your request to be allowed to come on the island to take
photographs, I have no objection to your doing so, provided that
you will not publish those photographs with the name of
attached to them. The island, however, is a very large one, and
I should be surprised if you could find the individual spot that

-~
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you are seeking for. You might hunt for two weeks without
finding the particular place that you were looking for. Perhaps
the simplest way would be to send a photograph of the picture to
me. I know the island so well that I could probably identify it.*
I expect to be in New York next week for two or three days. If
you wish to communicate with me farther about this, you can
address me care of Mr. William Emerson, an architect on Fifth
Ave. I have forgotten his number, but you can find that easily
in the telephone book.
Yours truly,
A.B. C——.

The reader will remark the confirmation of Mr. Thomp-
son’s story that is apparent in this letter and that is the chief
reason for publishing it.

In reply to this I wrote for further information, and send-
ing a photograph of the painting of Mr. Thompson (Figure
XXVI), as a means of ascertaining whether Mr. C————
remembered any scene like it. His reply is as follows and
contains the reference to the painting in the care of Mr.
Greenwood:

Boston, May 7, 1908.
Dr. James H. Hyslop,

Dear Sir:—I am returning to-day under separate cover the
two photographs that you sent me. I have no idea what the
particular points are which you wish to prove as true, but I can
give you some information which may help you.

In the first place, I feel perfectly confident that you will find
no such scenes as these two at , although they correspond
to the general type of the scenery. I can say confidently
that there is no such tree growing near the shore, though I think
there is a very good chance that such a tree exists somewhere
among the millions of trees on the island. Probably a study has
ll;»eep made of a tree and an imaginary picture painted on that

asis.

If you wish to go to the place which nearest resembles in
character that wild sea-shore sea, Mr. Robinson, who lives at

. *For the name of the island concerned I have substituted in the first
instance and then used the dash afterward the phrase which the gentleman
said I might use for it, namely, “ one of the Elizabeth Islands.” The reader
will probably know by this time what island this is.
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Tarpaulin Cove, can direct you to some woods that reach near
the shore, a mile or two to the westward of Tarpaulin Cove.

As for the three trees, I can give you no idea whatever. I
have painted hundreds of pictures myself of Island during
the past ten years, and would be likely to know if there were
three such trees, as I am constantly on the search for subjects.

I will give you this additional information in case it may prove
of service to you. Mrs. R. Swain Gifford this winter offered for
sale to the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston a picture by her hus-
band. I saw the picture, and as soon as I saw this photograph, I
at once recognized this as a copy of Mr. Gifford’s picture. I will
not absolutely swear that it is an exact copy for I saw Mr. Gif-
ford’s picture some months ago, and do not remember the exact
details, but this is certainly almost the same subject. One of the
staff of the Museum of Fine Arts told me, when I showed him the
other picture of the tree and the waves that a certain Mr. D. J.
Sullivan, of 228 Union St., New Bedford, sent up to the Museum,
this winter, also, a picture by R. Swain Gifford for sale. That
picture, my informant tells me, was the same composition as this
one, but was reversed, and in place of the wild looking tree, he
says, there were rocks occupying about the same space. Further,
I was at last Sunday and Mr. Robinson, with whom Mr.
Thompson stayed when he painted on the island, told me that
Mr. Thompson had at his house some sort of a photograph of a
Swain Gifford picture, and that he made some use of that. As to
the exact use he made Mr. Robinson was not very clear, so that;
my personal belief is that, if you want to find the original of Mr.
Thompson’s paintings, your time would probably be more profit-
ably employed in looking up the Gifford paintings.

I feel very sure that you will be utterly unable to find anything
that will be of any use to you.

I will add that I think I said in a former letter to you that Mr.
Thompson came and stayed on the island at Mr. Robinson’s house
when I had expressly told.him that he could not stay on the
island ;—and moreover, that I stipulated that he should not men:
tion the name of in connection with those pictures wher
exhibiting them and he promised me that he would fulfill these
conditions. , T

I do not care to have my name mentioned in regard to this
matter in any controversy you may have with Mr, Thompson. |

Yours truly, - '
A.B.C——

on

* This is a curious error of memory on the part of Mr. C. I had sent hirr'l
the photograph from which Figure XXVI was made and the picture he refer$
to as seen at the Museum was the one that was afterward sent to¢ Mr.,Greerdy
wood, Figure XVIII. There is no resemblance between them. He must hav

confused it with some other painting. . . t
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The result showed that the group of trees was not to be
found on the island in mind, but that it was on the island of
Nonamesset, separated from “ one of the Elizabeth Islands ”
by a narrow stream crossed by a rustic bridge.

The issue of this correspondence made it necessary to
visit the island and search for the scene. I therefore made
arrangements with a photographer in New Bedford to go
with me. We had to hire a small yacht, as there were no
other means of reaching the island. Mr. Thompson had told
me that the scene would be.found on the shore of Vineyard
Sound at the edge of what is known as the “ Black Woods.”
As a means of finding the exact spot he told me the trees
would be found near that represented in one of his paintings.
We soon found what I took to be this group of trees, tho the
shore seemed foreshortened in the picture. Events proved
that we were wrong in the group of trees which I took for
representing those in this picture. There was a resemblance,
but as a gentleman with us had broken down a limb I could
only conjecture that the group was the one desired for
orientation. It had no importance except as a means of
assuring us that we were near the desired scene. With this
knowledge I sought for the group of trees represented in the
“ Battle of the Elements ”’ (Figure XXVTI) but could not find
it. I did find a storm blown tree which exaggerated the in-
fluence of the wind, but which had no other resemblance to
the tree in the sketch and picture. It had no cleft.in its body
and there was no limb of the shape represented in the picture.
There were no forked and broken limbs at its root and none
nearer than forty or fifty feet. There was no second tree
near by and hence no characteristics represented in the
second tree of the sketch and painting. The tree was also
too far from the shore to represent anything coincident with
the view in the painting. The Sound shore had the rocks on
it which might have been taken to put in the picture. But
that was all that suggested any resemblance. I concluded
that, if Mr. Thompson had taken this scene, he had very
much idealized it and selected the various features of it from
different and surrounding trees. In that case his artistic
liberties had been so great that all identity between the
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scene and the sketch and painting was out of the question.
I found on a tree some forty or fifty feet away a limb which
was enough like the limb that Mr. Thompson said he had
actually put on the tree in the picture to accept his statement
that he had taken it from another. But on the whole the
idealization would have been so marked that the case for
science would have been worthless. I returned to the city
with the conviction that the search was a failure and that no
identity could be established between the sketch and the
scene and that the only identity was between the sketch and
the painting.

But as soon as Mr. Thompson saw the photographs of
the scenes he repudiated both of them. It was clear that the
photograph represented in the result did not reproduce the
scene represented in the painting of which Figure XXVI
is a cut, but I assumed that Mr. Thompson had idealized it.
However, he refused to admit that what I had found were
the desired scenes and mentioned in proof of it in the first
instance that a telegraph pole and wire were near the one
concerned and that a wire for supporting the pole was
attached to the tree which he had painted. In addition he
asserted that he had painted a real group with the various
features identifying it with the sketch and the painting.
There was, therefore, nothing to do but to try again.

The consequence was that we made a second trip taking
Mr. Thompson with us, not only to search for this particular
scene, but also to find certain others of some interest. We
went out on June 11th. We soon found the general locality
and Mr. Thompson found the group of trees—and there was
the wire attached to one of them. But what was Mr. Thomp-
son’s astonishment not to find the group of trees we were
primarily interested in, when he pointed out where they
ought to be and in fact nothing but a sand waste was there.
He could not account for the failure and was perplexed
beyond measure to find that his recollection of the place was
wholly wrong. But there was nothing to do except to admit
failure. I suggested having painted the picture from an
hallucination, but while he had no real scene by which to
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dispute this suggestion he insisted that he had painted from
a real scene and group of trees, and that they could be found.

We then went to look up another group of trees which he
had noticed and on one of which Mr. Gifford’s initials were
said to have been carved and which were found by Mr.
Thompson in a remarkable manner, as told in the diary (p
57). The story was that, while standing some distance from
the group of trees, he heard a voice say:—"“ Look on the
other side of the tree,” and going there he had found Mr.
Gifford’s initials carved in the bark. We soon found the
trees and there were the initials. Of all these incidents my
notes made that evening tell the story and mention the
features which have psychological and other interest. I
copy them verbatim.

“1 noticed today that Mr. Thompson was often in an
absent-minded condition and did not respond at once to
questions. He often in some inexplicable manner or mood
would suddenly run off from a place and return without
indicating what his object was. While looking for a group
of trees, for instance, he suddenly turned and ignored the
search and ran with all his might down the beach and picking
up a lath came back and said nothing about his object. The
lath was thrown away before he reached us. Again when
we got out of the carriage, because the hill was too steep for
the horses to carry us up, Mr. Thompson paid no attention
to the rest of us and.the direction we took, which was toward
the spot where I had first discovered the trees photographed,
but ran off through the woods. I kept searching for the
desired group of trees and in about three-quarters of an hour
he returned saying that he.had gotten lost and only dis-
covered it when he found hxmself over-on the north side of
the island.

When he returned he soon found the locality in which
he had taken a picture and thé group of trees which had
served as the mark of the place where he expected to find
the most important group, but he did not find the latter. He
was much puzzled to find that the scené he wanted was not
where he had expected to find it. He gave an intelligent
account of what he had expected to find and pointed out the
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exact spot where the group of trees ought to be, but they
were not there and there was not the slightest trace of their
ever having been there. Only a waste spot of sand was
there and not a hint of any removal of them. The spot was
too high for the incursion of the sea. He defined the char-
acteristics of the group clearly enough and felt that it was
or ought to be within a few feet of the place represented by
the trees mentioned. But there was not a tree there, and
the group which he at first thought might have been taken
for the right one had no resemblance except the most general
‘ones to the scene sought and he spontaneously recognized
this fact. In reality he was not tempted to regard them as
such except as a necessary inference from the expectation
that they would be found in such proximity to the group
mentioned. He recognized that only their size suggested
this and that neither their relation to the other group nor
the distinctive characteristics present in the sketch and paint-
ing were to be found with them.  We then searched the
whole shore very carefully several times to find the desired
group and found nothing whatever resembling it, except two
dead trunks and an S-shaped limb exactly like the one on
the second tree in the picture. But of these only one was
standing and the other had been long on the ground while
‘neither of them had any foliage or branches and no marks
of identity with the painting, except a limb lying in the
huckleberry bushes. Moreover there were no initials on
either of them and the facts which finally marked the dis-
covery of the true group were not present.

After long reflection on the matter, it occurred to Mr.
Thompson that, as it was raining on the day he painted the
“ Battle of the Elements ” (Figure XXVTI) he may not have
gone to this spot, but may have gotten on the north side of
the island and had not recognized the fact. A New England
cloudy and rainy day, usually accompanied by a fog, would
easily conceal the points of the compass from'a man who has
as little sense of locality as Mr. Thompson, and as the shores
on both sides of the island are-alike' he-might very naturally

‘have mistaken the place. Besides, as he had on his first
-expedition to the island found his way about and made his
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discoveries in a sort of unconscious manner the fact that he
had on this occasion wandered off semi-consciously to the
north side of the island tended to support this conjecture.
So further search was given up, and as there was no more
time to make the search of the north shore I abandoned the
attempt. But Mr. Thompson also showed a sketch which
he said he made of the actual trees as proof that he was not
mistaken.

We then went in search of some other scenes and my
notes of the find explain the interest and importance of the
incident of the initials on the tree. The group of trees was
situated perhaps a thousand feet from the sea or Vineyard
Sound. My notes were as follows, after finding and photo-
graphing the initials, which are represented in Figure
XXXIIL

The initials on the tree were not visible at any point
from the road by which the tree stood. It was perhaps
about seven to ten feet from the road. I examined this rela-
tion carefully and found that at no place approaching the
tree by the road could the initials be seen. At a distance
they seemed to be more or less fresh, as they did not show
the growth that is usual in cut initials of long standing. But
when I looked at them near by they showed that they had
been cut some time ago. They were in fact “ R. S. G. 1902,”
showing that they were cut there six years ago, three years
before Gifford’s death. I examined them with a microscope
several times to be able to speak more authoritatively regard-
ing their age and in order to protect the veracity of Mr.
Thompson against suspicion. It was perfectly evident that
they were not recent. The marks of growth were very dis-
tinct, and would have been more noticeable in other locali-
ties than this one, where growth, I am told, is exceedingly
slow. It was necessary to examine them thus carefully
because their appearance might suggest to some people
greater recency than is the fact. They are on the north side
of the tree which is beech, the road runmng past on the
south side of it. [See Figure XXXIV.]

I questioned Mr. Thompson, without suggesting my
object, as to where he stood when he heard the voice direct-
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ing him to look on the other side of the tree, and how he
approached the spot. He told me that he came up from the
Vineyard Sound shore and pointed toward the southeast and
said the spot where he stood to sketch the trees and photo-
graph them was about sixty feet distant on the south side
when he heard the voice. This was not only on the opposite
side of the place where the initials were, but was also too far
off to have seen them easily, if at all, had he been on the
north side at that distance. The initials were less than one
inch in diameter.

We returned home without finding the object of our
main quest, but the positiveness of Mr. Thompson made me
feel that there was reason for continued searching, and I
resolved to make another trip to examine the north shore of
the island, that on Buzzard’s Bay. I accordingly made
arrangements for this without saying anything to Mr.
Thompson and informed him of it after my return to the
city. We went on July 2nd, and on my return I wrote the
following notes the same evening. I copy them as written.

New Bedford, Mass., July 2nd, 1908.

“ On this date we made the third visit in search of the
group of trees represented in Figures XXIII, XXVI and
XXVII of Mr. Thompson’s painting and sketch of the actual
scene. Mr. Thompson had been confident that they repre-
sented a real and not an imaginary scene, and in proof of
this he stated to me yesterday (July 1st) before leaving New
York that an old box was at the place and that he had carved
his own initials on the first of the two trees. His doubt about
finding them on the north side of the island was reinforced
by the statement that on the day on which he had painted
the picture the storm was so violent that the man who car-
ried the mail could not come in, being prevented by the
wind, and that if the wind had come on the north shore it
would not have hindered his coming in. This had convinced
him that we would probably not find the group of trees on
the north side. But owing to the fact that we had not found
them on the south side along the edge of the “ Black
Woods ”’ where he had expected to find them, I resolved to
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investigate the north shore carefully, especially that he had
been led unconsciously in that direction on the second trip
(p.” 76). Mr. Thompson also remarked to me, in New
York, that he could not believe he had painted the picture
from an hallucination, as he would hardly have carved his
initials on an hallucination. On the steamer which we had
taken, before starting, he remarked also that he had an impres-
sion in the morning which haunted him very strongly that he
would never be able to find the trees by himself. He added
that this induced him to go to Mrs. S , the lady who
had found his box of paintings clairvoyantly (p. ....), and
to try if she could find the group of trees. I had him write
out the results of that sitting immediately which he did be-
fore the steamer left the dock in New York. The record is
given below.

After arriving at New Bedford we took the yacht to a
cove on the north shore and together Mr. Thompson and I
explored it for three or four miles and examined every spot
and group of trees on the shore for that entire distance. We
did not discover a single tree or group of trees that had any
semblance of the scene desired in any specific characteristic.
We found plenty of storm-blown trees of the same general
type, as would be expected, but not one having the necessary
characteristics for identifying the scene. Besides the forest
was too far from the shore to suit the conditions which Mr.
Thompson had described as marking the actual scene. But
as there was one small strip of woods on the south shore
which we had not examined on the second trip, this not being
near the “ Black Woods,” we resolved to sail to that point
and make the last effort to find the trees. We debated sail-
ing around to Vineyard Sound and reaching it in that way or
anchoring in Hadley Bay and taking a row boat to the place.
At last, owing to the direction of the wind dand the shallow
shore on the other side of the island we decided on the latter
alternative. From this point a chapter of interesting acci-
dents led us to the right spot. In fact these accidents began
with the debating about our course and the dec1snon to go to
Hadley Bay.

Arriving and anchoring we took the row boat through a
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narrow inlet like a stréeam and in passing under a bridge
through which the tide was going we found it too swift and
had to let the boat float back and to carry it around the
bridge. As soon as we landed Mr. Thompson threw his coat
on the bridge and helped us carry the boat around it and to
the water farther up. He then went back to the bridge for
his coat, and instead of getting it at once and returning to us
he stood on the bridge and looked south in silence. After
waiting some five minutes I called him again, but he paid no
attention to me, and I resolved to say no more. In a few
moments he suddenly darted off the bridge, leaving his coat
there and ran rapidly around the shore, passing us some dis-
tance above and out to a point of land where there were some
trees, and at once found the spot and group of trees, picking
up the box that was there and throwing it into the air. One
of the men went back for Mr. Thompson’s coat and the other
two of us rowed the boat to the spot. There I saw the old
box and the initials on the tree, which were “F. L. T., Oct.
1907.” He then picked up the stick lying there and said it
was the one he used when painting the picture. By it was a
lath like the one he had gone back for on the second trip on
the shore of the “ Black Woods.” He also pointed out the
hole in the ground where he had extemporized an easel. He
also remarked that he had lost a tube of red paint while paint-
ing the picture. He went at once to searching for it and I
gave my attention to aiding him. In a few minutes he found
it in the leaves and huckleberry bushes, tarnished by the
weather and showing the marks of exposure. I brought this
home with me.

But the two important limbs were missing. Both, how-
ever, were lying on the ground and were brought home with
us. We tied one of them as near its original position as we
could and propped the other against the side of the tree to
which it had belonged and took the photographs of them
(Figures XXVII and XXVIII). We could not even ap-
proximate the position of the S-shaped limb as there were
no means of fixing it in its natural position. We could
only give its shape in the picture. A part of it had been
lost. Sheep had broken it off and probably ice and wind
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had broken off the other. I have had them photographed
separately to show their shape and conformity to the
sketches made, one of the vision and the other of the
scene (Figures XXIX and XXX). It must be remem-
bered that the psychic had told Mr. Thompson that he
would find that one limb was not there. This was really one
of the most important limbs. Before finding the trees Mr.
Thompson had told me that the S-shaped limb was not
painted exactly as it grew on the tree. He mentioned that it
was round and curved before the part painted began. The
reader will see that this was correct and that he had assumed
the privilege of an artist in altering its appearance.

The sketch which Mr. Thompson had in his sketch-book
and which he said he had drawn before going to the place to
paint the trees shows a more realistic conception than the
painting. The characteristic limb in the foreground is not
exactly the shape of that in the vision sketch and the
picture but it is exactly representative of the limb that
was broken off and shown in Figure XXIX. But the
sketch was not only a means of identifying the place
and trees, but also the model by which he finished
the picture. The rocks are not identical in location with
those in the vision sketch and painting, but in a storm
they would be more nearly like the painting and vision
sketch, tho Mr. Thompson thinks it quite possible that
he finished the picture at the spot where he had expected to
find the trees originally, as he did not finish it at the place
where the trees are, nor at the time he painted the first out-
line of it.

One important thing should be remarked. Behind the
group of trees painted was one almost exactly like the group
painted on the island and identifying the Black Wood, and
at the left, facing the Sound, was a shore almost identical
with the shore seen in this.same picture. It is quite possible
that this resemblance had given rise to the illusion in Mr.
Thompson’s mind that the trees were near the “ Black
Woods.” The relations of space in the groups of trees were
the same, and with the actual resemblances between the two
groups of .trees and the shore might naturally impress a man
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whose sense of locality is as poor as Mr. Thompson’s with the
illusion that led to the failure to find the desired trees on the
first two visits. :

But all the combined characteristics were found in the
two trees and the general features of the shore and rocks to
insure both the veracity of Mr. Thompson and the identity
of the scene and the original vision sketch. There were the
branching limb at the root of one tree, the S-shaped limb for
the other, the characteristic limb of the first now broken
off, and the decayed cleft in this same tree. The various
features of the place remarked before we found it and the
sketch (Figure XXV) made when there and shown me on
the second trip undoubtedly identify the place and trees while
the characteristics mentioned identify the scene with the in-
tention of the vision sketch. The idealization in the painting
is not great, perhaps not more than every artist is entitled to
indulge. But whether or not the evidence seems to be at
least fairly good for the identity of the original vision sketch
and the scene as well as the painting. We could hardly sus-
pect Mr. Thompson of deceiving unless we assumed this iden-
tity, while his honesty and intended veracity would be implied
in the denial of the identity.

In regard to this idealization of scenes Mr. Thompson
adds his knowledge of what seems to have been true in Mr.
Gifford in the scenes which he actually painted in the same
locality.

“1 find that Mr. Gifford idealized his work to considerable
extent. For instance, the large picture called ¢ On the Shores
of Vineyard Sound’ at the exhibition of his works at the
American Art Galleries, I found when I visited the scene that
he had entirely left out dense woods in the distance on top of
the hill and the shape of the largest tree was considerably
changed in form, and a stone wall that ran the entire length
of the valley was left out entirely; the rocks in the foreground
were greatly enlarged and their form changed. In fact very
much more idealized than my picture of the “ Battle of the
Elements,” for the conditions during a heavy southeast storm
with heavy fog and high tide were almost identical with the
picture.”
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The following is the record of the sitting with Mrs. S
held on the morning we left New York and given to me be-
fore the steamer left the dock.

New York, July 1st, 1908.

I see the trees. They are on a rounding bank. The land
slopes down. One limb is not there. It has blown away or been
struck by lightning. It changes the appearance of the tree.

(Do you see any landmarks by which I can locate them?)

The water bends around quickly and beyond is where men
have been at work. I see something like a round building. I
can’t see what it is; it may be used for cattle or a bridge—like a
rustic bridge, in front is a cleared place, then trees beyond.

(On what part of the island is it?)

You face the rising sun. I see houses near it. It is not ex-
actly east, when you face the rising sun; it is on your left hand.

(Are there trees near it?)

When you stand on the bridge and face the south they are on
the left hand [indicating this].

No trace of men having been at work near the place was
noticeable, and no * round building,” as indicated. But there
was apparently some confusion in this incident, as indicated
by the reference to a bridge as satisfying the terms of the
impression. The bridge already mentioned is not in detail
a rustic bridge, but might be said to be this in general. The
trees are on a rounding bank, a promontory about twenty feet
wide, the Sound on one side and a marsh on the other. This
is indeed a very marked feature of the spot, and as already
remarked, one, in fact two, of the limbs were broken down.
One was blown down, as said, or broken by ice. The group
of trees desired were on the left as you faced east. The ref-
erence to lightning was wrong, and would not be made by
any one who knew the trees. There was a clearing on the
left of the bridge, and houses were not far off, but to the
north and not visible from the bridge. As you faced the
south on the bridge the trees were exactly to the left, and
“not exactly east.” In fact, the statements of the medium,
who was never at the place and could not possibly have
known anything about it were remarkably accurate, with the
exceptions observed.

The coincidences and accidents by which we were led to
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the right place are worth noting. First, if we had persisted
in going to the point for which we started we should have
wholly failed again. Secondly, if the tide had not been run-
ning as it was we should also have failed. Thirdly, if Mr.
‘Thompson had gotten his coat and come to the boat at once
we should have missed our object. Fourthly, if we had sailed
around into Vineyard Sound we should have also failed. The
combination of circumstances which enabled us to attain our
object was thus quite remarkable. The assumption all the
time was, and this by Mr. Thompson as well as the rest of us,
that the group of trees was on the island on which Gifford
had done much of his work, but the sequel proved that it was
not on this island. It was on the small island on which Gif-
ford was born, separated from the other by a very narrow
stream connecting Vineyard Sound with Hadley Bay.

As bearing upon the relation between the vision with the
sketch from it (Figure XXIII) and the painting of the actual
scene the following answers to my questions sent to Mr.
Thompson just after my return from the first visit to the
island will have some interest. I desired to know how much
Mr. Thompson knew of Mr. Gifford and his painting and
whether he had been influenced by the vision in his painting
the actual scene.

8. Answers to Questions.

The vision of the trees by the sea came to me just at
various times during the month of September, 1905, and at
that time I made a drawing of this vision, also made one
later in the fall of the same vision, although slightly different
in character as it was clearer and lasted longer, both of these
sketches I left with Prof. Hyslop.

The only painting I had ever seen of Gifford’s up to that
time was a sketch of salt marshes which contained no trees.
I saw that picture in New Bedford a great many years ago, I
cannot recall just when, but think it was about 24 years ago.
It was the only painting of Gifford’s I had ever seen until I
visited the exhibition in 1906, and at the exhibition I saw no
painting that would suggest the picture “ Battle of the Ele-
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ments.” This could be verified by showing a photograph of
the painting “ Battle of the Elements” to Mr. Kirby, the
auctioneer of the American Art Galleries, who had charge of
the sale, also to Mrs. Gifford.

I asked Miss Gifford May 8, 1907, if Mr. Gifford had ever
painted a large picture of storm beaten trees by the sea, and
she said that storm beaten trees were always a favorite sub-
ject of his, but that his smaller pictures had never satisfied
him. I asked her where he found his subjects for these pic-
tures, and she said on “ one of the Elizabeth Islands,” where
he was born. She asked me if I had ever been there, and I
told her I never had, as I had understood one must get a
special permit to land, as it is a private estate. She said that
it is not necessary now, but that one could only remain for .
the day as there are no hotel accommodations there.

I was told at this time that groups of trees always im-
pressed Mr. Gifford from infancy. He was born on one of the
Elizabeth Islands, and he left the island at the age of two
years. After this he had in his mind a group of trees that he
could not find around his home. At the age of ten years he
again visited the island, he at once recognized near his birth-
place the group of trees that had remained in his mind from
infancy.

Often while painting my picture, the vision came to me,
as I had seen it in 1905 and my effort was to paint my vision
as I saw it, taking only the color and detail from the actual
scene.

Yes, the broken limb was sketched from nature and I feel
sure it was on the tree near the ocean that is in my picture
“ Battle of the Elements.”

T saw the limb which turns on itself and goes back on a
tree, on “one of the Elizabeth Islands,” but in a different
locality from the group near the sea. The crooked limb was
on the second tree, similar to my painting.

(FREDERIC L. THOMPSON, May 19, 1908.)
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Chapter III
COMMENTS ON THE MEDIUMISTIC RECORDS.

The first circumstance to be remarked with care and em-
phasis is that the first sittings with all of the psychics con-
cerned were under their complete ignorance of the man and
of the facts connected with him. The reason for the utmost
precautions is apparent and I need not explain. I have al-
- ready indicated the conditions under which the first sitting
with Mrs. Rathbun was held. I repeat here only that I ar-
ranged for it without either party having any knowledge of
the other and took Mr. Thompson to the sitting under the
name Smith, required him to remain silent for a time, and I
took the notes. The nature of the case up to this time was
not known to any but Mr. Thompson and myself, with per-
haps a friend or two of Mr. Thompson’s. The same condi-
tions prevailed at the first sitting with Mrs. Chenoweth a few
months afterward. In this latter case Mr. Thompson was
not introduced to the séance room until Mrs. Chenoweth was
in a trance, and left the room before she came out of it at the
end of the sitting. The same ignorance of the man and his
experience prevailed at the first sittings of the later series of
both psychics.

I say nothing about the character of the psychics for this
period of the experiment because I did not and do not care
what it was. The conditions of the experiment excluded the
only objections which a sceptic can raise when dealing with
mediums that are more or less known to the public, namely,
detective fraud. This was excluded by the nature of the
precautions taken and by the various other circumstances
that made it impossible to obtain previous knowledge of
either the man or the facts. If Mr. Thompson had previ-
ously been interested in the subject and had been an attend-
ant of spiritualistic circles some doubts or possibilities might
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be suggested. But his ignorance of them and the fact that
my experiment with him was his first contact with the subject
are adequate indications of the difficulties of obtaining any
normal knowledge of his experiences. What may be enter-
tained for later sittings when there was some normal knowl-
edge of the case may be left to the critic to determine for him-
self. The case was practically settled before that stage of
the experiments had been reached. Besides no such objec-
tions can hold to the sittings with Mrs. Smead, who was igno-
rant throughout of the man and the facts.

An impartial student will not find enough t& support a de-
structive theory throughout the records. He may find con-
ditions for minimizing the importance of certain incidents,
but if he evades others and the nature of the incidents com-
municated, he will succeed only in diverting his attention
from the real issue.

There are certain features of the records which should
receive special attention on the part of the psychologist and
critic. The careful reader and critic will observe at least
surface indications of guessing and inferences by the psychics
from hints or statements made by the sitter, and the most
of these must be made before admitting the relevance of the
claim for supernormal information. It matters not whether
the process on the part of the psychic is conscious or uncon-
scious; the interest of the phenomenon is the same. In any
case where the medium remains normally conscious the men-
tal process of guessing and interpretation is inevitable on any
theory of the facts. It might be regarded as even legitimate
when the psychic is honest, whatever effect it may have on
the estimation of the evidential character of the content.
But as the reader desires first to be satisfied of the medium’s
honesty it is important to exclude guessing and inference
from the explanation of the statements made. This is a
truism, but is stated here for the purpose of indicating the
point of view from which the present records have been
studied where there are certainly opportunities opened to the
mental processes described. The advantage of a trance is
that it is supposed to shut out the normal habits of guessing
and inference, but while it may exclude normal acts of this
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kind there is no reason for assuming that the subliminal con-
dition is not capable of the same acts, even to a higher de-
gree. Not that we know it to be such but that our ignorance
of its nature and habits prevent us from wholly denying it.
The assumption of Spiritualism generally, on the ground that
the spirit controls the whole content transmitted during a
trance, that the mental habits and powers of the medium do
not affect the matter of the messages, is responsible for the
idea that a trance excludes guessing and inference. But the
really scientific man cannot concede this assumption, tho he
may be wholly ignorant of the nature and limitations of the
subliminal which he invokes to assign limits to the evidential
matter claimed for spirit communication. In estimating the
evidence for the supernormal he must assume, however un-
true in fact it may be, that the same mental processes are
potent in the trance as prevail in the normal state, tho the
content of the normal be excluded. It will require investi-
gation to determine the nature of the trance and the pro-
cesses involved during it. But conceding the largest range
of activity to the subject’s or medium’s mental action we
must determine the evidence by the impossibility of acquir-
ing the information presented by any process of guessing and
inference whether conscious or unconscious. Our concep-
tion of these, of course, must be determined by the standards
of the normal mind. Any other criterion is to admit the
supernormal which is the question.

With this accepted it will not be necessary to lay any
stress on the presence of a trance in the psychic. All that
the trance does is to exclude normal memory of what has
occurred, at least in so far as our evidential problem is con-
cerned. The whole question is what mental processes are
either actually or possibly involved in the results to affect
their character or the belief as to their source.

Two of the psychics were normally conscious during the
experiments. I say normally conscious because they knew
what was said by them and had a normal memory of the
facts. They were probably more or less in a condition in
which the control of the normal consciousness over the or-
ganism was modified, but in so far as consciousness of their
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surroundings and of what was going on is concerned they
were normal. From what we know of the evidence for the
supernormal, whether spiritistic or telepathic, the minds of
such subjects must be influenced by the ordinary interpreta-
tive processes in the receipt of impressions. They cannot
avoid it. If they were entirely passive they might be exempt
from this suspicion or accusation. But no mind in its nor-
mal state can escape the natural influence of association and
inference. It can only suppress its content when it arises
and so disregard it for impressions which it feels are not the
natural product of these mental processes. I have seen
this done at times and to the detriment of the evidence for
the supernormal. But in all cases where the message, tel-
epathic or otherwise, has to pass through an active mind,
conscious or subliminal, the modification of it by the natural
processes of that mind is inevitable, and so we must assume
this as prior to all questions of either honesty or dishonesty.
The first experiments in each case excluded even the pos-
sibility of fraud of the detective type and as there were evi-
dences of the supernormal in these first sittings we need not
reckon with the ordinary objections from that point of view,
and hence have only the question of guessing and inference
from hints of the sitter to consider. I shall not admit that
these processes are facts in the case without evidence. It
would be a mere opinion on my part and it will be a mere
opinion on the part of the reader that they are factors in the
results. There can be no doubt that there are situations
where these processes are open to suspicion of their presence,
but the assumption that they are facts must be proved. In-
deed, I think that a careful examination of the facts will
show that they are not important factors in any instance and
perhaps not present at all in any sense that would throw sus-
picion on the honesty of the medium. I know the personali-
ties well enough to say that I am confident that no illegiti-
mate guessing or inferences were active in the phenomena,
no matter what the appearance ot them is. But I shall not
present that opinion as worth anything and shall not estimate
the material presented on any other ground than the impos-
sibility that certain incidents could be explained in that way.
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I may therefore weigh the facts without prejudice to their
value, after conceding, provisionally at least, that guessing
and inference may be possibly applied to certain situations.

I should state here that I have altered the real names of
all the psychics with whom I experimented. Three of them
expressed the desire that their names should not be given
publicity, and nothing was said to the other two about the
matter. Various reasons, however, make it best to withhold
their identity, and the reader may understand that none of
the names are the real ones. Mrs. Chenoweth was called
Mrs. Smith in the papers published in the Journal of 1907
(Vol. I, p. 133).

In the first sitting with Mrs. Rathbun it is evident that
guessing and inference are not prevalent and perhaps not
accusable at all. It may be possible to suspect that this was
the process in the medium’s question whether there were
four children or not, but the insistence on it after the sitter’s
denial deprives the critic of the right to persist in the sus-
picion, and especially when the sitter himself later discovered
that the medium was correct in the number and also about
one of them dying very young, tho the statement seems to
exclude the same fact of the other who died young. There
is psychological evidence of a mind alert for the reception of
information, but, while we have to be watchful for its seek-
ing this from the mind of the sitter, the peculiarly confused
character of irrelevant statements rather tends to show that
this alertness is for the interpretation of imperfect and con-
fusing messages from elsewhere. This is especially notice-
able in the allusion to the Adirondacks and to England.
There is no excuse for any mind trying to guess or infer in
that manner. The phenomena are much more like the con-
fusion of a number of persons speaking into a telephone than
a conscious mind guessing and inferring from hints let fall
by the sitter. This is true of the whole sitting, and of course
the limitation of the incidents to perfectly relevant ones, even
when not evidential, to say nothing of those which are evi-
dential, is so much against the actual influence of guessing
and inference in any instance. There is also, for those who
know the persons concerned and the facts involved, the clear
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pertinence of many statements whose value could not be
made clear to the general reader. But they fit in so dis-
tinctly with the personalities involved, especially when we
compare the record with similar records of other sitters in
which the facts are not repeated, that they even approach an
evidential value of high character. But they will not appear
objectively so to the general reader. All that he can under-
stand is the simple statement that there is nothing said in
this sitting which does not have relevance, even when false.
Take the statements about the sitter’s mother. His mother
was living and his grandmother deceased. The psychic
thought the communicator to be his mother. When this was
denied as applying to his mother the medium insists on the
reality of a deceased person and asks if his mother was “not
across the water.” This again was denied, tho his grand-
mother’s ancestry had actually come from across the water.
But when the statement implied by the question was denied
the reference to Austria was again false, but showed persist-
ence in the same idea when the friend possibly meant actually
did speak German. This sort of thing, so near the specific
facts and near enough to suggest what they are, is such good
evidence of the genuineness of the phenomena, even when
not reaching the level of conclusive evidence, that we may
well assign it a high character of interest when associated
with hits that have unquestionably evidential value.

The sitting with Mrs. Salter does not exhibit such clear
evidence of the supernormal, but it does show a mental strug-
gle to get it. 'There is much more irrelevant matter and per-
haps indications of the process which must be described as
guessing. There are curious hits or words which are wholly
unlike guessing, considering the environment in which they
occur, and which, once assuming that the supernormal has
been proved and that it is characterized by this type of asso-
ciation, suggest a casual idea forced through the difficulties
that the supernormal has to encounter in imperfect and un-
developed psychics; for instance, the abrupt allusion to an
operation, in a situation not at all calculated to suggest it,
and also without interest except as associated with the more
direct and complete evidence in another record that the in-
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cident had pertinence (p. 135). There are several hints of
this kind in this record and I need not dwell upon them in
detail. But what I do have to emphasize is the fact that the
record would have no value at all, but for its relation to those
which do present evidential incidents. Only the resemblance
of the incidents to those more clearly expressed and more
fully detailed in other sittings can create any suggestion of
the supernormal in it. The appearance of guessing would
be much greater by itself than in comparison with records
which it manifestly suggests, as containing more confused
and fragmentary hints of the incidents intended than in the
others. It thus throws light, certainly more light upon the
conditions through which the supernormal has to force itself
than records which have better evidence, and it is this fact
that has induced me to lay stress upon a record which, of
itself, would have no scientific importance whatever. But
having its credentials partly protected by its relation to the
others it deserves a place and interest, even tho it does noth-
ing more than illustrate the colored medium through which
transcendental influences have to penetrate.

It should be remarked that neither Mrs. Rathbun nor Mrs.
Salter asked or received any pay for their work. Mrs. Chen-
oweth had to leave her home work and come to New York to
give her sittings and hence received pay for her sittings.

In the first sitting with Mrs. Chenoweth there is an im-
portant and critical situation created by the carelessness of
the sitter. It illustrates the dangers of trusting the evidence
on this subject to amateurs and suggests the worthlessness
of the average report of such phenomena without a verbatim
record of what the sitter says. Early in the sitting, when the
communicator was trying to identify himself by a specific
reference to some article well calculated to do this, namely,
something associated with a key-ring, the sitter, actually in-
terrupting the course of things, asked if it had anything to do
with paint. This was a clear hint to any guessing medium
to suspect that the communicator was an artist. Of course,
the question of the sitter might be a ruse to throw the me-
dium off her guard or it might refer to a common painter,
but as the psychic usually assumes the bona fide character of
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the sitter or has evidence of it in his manner, tho in this case
the medium had not seen him normally, the natural step to
take after such a query was to infer that the communicator
was an artist. Hence the final recognition of this fact loses
its evidential value. The question opens wide possibilities
for guessing and inference, no matter whether we assume
that the medium is conscious or unconscious, and also with-
out assuming that she is in any respect dishonest either con-
sciously or unconsciously. The inevitable limitation as-
signed to the mental state of the psychic, even when assumed
to be en rapport with any transcendental influence, telepathic
or spiritistic, must tend to diminish the value of all general
reference to art and artists. The incidents will have to be
very specific after that to obtain the credit of the supernor-
mal.

It is true Mrs. Chenoweth does not immediately seize
the opportunity to guess that the communicator is an artist.
She pursues the natural course of genuine phenomena and
one would have to attribute to her policy the shrewd fear
that her mental process would be detected if she immediately
spoke of an artist and that is perhaps what the educated and
accustomed fraud would do. But at no time during the sit-
ting does she show the direct influence of this hint to say
distinctly that he is an artist. It is assumed in the nature of
the messages and when these are not specifically opposed to
the possibility of guessing and inference they may be dis-
qualified. I think it will be apparent that the incidents which
are not mentioned are hardly inferential from the hint of Mr.
Thompson, whatever the theory adopted. The most natural
interpretation of many of them would be that they were with
reference to conditions that could not be verified at all, no
matter how true they might be. Only a few of them are
naturally inferrible from the profession intimated by the sit-
ter. Some of them are past guessing and some of them, tho
not evidential, are not amenable to a theory of guessing or
inference. They are pertinent to supernormal processes even
when we have to refuse them value for proving it. But while
this is the fact it need not be urged in apology or defence of
the record. That must be secured in the incidents which no
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intelligent person would suspect as guessing or inference
from the mere idea of art.

Such, for instance, is the reference to a rug, especially
taken with the previous allusions which do not tend to sug-
gest it. Besides there were good hits before Mr. Thompson
let slip his unwary hint, as the notes will show. In addition
are many later facts of a specific character which do not
yield readily to a theory of guessing and inference. The
notes will make this clear enough and I need not to mention
instances.

Another opportunity for guessing was afforded later in
the sitting by Mr. Thompson when he asked for a description
of the trees by the ocean (p. 127). He should have couched
his question in some such terms as a scene which had been in
his mind, and the mere mention of trees would have been a
hit. Fortunately the specific points mentioned by the psy-
chic showed that the mind was trying to do something better
than guessing. But the opportunity was open for it in the
hint which his question gave. If better evidence had not
been present in the case than what followed this suggestion
the phenomena would not have been impressive, and it was
this reason that induced me to experiment until more specific
hits could be obtained which, whatever the explanation, could
not be attributed to such simple sources.

There is one thing, however, in the record of Mrs. Cheno-
weth that the sceptic will be quick to notice. It is the gen-
eral and unevidential character of much of the communica-
tions. He will be tempted strongly to regard it as “ chaff”
and if we were dependent upon this type of fact alone for our
judgment of the case no other verdict would be possible.
Undoubtedly there is here a large admixture of the medium’s
own mind acting on the material which comes to it, and less
in rapport with the transcendental than is necessary to sat-
isfy the rigid standards of science when the question of the
supernormal is concerned. It would require many cases of
this type of phenomena to select after comparison any evi-
dence whatever of outside influences of any kind. But the
trance is not a deep one and there is little to exclude the in-
terpreting functions of the mind from acting on indistinct
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impressions transmitted to it from the outside. This view,
of course, depends for its right to recognition upon the ad-
mission that there is some supernormal material, and that is
afforded by incidents in the case in general, especially in
records which do not receive publication in this record. But
the later sittings furnish some of these without doubt and
we may thus approach the non-evidential matter with an hy-
pothesis for explaining the limitations of the evidential.
Another interesting psychological feature should be re-
marked. The sittings with Mrs. Chenoweth upon which I
have commented were in the lighter trance when the control
was a girl to whom I give the name Starlight to conceal her
identity. To most critical persons Mrs. C. would not seem
to be in a trance at all during this control. Her eyes are
closed, but in every other respect except a childish voice and
certain childish manners she would be thought normal, and
these peculiarities would be regarded as simulated. It is
apparent that the auditory sense is as active as normally, since
ordinary sounds are readily perceived, and in fact, there
seems to be a hyperaesthesic condition of this sense. Ap-
parently also the sense of touch is ordinarily active, so that
only vision seems unable to respond to natural and normal
stimuli. But the evidence of a genuine trance is the amnesia
after the sitting. There is no memory of anything that has
occurred. The tran¢e shows a subliminal memory of the nor-
mal life, but the normal consciousness shows no memory of
the trance phenomena. This I carefully tested in various ways.
It will be noticed that the records of this trance do not
show any distinct consciousness of my object in having the
experiment. The communicator does not seem to under-
stand that it is his personal identity that I am seeking. He
seems to approach the matter as an occasion which gives him
or others the opportunity simply to say what they desire,
whether it be advice and general conversation or incidents
which casually indicate their identity. Often in the gener-
ally non-evidential matter is a word or a phrase or hint of an
incident that proves identity. But there seems to be no lim-
itation or effort to give limitation to the messages so that
they would show a conscious desire to prove the communi-
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cator’s identity. The same is true to a considerable extent
with the sittings with Mrs. Rathbun, except the first one.

But these characteristics are not marked in the last sit-
tings with Mrs. Chenoweth. About two years ago, some
time after the death of Dr. Hodgson, Mrs. C. showed a
tendency, under the control of a group of which Dr. Hodgson
was apparently one, to do automatic writing. This we have
been developing ever since until it has become an excellent
vehicle for the typical phenomena of that method. The ap-
parent group managing it are Dr. Hodgson, George Pelham,
of the Piper case, and Mr. Myers. It was during their super-
vision of them that the phenomena changed their character.
The mass of communications which the reader would deem
as unnecessary and irrelevant began to be curtailed and the
effort was made to limit them to the matter which would ex-
press the object of communication to a scientific man. There
was the gradual and spontaneous development of a desire to
communicate matter which bore directly upon personal iden-
tity. The communicators were conscious of the problem as
they were when living and when opportunity offered directed
the writing to that end.

When I brought Mr. Thompson to this last series of sit-
tings I expressed my desire to have the identity of a certain
person more distinctly proved. I did not say who it was or
anything about him that would suggest his identity. I had
been wholly unsatisfied with the data of the previous experi-
ments. They had not presented as definite or as large an
amount of evidence as was necessary to enforce conviction on
this point. What I said was, of course, a suggestion to limit
the evidence to identity incidents and the fact that it was
consistently done has no evidential significance, but the
reader will remark that the effort was persistently made to
supply specific incidents to prove the identity of Mr. Gifford.
His name did not come at any time, but as I had learned that
proper names are much more difficult in the case of Mrs. C.
than in that of Mrs. Piper where they are difficult enough, I
did not press for the name. I was content to have a collec-
tive group of incidents that would prove this without having
the name, as in my ““ Experiments on the Identification of
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Personality ” (Proceedings of the S. P. R., Vol. X VI, pp. 537-
623). The appreciation of the situation was clear and the
effort as pertinaceous to gratify my desire. A most inter-
esting incident in it was the spontaneous confession of the
communficator that his object all along in the work on the
other side was to prove his identity, and considering that
three artist judges had identified him without knowing the
facts about the pictures was a circumstance of no mean im-
portance in showing how effective he had been in this inde-
pendently of the specific incidents in this record.

Mrs. Chenoweth often felt, during her subliminal states,
and possibly in her normal state, that she might not be doing
good work, and I had as often to make her feel that there was
no ground for her own dissatisfaction. While the results
contain much more evidence of an influence from her sub-
conscious action than in the case of Mrs. Piper, they were
rich enough in supernormal information to make this in-
trusion of her subliminal action a welcome fact. For that
reason I have included in the detailed record all the “ chaff ”
at the sittings. The truly scientific man will not complain of
this, but will regard it as equally important with the super-
normal facts.

The symbols used in making the detailed record are the
same as in previous reports. For details in this respect I
may refer to Vol. I, p. 5904. But I shall repeat the most im-
portant features of the record so that it may be read intelli-
gently without that reference.

Matter which is not contained in any enclosures is what
was said or written by the medium.

Matter enclosed in parentheses is what was said by the sit-
ter or other person present, as designated.

Matter enclosed in square brackets represents various notes
and comments inserted either at the time or later to explain
the psychologlcal situation not otherwise mtelhglble or the
meaning of various incidents.

Asterisks indicate that certain words or sentences were
not heard or were not legible.

Dots or successive periods indicate that a word or sentence
was not finished, whether by the medium or the sitter.
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Chapter IV.
DETAILED RECORDS.
1. Sitting With Mrs. Rathbun.

New York, January 18th, 1907.

I arranged with Mrs. Rathbun to have a sitting with a
gentleman who was to her an entire stranger and who had
never before seen a medium. He had had some interesting
experiences himself which will be described in his report, and
it was my desire to have this experiment to see if anything
occurred to suggest that his experiences were not purely sec-
ondary personality. I arranged for the sitting over the tele-
phone without giving any names. This was on Wednesday
and it was arranged first for 11 A. M. on Friday, but after-
ward Mrs. Rathbun saw that she had an engagement and
wrote me that she could not keep the appointment, but could
make one for the evening of the same day. I agreed, and
informed the gentleman of the fact. I did not tell him where
Mrs. Rathbun lived, and so went with him myself to take
notes. The following is the result.

The first thing I see is two persons. One is out of the body
and one is in it. You stand like a person upside down. The
condition you bring with you is one of great confusion. The lady
is close to you, like a mother to a child. I can’t say how she ad-
dresses you. Itisin a foreign language, not unlike German. Her
hair is beautiful, parted and drawn on one side, full of sympathy.
Near her is an individual. I do not see him very well. His
features I can’t see clearly, tho’ I see a strong profile. Is there
not an article about you that belongs to him? Anything like a
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watch [I had my wife’s watch on the floor wrapped up in oiled
silk and a paper.—]J. H. H.] [Note 1.]

[The reader should remark or be informed that the first
ten Notes, except what is enclosed in square brackets, are in
the language of Mr. Thompson who was asked to explain the
possible meaning of the statements in the first sitting with
Mrs. Rathbun. The matter in square brackets has been in-
serted by myself in further explanation of the record.]

This man has a splendid nose. It looks like there were papers
around you. I see you stroking a pen. You are misunderstood.
You are surrounded by people and don’t express yourself easily.

The man has a marked nose. Do you know anyone this de-
scribes? .

(I recognize a man, but not the lady.)

There is a mystery about the end of his life. Didn’t he com-
mit suicide? He was calm and gentle. Probably he suffered
financially. He was a born genius, with the tenderest feelings,
but never demonstrative. His profile he wanted to show me.
Something the matter with his tooth. Hands like a woman.
This finger [first left finger, holding her finger up and showing

1. A lady who has spent many years in Germany and is the wife of a
German and speaks the language has been the closest to me in sympathy
and helpful advice and has been my greatest help in bringing me out of
this confusion. While talking to me she often used German words and
expressions. She has beautiful hair, parted, and comes to one side. She
had an uncle Charles, a man of great psychic powers.

[Mr. Thompson’s grandmother, who might be treated as the com-
municator, supposing that we may consider the reference as relevant at
all, was of Scotch ancestry, and hence his interpretation of the possible
allusion to a living friend may be regarded as doubtful, apart from the
conception of it as a chance coincidence. I do not deny the possibility of
the reference to the lady he had in mind. But it is very confused on that
assumption. There is no relevance to Mr. Thompson’s mention of the
name Charles, except as a possible anticipation of the allusion to it in the
first sitting with Mrs. Chenoweth (p. 114). For Mr. Thompson showed
some tendencies at the sittings to catching relevant impressions or inci-
dents whether we charge them to association or not.

The reference to crossing the water has a curious relevance to the
friend Mr. Thompson had in mind when he wrote his note. Whether it
is due to guessing or chance coincidence cannot be determined.]
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that something was the matter about the nail] tapers. He was
fond of painting. [Note 2.]

You have done automatic writing. Had he been a sufferer
from rheumatism? [Note 3.]

Is your mother in the spirit?

(No.)

Is she across the water?

(No.)

Was she Austrian?

(No.)

There is a lady who passed out with consumption. Is your
father in life?

(Idon’t....... )

Wait a moment. Your confusion is with material things.

[Raps were heard apparently some distance behind Mrs. R.]
[Note 1.]

Your mother is not well. Something the matter with her
limbs is there not? Her mental anxiety is not for you. She is
longing for your father. He has been fifteen years absent. Mar-
ried. [Note 5.] Something the matter with this leg [slapping
hand on right thigh.] [Note 4.]

2. 1 can find only one person who answers to the description, the
artist, Robert Swain Gifford, who died January 15, 1905. I was slightly
acquainted with him, he had a very strong profile, his strong nose and
forehead was noticeable from the fact he had a full beard and mustache.
He had rather delicately shaped hands. He was one of our most original
artists. He died suddenly in his prime, with his most important work
unfinished, from angina pectoris or rheumatism of the heart, following a
slight cold. He was a very gentle, lovable man, very modest, a member
of the National Academy and for many years at the head of the art school
of Cooper Union.

[He did not commit suicide: in fact, had no temptations to this. The
allusion is evidently one suggested by the idea of sudden death. He had
a profile photograph, a cut of which was published in the catalogue of his
pictures.]

3. I have made drawings and paintings automatically.

5. My parents have been separated temporarily by business reasons
for about 15 years.

4. My mother has not been well for several years. Her trouble is

an arm. My wife has trouble with the left knee caused by sickness.
[There is nothing in the medium’s statement to indicate that the slap-
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Who do you call Lou? [Note 6.]

(No.)

Were there four children?

(No, two.)

No, has there not been four children. One died very young.
[Note 7.]

Your effort is for science. This man was a beautifully artistic
man. There was something the matter with this finger [fore-
finger.] [Note 8.] He says he ended his own existence.

Who is Edward? [Note 9.]

(I don’t recall.)

Is it any one in Scotland?

(I don’t know.)

How about his fingers and hands? Was that right?

(Yes.)

He was discouraged and left his work unfinished.

(I have in thought an unfinished picture, a beautiful scene in
nature, oak trees by the ocean.)

Has it been missing?

(I want to know where the place is. I think it is a scene he
wanted to paint.)

[Pause.]

ping of the leg referred to the trouble of Mrs. Thompson. The natural
interpretation would be that it referred to Mr. Gifford for whom it seems
not to have been pertinent, so far as has been ascertained. The only cir-
cumstance to suggest the possibility of reference to Mrs. Thompson is
the rapid movement of the medium’s thought and the name Lou, which
might have been a defective reference to Mr. Thompson’s name Louie.
The correct number in the family suggests also the keeping of the refer-
ence within that range.]

6. I have an aunt Lou.

[Mr. Thompson’s own middle name is Louis, and he later recognized
“ Louie ” as possibly referring to him.]

7. There have been four children in my father’s family, one, by first
wife, who died at the age of ten. Three children by the second wife (my
mother), one of whom died very young.

8. Not proven.

9. No Edward known, altho my mother’s family originally came
from Scotland.

[Mr. Gifford died with much unfinished work. This seems to have
been indicated a little earlier in the sitting also.]
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Not in the Adirondacks. I hear, “ Mountains.” I go to Eng-
land. The trees are not there. I see foliage of American autumn.
One tree is fallen over.

(Yes.)

Covered with leaves. Trees are down. One is broken. It is
a knotty sort of tree.

(Yes.) .

Two are standing, one is fallen. Leaves are brown and yel-
low. ~

(What is the color of the sea?)

Bluish rather than green. Looks as if the leaves were blown
into it. A vista looks through brown beautiful tints.

~ (Where?) '

No, I don’t see. Looks as if it took a steamer. It is far, very
far. Mild temperature.

(It is a place where people seldom go.)

Seems so. There never was and never will be another picture
from that. The water looks black now. It is not populated
thickly. The tree was knotty, was it not?

(Yes.)

There was not a green leaf on it.

(No.) [Notes 10 and 11.]

10. The island of , one of the Elizabeth Islands, at the mouth
of Buzzard’s Bay, Massachusetts, corresponds to the description men-
tioned. It is reached by steamer. Is owned by Mr. C of Boston.
One must get a special permit to land. Only a few people on the island.
It is the birth-place of Mr. Gifford and he got his studies of trees on this
island around Tarpaulin Cove. On the south shore of this island he
painted autumn trees almost exclusively and was very fond of old trees
near the ocean. Mr. Gifford was born on this island I am told by his
daughter. Also he left the island at the age of two years and during his
boyhood days retained a strong impression of a group of trees, and when
he again visited the island at the age of ten years he found near his home
the group of trees that made this strong impression on his mind at this
early age. FREDERIC LOUIS THOMPSON.

11. The description of the scene asked for is accurate as far as it
goes and represents what Mr. Thompson had in mind, namely, the hal-
lucination by which he had drawn the sketch in Figure XXIII, and which
is supposedly represented by the group of trees discovered later (Figure
XXVI). The details are not as specific as demonstrative evidence re-
quires, but the number of standing trees, the American autumn and foli-
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[Here Mrs. R. paused and changed to Dr. Hodgson. I placed
a hat band of my father-in-law on the table wrapped first in oiled
silk and then paper, so that it was not seen, and besides it was not
touched.]

That is not yours, not his [referring to sitter]. I get a lady’s
influence here. I see something like braiding. Was it given
you by a living person?

(Yes.)

Did you get this in your own house?

(Yes.)

In a drawer?

(No.)

[Pause.]

(In a box.)

Was it wrapped around here [placing her hands about her
neck and breast]. It has been ripped from something.

(Yes.)

It is like a piece of lining.

(Yes.)

[I then placed my wife’s watch on the table, wrapped as the
other object was.]

This is more like a mineral. This is harder. Does it not
click when it opens. This is a metal. Would it click if it
opened. It has a sort of spring to it. There are not matches in
it. It has a spring.

age, brown and yellow tints, color of the sea—latter not important—and
possibly the fallen tree, really a branch, are all correct characteristics as
the reader may see. The reference to a “ knotty ” tree was good, as all
the oaks of that region are very much gnarled.

The confusion about the Adirondacks and England is interesting. 1
have made the Adirondacks my haunt with my wife and father-in-law,
and Mr. Gifford has been in England. Mrs. R knew probably, or
at least could have known, my experience, but not that of Mr. Gifford.
Evidently the reference to England, which is unimportant, might have
been a method of directing the medium’s mind toward the place and
away from the Adirondacks. The island supposedly referred to is very
thinly populated. There are but two or three families living upon it,-and
all but the man near the lighthouse live at one end of the island and are
in charge of the summer residences of the owner and his relatives who
live in Boston.
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All that was said with reference to these articles might be
treated as pure guessing, tho the hit about the “lining ” may
not have been that. What was said to the gentleman whom
I brought was more relevant. He afterward recognized it
as an accurate description of the artist by whom he seems
obsessed. He had a striking nose and profile, delicate hands,
a mysterious death, but manner of it not known to sitter, was
acquainted with the sitter, and a picture of the sitter’s own
drawing seemed to have something of the reminiscences of
this artist. The record seems to show that the picture was
fairly well described, judging from the answers of the sitter.
The man told me afterward that while Mrs. R. was talking
about where the place was, about which inquiry was made, he
got the impression that it was one of the Elizabeth Islands
which he said could only be reached by a steamer, that the
island was owned by but one man, and so not thickly popu-
lated. He did not know or think of this before, tho he knew
that this artist was born on the island.

The man also told me that the account of his father and
mother was correct.

2. Sitting With Mrs, Salter.

March 28th, 1908, 9 P. M.

Present Mr. F. L. Thompson. J. H. Hyslop taking notes
at first.

I arranged for the present experiment some days ago and
had Mr. Thompson come to the house without any knowl-
edge of the lady he was to meet. He was not introduced
when brought in, but sat down at a table provided. I took
notes. Owing to the slowness with which impressions were
obtained and delivered and the pauses between I was able to
make a perfectly verbatim account.

When we sat down she asked if there was any special line
of work the man expected, and I replied for him that it was
the same as that done for me. I wanted the man to keep
quiet. He did so and uttered nothing except as I mark it in
parentheses. I made the statements or asked the questions
usually until I left the room. After a long pause with her
head resting on her hand and eyes closed she began.
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I seem to get two or three lines [pause]. I get business.
What it is I cannot say.

[At this point she asked for a piece of paper and a pencil.
They were given her, and she began to write automatically. The
first three attempts are illegible. But they seem to have been
the means of helping her to get impressions, as she continued
orally after a pause.]

It seems as if I get you using your hand a great deal [moving
her own hand as if drawing] but you write or draft or sketch a
great deal. All of expression and all—[pause]. [Hand drawing
lines in the air again.] It is awful. One tries to give voice and
can’t. Can’t give utterance. It seems like pent up feelings and
expressions. [Writing again.] Frank [pause]. No, it is Funk.
[Name Funk written.] That is what the word is [pause].
[Hand writing again.] J.C.Crum. J.Crum. [So read by Mrs.
Salter.] [Pause.] [Cf. p. 165.]

[The name written is not Crum, but might be read several
ways. It is not clearly legible.]

I see around you a great many people, especially men. There
are young too. He uses his right hand a great deal.

(What for?)

Writing [pause] gestures [pause] also drafting, sketching. I
can’t see exactly what it is [pause]. It seems that I can’t get
into touch with him. Seems a barrier like a wall which makes it
hard to come into touch with him [pause].

There is a question he wants to know and he has a craving
and a longing to be answered, that is will it ever be, can it be ac-
complished through scientific aid [pause].

(Can what be accomplished?)

I am trying to see. An experience [pause] operation [pause].

(Have you any question to ask?) [Said by Mrs. Salter to sit-
ter. . A paper and pencil was given him and a question was writ-
ten. I watched Mrs. Salter and she threw her head back and
looked at the ceiling. I could not see the question written, tho
as near as the psychic and in a better position than she, as it was
upside down to her and more or less shielded from her view. It
was then folded twice and given to her. She held it a few mo-
ments in her hand without opening it and at no time did she
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attempt to open the paper or look at the question. After the ex-
periment I got the question and inserted it in the notes.]

(From what source do I receive my impressions?) [Not ut-
tered.]

Is it a business question?

(Mr. T. No.) [Pause.]

I can’t get it. I see you—Isn't there somebody experiment-
ing and trying to develop you? I guess I am nervous [pause].

[Then medium places paper to forehead without opening it.
It was an entire sheet of foolscap.] [Pause.]

Now I get it. It is about the spirit world.

(Mr. T. Yes.)

It was about loved ones in the spirit world. The question of
their returning [pause]. There were three [pause] children?

(Mr. T. No.)

I give it as I get it. I get a wife.

(Mr. T. No.)

[Pause.]

I get the initials F. H. K. [Pause.] You are mediumistic
yourself are you not?

(Mr. T. I think so.)

I think that is what they were showing me a while ago.
Doesn’t he write automatically?

[Hesitation on part of Mr. T. and I answered, No.]

[We then ceased the experiment and I resolved to leave the
room so that my presence would not be a disturbing factor. I
gave pencil and paper to Mr. Thompson and he made notes. He
remained quiet and asked no questions and made no statements.
The following were her statements. About half the way through
Mr. Thompson found himself drawing lines automatically and
actually drew a sketch of the picture which represents the most
important of the views painted last summer. He says Mrs.
Salter did not see what he did, and as soon as it was finished; he
turned it over so that she could not see it.]

[Following is what the medium said.]

Returning from the spirit world and communicating they
impress you and guide you in your work, in solving the mystery
of the unknown. They tell me that I see them, that they show
their * * I am guided by their voices—brother—mother—In
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a large building with men, I see you going among them. You
are worried about something, experimenting and investigating
something. You use your hand. Painting, not portraits, pic-
tures. I see the blue and the light tone, shading landscape. I
see a picture partly finshed up in the right hand corner, is also
pale blue and gray in it too, tho gray and purple and the shadow
is the shadow of a rock. In its right it is incomplete. The dark
brown and red are going into the darkest of the brown and
also green down to the surface of the water, and the background
to the left is pale like clouds.

[Here Mr. Thompson began his automatic sketching.]

[The cut represents what Mr. Thompson drew automatically.
The reader will remark its resemblance to Figures XXIII and
XXV.]

The blue and white as if billows and the moon one-half or
two-thirds risen, and then to the right it lights into green and
blue, one part incomplete. They give that through their power
in mental pictures [pause] create [pause]. I also get with this
verse so portrayed that it comes through harmonic coloring or
poetry, descriptive [pause]. A lady of thirty and two children
with them.

[Mr. Thompson said after the sitting that, as he came into the
house, and while this was going on he was thinking of a lady
who is about thirty years of age and has two children.]

If the reader will compare this record with the others he
will observe a few coincidences of some interest. First there
is the correct hit of using the right hand and “ writing, draft-
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ing or sketching a great deal.” He had done drafting when
in his professional work and sketching or painting, as the
reader knows, was his peculiar impulse at the time of this sit-
ting and before.

The second point of interest is the evident description of
a picture. No clear conception of the picture is given, but
the details, tho they might fit many paintings, fit more spe-
cifically the picture which is represented in Figure XXVI and
which Mr. Thompson was moved to sketch automatically.
This fitness, however, is more in the colors represented than
in features that would make it recognizable. There is no
clear indication of the lines involved and it is possible that
such indication of lines as does exist would apply to other
paintings by Mr. Thompson. But the peculiar combination
of scene and color, representing sea, sky, and colors of brown,
gray, purple—probably intended for deep blue—and green
suggest very strongly a general correctness in the statements
of Mrs. Salter.

Mrs. Salter, however, on the date of the following letter,
describes another picture. She had called at my house on
some errand connected with her work and saw in my parlor
a painting of Mr. Thompson representing a tree a little to the
left, and said that what she saw that night was exactly like
this picture except that the tree was at the right. I quote
her letter.

New York, May 25th, 1908.
My dear Dr. Hyslop:

Please to tell your artist friend that I recognized his work
immediately I saw it in your parlor and it is completed exactly
as I saw and described it to him in coloring and detail with the
exception that I had seen it reversed, meaning that the trees were
on the right hand side of the canvas instead of the left. Also I

did not see the “ day moon ” in the little canvas as I had seen and

described.
L. G. SALTER.
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The picture which would answer these statements, except
for the “day moon” and the sea, will be found in Figure X VI
Mrs. Salter had evidently not known or had forgotten that
the sea appeared in her vision at the sitting. The description
more accurately applies to the “ Battle of the Elements,” tho
the details are not sufficiently specific and characteristic to
prove anything. I quote Mrs. Salter’s later statements to
show how dangerous it is to accept as conclusive descriptions
which do not prove, no matter how fitting and suggestive
they may be.

The following incidents have some interest for the super-
normal. Mr. Thompson, as explained by the narrative, had
sent his pictures home by express and as they had not been
delivered when they should have been he became anxious
and went to Boston to find them. Mrs. Thompson’s account
will explain the rest.

My husband, Frederick L. Thompson, became very much
agitated after receiving a letter which said that the box contain-
ing all of the pictures he had painted at Cuttyhunk, “ one of the
Elizabeth Islands,” and the Vineyard had left the address in Bos-
ton, Feb. 11, 1908, and that there was no trace of it there, as it
was over a week since the box had left the Boston address, he
felt that he must go there and try to locate it and went on the
boat via Fall River that night, the 18th of Feb.

He expected to return by the 21st and as he had not written
me or returned by the 23rd, I became very much worried as he
did not seem like himself when he left and it was very unusual
for him to be away and not write to me. I went with a friend to
consult a psychic Mrs. S———, She told me that my husband
was all right and would return soon and that she felt drawn to
the island and that the sea was all red. She also said that the
box would be found and that it was standing in a store house
with a tag torn off that had the address on. I told her I felt that
that was a mistake as I was sure there was no tag on it only writ-
ing or printing on the box itself.
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My husband returned in ten days from the time he left and he
said that he had written one letter but could not remember what
address he put on it; also said that he had seen the sea and it was
all on fire and that he tried to get to “one of the Elizabeth
Islands ” and got as far as Wood’s Hole, but couldn’t get a boat
to take him across the bay.

The box came the first week in March and the trouble had
been that the tag had been torn off that had the address on, just
as the psychic had said. Mr. Thompson told me afterward that
he had decided when in Boston before we left that he had better
put the address on that way and had tacked two large cards on
to the box instead of writing on the box itself as he originally in-
tended.

He told me about the sea and trying to get to “one of the
Elizabeth Islands ” before I told him anything of my visit to the
psychic.

CARRIE E. THOMPSON.

This narrative was confirmed by Mrs. Dr. Miiller, who

was present with Mrs. Thompson when the psychic made her
statements. :

3. Sitting With Mrs. Chenoweth.

The records are given in their chronological order. The
following one is the first of the several experiments had with
Mrs. Chenoweth. The later series came the next year, as
indicated by the dates. But nothing had become public in
the meantime regarding the case. I have explained in the
introductory observations regarding the records who Mrs.
Chenoweth is. I need not repeat more than that she is
known to the public as a psychic of the respectable type and
careful about her relations with the public. She probably
cannot be spoken of as a “ professional ” in any sense save
that she makes her own arrangements for sittings. In mine
I interposed between her and the sitters, so that the experi-
ments might be treated as more or less test ones. In this
first record at least we have no other objection to entertain
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as possible except such as may come from hints and sugges-
tions by the sitter, and as the record is a verbatim one the
reader can determine this factor himself. I had, of course,
tested Mrs. Chenoweth in many other cases and under better
conditions than prevailed with Mr. Thompson at any time of
his experiments. Whatever may be conjectured sceptically
in regard to later sittings will not apply to this one and per-
haps to none until the nature of Mr. Thompson’s phenomena
became known to the public.

Mrs. Chenoweth, under the Starlight control, this name
being substituted for the real name of the control, is in a
light trance. There are several types of her trances which I
do not require here to explain, and remark the one concerned
with the present group of sittings simply to have the reader
understand that it is not deep enough to exclude the opera-
tion of her ordinary mental faculties. Mrs. Chenoweth is
amnesic, as already remarked above, but is at least sublim-
inally aesthesic, as the reader of the record may remark. It
is not necessary to consider the question of a trance in the
case, as it matters not to the contents of the message whether
she is so or not, and so I place no value on the question in-
volved. I only assert that the trance is a light one not ex-
cluding the action of the mind in its normal faculties, tho am-
nesia is evident and the hyperaesthesia present apparently
makes it difficult to determine whether there is supraliminal
anaesthesia or not. It is clear, however, that the appercep-
tive functions are active and the record must be read with
this assumption in mind.

Saturday, March 16, 1907, 10 A. M.
Medium, Mrs. C. Sitters: Dr. Hyslop, Mr. Thompson.
Miss T., stenographer.

[Breathed deep.] Don’t you call him in just yet; you wait a
minute.
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(Hello, Starlight!)

Hello, Dr. Hyslop! You know I like to come and get settled
just a little bit of a minute. That is the way I do at home, don’t
you know—get in, get just adjusted a little bit. I feel better than
I did the other day when I was here. I heard what you said!
What if I told you to go saf [?] O, my medie meant to get a
clean handkerchief, I guess. Is that very much soiled?

(Miss T. No, only mussed up a little.)

O, all right, I guess it will do for the man. [Breathed.]
That’s getting her out wholly, you know, and me in wholly. Do
you put down every blessed word I say? [to Miss T.]

(Miss T. I try to.)

All right. Dr. Hyslop, you can bring him in now.

(Now, Starlight, I will leave the room, and I will come again.)

All right, when will you come back, when I get through?

(All right. Good-bye.)

Good-bye. I wonder if I can have the curtain down a little
bit where the sun shines right in my eyes, you know.

[Curtain was pulled down and stranger was admitted by Dr.
Hyslbp, who thereupon left the room.]

Before I begin to see the spirits I would like—Oh, I didn’t say
hello to you, did I?

(Hello!)

Are you afraid to speak out loud to me? Somehow I like
people just to speak right out, just like they think I am some-
body, don’t you know, it helps me a lot. Before I begin to see
the spirits I like to tell you a little bit about myself, how you
look to me because sometimes when one looks at another spirit
they get a little better light on the conditions and on the people
who try to come to him. Am I going too fast? [Said to sten-
ographer.] The very first influence that I feel is one of honesty,
straight-forwardness and a kind of easy-going exterior, with a
very clean-cut, careful, analytical intellect. And it seems that
the people who just meet you outside have seldom come to an
intelligent understanding of what you are underneath. That re-
mains for the people who get close to your spirit, who somehow
get beyond all these exterior conditions and find what there is
underneath, the meat of you, the real self. Close to you in all
your work are a few friends who do understand and who do come
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into that inner life, but outside is a great world of people that
you are constantly coming in contact with; you just seem to be
a person who is constantly on the move, now over and just like
a shadow passing among them and seldom finding one that [you]
can really touch. [Note 12.]

But outside of that I find some spirits; I know they have been
near you for a long time. They don’t seem to be new, they seem
as though they had been practically guides and influences and
helps in your life. The first is a man, the first one that I see this
morning. He’s tall, rather slim, not very old, but I should think
he had a little gray hair, his eyes are blue and he’s got square
shoulders, and he answers to the name of Charles—that’s the
first name he gives me. And when he ccmes and stands by you
there seems to be a sort of firmness and an effort to make you
feel his presence here. Do you know anyone like that?

He knows you.

(No, I do not recall anyone like that.)

(Oh, yes, doubtless.)

Now I want to see: this man seems to me like a relative more,
not just like somebody out of the earth; I should think he’d
been gone to the spirit quite a while. Did you ever have any-
one like an uncle by that name, who had gone to the spirit?

(I think not.)

Well, you ought to know, yourself, oughtn’t you? What will
I do, just leave him there?

(I think so, yes. I . . if he has any influence over me it is
not apparent.)

It isn’t—he hasn’t got a strong influence over yoiu, though
he’d been gone longer than some of your other friends he’s with.
All right, you just look it up and see if you don’t know, if you
can’t find out. It seems as though he were uncle or cousin—not
like a brother; but he’s very close with you and he’s a sort of a
force to push the others close to you. Immediately—I will go

12. Mr. Thompson is fairly well characterized in these references to
him. He is a calm and leisurely temperament, unexcitable, straightfor-
ward as I have found him, and with a reputation for honesty, very analyt-
ical intellect, and unpretentious, even to the extent of modesty, and his
inner life not easily discovered.
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right along just as though you knew who he was, shall I? [Note
13.]

(Yes, there are others I am more interested in.)

Yes, well I know that by the way he comes. Right along
with him there is a man, much older than he is, not feeble, he
shows his age, but he’s more like a father. There is a sort of
fatherly influence that comes through him to you. He is not
very tall,—medium height,—and has a little quick, sharp, active
way to pick out this and that that he will do. Now it seems that
this—your father is in the spirit world, isn’t he? [Note 14.]

(No.)

~ Isn’t he? Well, do you know who he is?
(Oh yes.)

Well isn’t he very close to you?

(No, not a blood relation.)

Well, he seems to have that fatherly interest, and as I see him
look at you suddenly, as he’s looking down, he looks up to look
you through with this—with that earnestness, and peers right at
you, and he calls you his boy. There is just that little interest in
you, just as though you were a boy. You know you are not
particularly [?] young or old, are you? Wait a minute, now.
Do you know anyone who begins with H in the spirit land? I
mean the first name?

(No, I do not recall anyone.)

Sounds more like Herbert. Do you know anyone like that?

(No, I do not recall anyone by that name.) [Note 15.]

I don’t seem to get along very well, do I Miss? [to stenog-
rapher.]

(But I am anxious to hear about this old ode.)

13. Charles is the name of an uncle of Mr. Thompson’s friend.

14. Immediately after the Charles mentioned it is possible to detect
indications of the presence of Mr. Gifford, but only in the light of what
follows later. Mr. Gifford was of medium height, and as far as Mr. Thomp-
son knew him seemed to be “ quick and active in ways of doing” certain
things. But Mrs. Gifford thinks him calm and leisurely in his usual ways.

15. The interest in Mr. T. expressed here is consistent with the ex-
periences of Mr. T. The H. is evidently intended for the initial of the
name Herbert, which is not that of Mr. Gifford’s Christian name. This
was Robert. It is possible that Herbert is a mistake for Robert. As-
suming it to be this it is an instructive illustration of the way the psy-
chic’s subliminal acts on getting the initial H.
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Oh, are you? I left him, I thought you didn’t care much about
him. The young one, the C. seemed just as though he pushed
him ahead, as though his older experience in the spirit seemed to
help him. This older gentleman puts down his scholarly hand.
It is quite long, the fingers are quite long. You know he seems
to have been a man who used his hand quite a little with writing
and papers—you understand? [Cf. p. 106.]

(Yes.) [Note 16.]

No . . I see him going over all these things, and as I tell
you that he looks at you and seems to realize how real his past
life is and how it is intertwined with the present. You know
there is some work you are doing that he is intensely interested
in. You know, he says: “I have been working as much as I
could to come into closer touch with you on these matters, these
spiritual matters.” And he says: “ The time isn’t far distant
when I shall be able to express myself without a flaw,” you know,
as if he’s expressed before from the spirit, because he says: “In
times past I have been able to say some things; by my effort I
shall be able to express perfectly without a flaw,—so that you
may know exactly where I stand and where you stand.” [Note
17.]

That man is a—wait—it’s the funniest thing the way he holds
his head down so much, as though when he’s thinking its a con-
stant attitude with him; and when he suddenly looks up his eyes
look you right through and through, as if he would read your
very soul. He has a way of putting his hands in his pockets,
walking around the room a dozen times. And now he takes his
hand out of his pocket and puts several things on the table; one
is a key-ring, on it are several things, and with that is a long,
slim, metal thing, no end to it. Do you know anything about
that? It is brassy looking. Do you know anything about that?

16. . Mrs. Gifford says that Mr. Gifford had naturally slender and
long fingers, but that frequent use of them with wet rigging had done
much to remove this characteristic. He was a scholarly and intellectual
man.

17. The statements here are very apt descriptions of the actual ap-
pearance of things in Mr. Thompson's experiences. The reader can re-
mark this by studying the case as a whole, and especially the hallucina-
tions of Mr. Thompson.
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(Has it anything to do with paint?)

No, it is on the ring with the keys, like a key. It is like the
tip of a pen. I think—he takes out this bunch of keys—it is old
and brassy. It is not one of these bright shiny ones. Would
you know anything about that?

(No, but I could find out.) [Note 18.]

Well he likes to tell you some things you don’t know so you
do find. That helps. Immediately he does that there, he puts
his hands to his face, like that [illustrating]. His eyes grew
very tired, and he put them [referring to his hands] there as
though they were just tired—not from writing, but from looking,
as though he had looked steadily at something for a long time.
He says: ‘“Sometimes I had to look away and rest before I
could go on and work.” You know?

(Yes.) [Note 19.]

And he says: “ You know I find that the same old condition
somehow affects me. You know—I am going to get on nicely
with you, I think.

(Yes, you are doing nicely now.)

Well, I am going to try. You know, it seems as though he
did so many, many things, and yet hadn’t finished up his work:
“ Oh dear, if I could only have stayed a little longer and finished
up one more thing I think I could have done better. I suppose
if T had lived to be a hundred it would have been just the same.
One of—Oh, I am going too fast for you now! [Said to sten-
ographer. Paused a moment.]

(Yes, I understand. Now...)

When he went to the spirit it seems as though there is a little
preparation. There isn’t much; it,—what I mean is, as though
people are not prepared for it. He says, “I am, myself. Per-
haps I was. .prepared or...... although I should have had some-

18. Mrs. Gifford reports that Mr. Gifford did hold his head down in
the manner described and was in the habit of putting his hands in his
pockets and walking around his room in the manner described. He
would look at you as indicated, but was direct and straightforward and
was gentle and sympathetic.

But Mrs. G. does not recall anything suggested by the key-ring and
brassy-looking thing.

19. Correct description of his habit. He would tire his eyes in this
manner.
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thing of a2 warning, I had been working very hard,” just as though
he’d been putting all his energies into things, you know. It's
just like a sudden attack in his stomach, and he gone right out.
You know he says, “ It seems as if just at the first I must come
back again, that I couldn’t leave old things all around.” You
know, where he could lay his hands on it.

(Unfinished?) _

Yes, and finished. Yes, there’s quite a good-sized room just
here, say, and so many things all around when they just needed
a little touch from him. It is not just the work that he did, just
with his hands. There are also unsettled money things in con-
nection with his work—so many of those things that it seemed
as though if he could go right back into the place he could have
finished it up. [Note 20.]

Say, there’s one very funny thing,—that man’s very fond of
rugs!

(Yes.)

Well, when he goes into a place he gets right down and looks
at the rugs. Anything in a rug or a hanging appeals to him, you
know. ‘

(Yes.)

Well, there is one old rug he was very fond of ; it was kicked
up awfully, anyone else would have had a different one, but he
liked it.

(Yes. An artist would be.)

I think he was awfully like that: he liked things just because
he got used to them. He says: “ Since I have come over here I
have just revelled in the beautiful tints and colors and all the
beautiful harmonious combination.” [Note 21.]

(Do you think he can impart that to me?)

Yes, I haven’'t any doubt about it. Do you mean can he
impress you to help you do the things that he did? You know,
if you were in another place, so that I felt perfectly free to advise

20. Mr. Gifford died rather suddenly and his work was quite unfin-
ished. He had been working very hard just before his illness.

21. Mr. Gifford was very fond of rugs. He had a special rug in
front of his easel. He was especially fond of this rug. The references
to his revelling in colors is to characteristic facts and habits. He was
very fond of rich colors.
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you—and that would be to sit every day for a little to have that
special influence come over you, because you are psychic, because
you have days [times?] when if only you could only get away
from people and work, you could do anything. And there are
other days when you are so lacadaisical! Well, he says: “ Don’t
you be the least bit alarmed. There are ways that I can come to
you and help you to carry out your life-work. It takes just a
little time, that is all.” Now that man is very fond of flesh tints,
don’t you know, in his colors. It seems as though he did do
good—well—in those things. “ Oh,” he says, “ I always doubted
my capacity.” You know he always sought to do it so much
better than he did.

(That’s true.)

He belittled his power. Are you more anxious to hear from
him than anyone else? All your future life is practically at this
point, it is at a climax; you have come as far as you have, and it
seems as though the whole future had opened up and you have
just to wait for an influx of power. [Note 22.]

Have you ever been across the water?

(No.)

Well, you are going; it is one of your dreams. You think
that after you have accomplished some things you would like to
go over, and you will,—but not yet. He says—he’s very Ameri-
can, you know; he is in his likes—and he says ‘ Just as good
here!” you know, in just that sort of a little way as though it was
all nonsense. But he says in time you will just have to go find
[out] before you believe it. You know this man was not par-
ticularly religious you know. Do you know anything about it?
“ Well, that’s all right, if anybody wants it, but as for me, I don’t

22. Mr. Gifford always felt that he did not realize his ideal. He
knew his powers, but he felt that he did not reach his desired result.

The reference to his love of “ flesh tints ” is especially pertinent. It
seems that Mr. Gifford was more fond of the autumn foliage colors than
anything else and even the few paintings that I have seen of his show
the predominance of the red colors. They certainly predominate in the
earlier paintings of Mr. Thompson.

The description of Mr. Thompson's moods is accurate.
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need it.” He says, “I have come to be more thoughtful about
those things, not devotional but more truly religious. [Note 23.]

You know, since he passed to the spirit there was some honor
done -him—his body, I mean—and seem to . . . No, he
shows me a long thing, a clipping that tells a lot of things about
him. Have you got one? You know “I am at the-head, and
down at the end other things.” He laughs and says: “ Dead men
always get praise that live men yearn for.” [Note 24.]

Do you know, was he a teacher to you?

(Well, he was a teacher, but not to me directly.)

Well, I see him with lots of paper around. He not only does
things but talks things in actual demonstration. He wouldn’t
have a class sit down and have to do things, but talks about them.
He says: “ That is just what I love to do now. I never was
happier than when I was explaining these things.” And he had
a notion that you had to start clear 'way back in babyhood. He
says: “ That’s one of my fads, and I still believe in it.” My! But
he’s emphatic! You know he says it just right out, the first
thing. Well—O, I am going too fast! [said to stenographer].
[Note 25.]

[Miss T.] (Thank you.)

You are welcome. We are getting acquainted, aren’t we?—
Well, he says,—you know I mean as I see him so emphatic and
so expressive, at the same time he’s very open to kindliness, just
the tender heart of a baby inside of him. But, Oh my! Critics
he hasn’t any use for and always says that, too; a man must work
out for his ideals rather than for his critics.

(Yes it was [so].)

“You would like to put your hand in mine and—but if you
do that I will always stay by you, and I will. It isn’t just for a
day or just to come here to prove to you that I live, but it is to

23. Mrs. Gifford states that the account of Mr. Gifford’s religious
attitude as expressed in the record fits him exactly.

24. There was a memorial exhibition given him after his death at the
Century Club. Accounts of his life were printed in the papers and mag-
azines.

25. He was a teacher of art. He taught in “the Cooper Union
schools from October, 1877, to May, 1896.”
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show you that the same power I had here I retain, with added
power, and that I can pass it along.”

Now you know he—there’s another thing about him: he had
just like a very few people that came into his inner life. He had
quantities of people who were outside and admired him. You
know he was an odd stick, when you come right down to it. He
says “ Perhaps it was an eccentric art or genius, but I don’t
think so, I think it was the holding of my own spirit to its task,
to see that it was done.” There’s another—. I like him. He’s
got a beautiful forehead—stands out, you know, like the pictures
of the old patriarchs, had great big foreheads. Well, it’s just like
that. [Note 26.] ,

There’s another thing that he puts out here. His hand’s just
like a woman’s, I don’t think he was much for jewelry or for
finery, but it seems to be he puts his hand in his vest pocket and
pulls out some little thing,—it looks like a ring that he wore only
on occasion. Do you know if he had a small seal ring that he
wore only on occasions?

(I don’t know, but I can determine.) [Note 27.]

All right. Well, you ask him something and perhaps he can
answer you. He’s awful—well, there’s another thing before that.
There is a woman close to him in the spirit and she comes to you.
She’s very prim and slim; she looks like a woman who had very
much to do with his life, almost like one of his household. But
she’s slim, prim, [almost?] inartistic. But she passed out of his
life before—I guess you don’t know about those intimate things,
do you?

(No.) [Note 28.]

26. His biography and the sale of his paintings, as well as the state-
ments of personal friends show the accuracy of the allusion to his outside
friends. It was in his case, so far as I can learn, as in all genius, that in
the holding of himself resolutely to his task he obtained the reputation of
genius. His photograph printed in the short biography and catalogue
shows the pertinence of the allusion to his forehead. He was not eccen-
tric, but normal.

27. He had a woman’s hand, according to Mrs. Gifford, until it was
changed by usage as described in Note 16. He was very fond of jewelry
that showed excellent taste, but only as an artist, and always wore a
medium-sized seal ring.

28. The woman here described is not recognizable by Mrs. Gifford.
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Well, I told you to ask him something.

(Well, I just wanted to know if I should go on with these
feelings that come to me and carry out the work as I feel he
would like to have me.)

You must. You know it feels—seems as though it was im-
posed upon you, urging you on. You are a psychic and some-
times when you get on a car you are just as nervous as you can
be, like a girl. You have nerves|[?].

(Yes.)

But those psychic forces bring power [?] to you to carry on
some work: that work seems to be his work: I don’t think it is
altogether his but you can do some things better than his and
some things not as well. In some things very much better—you
have got good eyes you know, you see very quickly, and he likes
that. That is good. You know he never makes very many rules.
He says you must go ahead and feel [fill?] things out, and that’s
what gives atmosphere to things; you must feel [fill?] them out.

There is another thing that he's very funny about. You
knew him, didn’t you?

(Yes.) . [Note 29.]

Well, when he is sitting in his chair there is a sort of sudden
movement of his toes in his shoes. He wears very soft leather
shoes. Do you know anything about this?

(No.)

Well this seems to be practically a part of him. He wears,—
you know you can see through a soft shoe how toes move, don't
[you]?

(Yes.)

Well, his were like that, almost as expressive as his hands.
Well he’s not particularly fine about his clothes. He likes them
because they are odd not because they are the fashion. He
wears something on his head,—not a cap but a soft felt hat that
turns down to protect his eyes sometimes, like that; and he does
that and says: “I am trying to show myself in these various

29. 1 have not been able to verify Mr. Gifford’s attitude toward rules.
So far as I have been able to ascertain his character and genius this in-
dependence of rules would be a natural accompaniment of his work, tho
we may possibly not be entitled to give the statement here any weight,
owing to its relation to the previous remark about his being a genius.
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things that you may see how real it is to me and how real I
desire to make myself to you. I don’t want you to think of me
as afar off or as having lost my interest, but that I am right here
just as strong or stronger and more personal than I was before
passing into my new existence.” [Note 30.]

And you know it seems that sometimes you Jook about and
think there are so many people painting on the same thing—Oh
well, not from him, you know, but almost the same line. “ Oh,”
you will want to say, “ perhaps I can’t, perhaps I can’t get
ahead.” But he says: ‘ You can go on with it. It will be close
application and study, but you keep close to your wish and I will
guide you and bring you to that place where you will have more
than I had.” He means that you will produce more than he,

though he produced a lot.
' (More beautiful ?)

Not only more beautiful, but you will get more of it, you
know, than he did. Of course I think, from all that we have
been talking about that he made pictures, don’t you know. But
did he ever do other things? Did he have statuary round his
place?

(Yes.)

Well, there’s something I see it—don’t know whether he was
fond of it—there’s small piece of statuary, it seems to me no
bigger than that [measuring with her hand]. It is a Frenchman;
a cockade comes down like this; a man on a horse; looks more
like a Napoleon, I think. Seems as though he had that in his
room. .

(I can determine. I don’t know.) [Note 31.]

30. Mr. Gifford did wear soft leather shoes. He also wore a soft
hat often when sketching, but usually a Derby hat and on special occa-
sions a silk hat. He had all kinds of caps. The statement about his
attitude toward clothes is accurate. He had exquisjte taste and looked,
as artists might do, at them from that point of view and not that of mere
fashion.

31. Mrs. Gifford knows of no statuary about the house except a
bronze head of himself by one of his artist friends. The piece described
she does not recognize, but she says that she does not know what might
have been in his studio in New York. Besides it is possible that some
such piece was in his class room at.Cooper Union. Mr. Thompson saw
in his studio a picture of an Arab on the back of a camel.
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Well, it seems as though all around the room there are quan-
tities of flat things against the wall that you could pull out and
look at. You know some of them are only pencilings and draw-
ings for different things, as though he had mapped out something
to be done and then left it—not on a canvas, but these are papers
and they are pinned on boards all around, quantities of them.
Do you know I see that some of these you ought to have, some
of them ; I just feel as though he would like you to have some of
those. Have you?

(No, but I should like to.) [Note 32.]
~ Well, isn’t there any way that you can get them? Well I will
give you this as a kind of promise, not as though you made any
special effort to do it, but he made an effort to bring some of
them into your hand. Well, he hasn’t got very many minutes.
" He’s got that world that is back here—

(Do you see that I can get into closer touch with him by
coming into the country that he used to work in, or by staying—)

Was that across the water?

(I somehow feel that by going to the places that I could get
into closer touch with his spirit.)

Well, he says it isn’t absolutely necessary. Obviously [?] he
got his expression in those places, but it isn’t necessary. If it
comes right, but he will be with you where you are just as much
as in the other place. But you will get just as much expression
as he got if you got into the country where he was . . . But
his personal spirit will be just as close tqQ you wherever you are,
just as well as it will there. Do you know what I mean?

(Yes.)

Things aren’t settled up just yet so that you can go, but a
little later than this I see you packing your trunk—it is a big
thing [like a trunk]. But you will go away somewhere. Well,
it seems than when I see you there and I see you taking out your
things and going about, it is in an awfully quiet place, you know,
—there is not much going on, it is not much noise and that sort
of thing. Oh, I see, as I go, Oh, hills all around me. And you

Mrs. Gifford, however, remarks that she has an indistinct memory of
some figure that belonged to the German artist Kunzer.

32. Mr. Gifford had many unfinished canvases.
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know, there in that place it just seems as if I see you out-doors
so much. You know, you have got things like lectures that you
can read, from him. You understand?

(Yes.) [Note 33.]

Well, there are some things printed, with—like books with
pictures up there and down here [indicating with her hand] like
Greek and Roman art, you know.

(Yes.) [Note 34.]

Well, you have got some of those and I see you lying out on
the grass and reading some of those things and then working.
You understand?

(Do you think his love of the ocean had something to do with
these things?)

Oh, he loved the ocean! But this place that you go I see hills,
you know, all back here [indicating] and the ocean’s out here,
you know [indicating]. You know, he loves not only the beauty
of it, but the sound of it. You know I can hear it where I am.
And as he would lie down here on this hill on the side he hears
this and sees it and everything about it. It appeals to him so
much. “ Yes, yes, go on; I will be there, I will help you, because
I want someone who can catch the inspiration of these things as
I did, to carry on my work. I don’t want to see it die.”” And you
know he says that with such a little almost pathetic tone in his
voice,—“ I don’t want to see it die.” He doesn’t want the inspir-
ation to die. His work will live; he wants the expression to pass
along from one to another. [Note 35.]

I see you going there. You know you are going to make

33. Tho the first part of this passage may be suggested by what the
sitter asked, the remainder is an accurate description ‘of the places to
which he did go during the summer and fall following. The reference to
“a quiet place” and the “hills all around ” is very accurate, and one not
likely to be made without specific knowledge of Gifford and the places he
haunted on the Elizabeth Islands. The New England coast is very flat
and marshy, but these islands are hilly and picturesque.

34. Mrs. Gifford states that he had a very large collection of things
which contained many illustrations of Greek and Roman art. It is prob-
able that this could be said of many or more artists.

35. The sitter suggested the love of the ocean, which was indeed
very characteristic of Mr. Gifford. There were hills all over the island
which was his favorite haunt.
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quite a long stay. It is the funniest—when all the leaves are red
you will be out there just the same! You will be there then; he
says that’s the loveliest time. I don’t think you will go before
the June time—maybe it’'s May. But you have got lots of things
to do. It will be elegant. There is another thing: I don’t think
he cares so much for fish—that’s funny where there’s water. But
nowandthena . . . hegetsapos . . . [poser?] thrown -
in [drawn?]. [Note 36.]

What is a tarpaulin?

(What is it?)

Yes. Would—well he used the word as though it had some-
thing to do with it. Would he know anything about them? I
think he used to go down to the boats. Well, he says, “ Throw
an old tarpaulin over and sit down to get the misty view—you
know. You understand?

(Yes.)

He says it isn’t all the glancing waves of the sun-kissed water,
but you must have the other, the varying tones of the mist, and
you know it’s just the joy of it. What’s that—well, when you
throw the thing—Oh! he had—did he?—had a thing he put on
that made him look like an old seaman to go out in the water
with.

(Very likely.)

That’s why I see it. It’s just as though he had those things
that he threw on to go out with. Oh, he’s lovely! [Note 37.]

(There is a picture of an old group of trees near the ocean. I
would like to get to it. Can you see it? It is an old—)

Do you think it is one that he is giving you?

36. The reference to the time when Mr. Thompson would be at the
place and the color of the leaves is very characteristic of Mr. Gifford.
He was especially fond of autumn scenes and often painted views of that
kind on this island. Mr. Thompson did not go out until the late summer,
and as his diary shows (p. 58) did not do his painting until the leaves
were turned. As already remarked (Note 22), the allusion to red leaves
and the fall is especially pertinent, as that was the favorite time of year
for Gifford’s work and his paintings show a strong taste for the red and
brown leaves. Cf. p. 55.

37. Mr. Gifford, according to Mrs. Gifford, had oiled skin coats for
the purpose of working in wet weather. The whole account at this point
is perfectly characteristic.
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(I think it is, yes. I feel as though I must go in nature [?]
-toward those trees and paint them.)

1 want to tell you, little boy, I think he’s seen the trees and 1
think he is giving you the picture of it. I don’t—1I think you will
see them too. I don’t know the place, but it looks like that to
me; when you go up here on this hill, as I told you about, and
ocean in front of you it will be to your left, and you will go down
a little decline, almost a gulley, and then up a little bit and a jut
out. That’s just the way it seems. Now you have this so that
you can follow, can’t you? They look like gnarled old trees;
there is one that stands up quite straight, and some roots that
you can see, not dead, only part dead. Some are roots and
gnarled and then the rest—you will see it. They are nice. [Note
38.]

(Beautiful coloring.)

Oh, beautiful! But that’s what you will get if you are right
on the spot. You will get those soft colors, just like his old rug
that he likes very much that has some soft colors. You know.
[Note 39.]

It is funny, I keep seeing this H that comes to me, letter H.
I don’t know—it is—do you know anyone named Henry?

(Yes, Henry is part of his name.)

Part of his? Well, isn’t that funny? Not of this old gentle-
man, but of another. This is a name of someone you know—oh,
didn’t I say that before, a minute ago? '

38. The description of the place at which it is said Mr. Thompson
would find the trees is accurate enough as far as it goes, but would hardly
lead any one to it. Much would depend upon the point of view of the
observer as to whether certain parts would apply. If the.gulley be the
passage through which the stream flows from Vineyard Sound into
Hadley Bay the hill is on the left of the bridge and so also the group of
trees. The best points are the reference to “a jut out,” as the trees stand
on a small promontory, and to the gnarled nature of the trees. There is
a depression at the left as you face east and the ocean is in front, as you
stand on a bridge. It is possible that the reference to a gulley may be to
this and still consist with the general application. The relation of the
“jut out” to this depression is correctly indicated. In fact the whole
passage fits the place in a most remarkable manner. (Cf. p. 84.)

39. Mr. Thompson, who saw the favorite rug at the foot of Mr. Gif-
ford’s easel, says that its color was the same as that of the leaves of this
group of trees when he painted them.
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(Yes.)

Well I thought so. Well, he’s connected with you, isn’t he?
He says, “ H is with me, comes today with me.” It seems as
though they know each other in the spirit and would be glad to
help you, both of them.

(Is this H in the spirit world, or here?)

I think the H is in the body,—you know, there in the body,
you understand >—because it seems as though he knows him.
This old gentleman knows H in the body and together they help
you, as though H can help you, something he does for you. Do
you know if he can?

(Yes, he can if he gets the inspiration.)

" Well, I get that from the old gentleman in the spirit: this H
will help he had come with him; they know each other, and the
combination will help you. He says: “ Don’t be afraid, it will
come almost unsought;” you know, “ certainly unsought, and
almost before you realize it,” there is some little thing that comes
in connection with it. [Note 40.]

Then there is—do you know anyone commences with L, I
think the name is Lucy. It is in the spirit land, this is.

(Yes. Yes I—yes, I do.)

Someone connected with you, isn’t it? He wrote it as though
he was trying to help her to come. She was very weak before
she went into the spirit, a very different passing from his. “1I
was very weak.” She puts her [hand] right on your shoulder.
“1 do want to send just a little message of encouragement to
you: all you need is confidence. That is your want.” You know
you have got it sometimes; you just feel that you can do things.
Is is only when you cannot do, actually do things that it fades
away. You just get kind of out of confidence. But you will do
it, all right. He's got a future, hasn’t he? [to stenographer].

[Miss T.] (He seems to have.) [Note 41.]

40. Mr. Thompson says he had in mind a friend of Mr. Gifford’s by
the name of Henry who, he thought, might help him in his artistic work,
if he were so minded. He is living. Mr. Thompson was a little too
quick in his question and so suggested the correction.

41. Mr. Gifford knew no Lucy except the youngest daughter of an
intimate friend. But Mr. Thompson had a deceased aunt Lucy.

The constant allusion to Mr. Thompson’s want of confidence was
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He really has. It is more like a young man here with just so
much ahead of him and the past is only like little pebbles, step-
ping-stones, and he has an awful lot ahead of him. And there is
another, there is another letter that I see here—W—is that con-
nected with the man himself, W?

(No, not directly, I don’t think.)

I thought it was his name because he writes it. It isn’t your
own, is it?

(No.)

W—it is someone very close to him ; W—it looks like William
[spelling it out] for someone he knows, you know, because he
writes it so plainly. Do you know if he’s got someone near him
in the body by that name?

(No, I don’t know.) [Note 42.]

Hmmm-—do you want to ask him one more thing?

(Well, I—)

Oh, who is this Arthur? Do you know Arthur?

(No, I don’t know whether—)

Arthur [whispered. Pause.] Did you want to ask him some-
thing more now? [Note 43.]

(Well, I don't know, I think that you have answered almost
all of my questions. That was my—I put—my principal desire
was to feel sure that he was—)

Before you started out you just wanted to feel that, somehow,

very pertinent, as the situation and the sporadic character of his inspira-
tions, if I may call them this, were such that a rational man had no spe-
cial right to confidence. Between the difficulty of supporting himself
and the justifiable doubt about relying upon his “inspiration” the lack of
confidence is natural and the existence of it was a constant fact.

42, Mr. Gifford’s father was named William, and so also a brother,
both deceased. Mr. Thompson knows of no William connected with
himself. .

43. The name Arthur is not recognized by either Mrs. Gifford or Mr.
Thompson. We perhaps should remark that this name Arthur came at a
later sitting in the automatic writing and there might have a relevance
(p. 200 and Note 108). But it is hard to suppose that the name here has
any such possibilities, as it is out of keeping with the psychological set-
ting, and this fact throws doubt upon any other meaning than a casual
origin.
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before you threw your life into that channel, that you were on
the right track.

(Yes.)

Well, there isn’t any question about it. It seems to me that
if I could add my testimony to his, that he would bring wonders
[?]. In the spirit land you have an acquaintance with other
people who could bring wonders [?] to you. He would come,
and others he would bring. He opens up all these doors of art
and knowledge to you and . . . to you. oh, I haven’t any
question about it, you are in the right path. One thing that
helps you very much is that you are so sincere about it; and you
are also absolutely non-receptive to influences that don’t bear on
your light, that don’t mean anything to you. You could close
your heart to all those outside things. It is the single-minded-
ness, and that is what he always thought that one should have, a
single-mindedness toward the genius, toward the call, to succeed.
There is another thing I can see: you know, he had two places
where he lived, one where he worked and one where he used to
go sometimes. He used to work like a Trojan, almost as though
he couldn’t eat, and then he would go out and fill up. And then
there was another little place he would go out to, where he had
friends and home surroundings, and it seems as though the place
he loved most was the place where he worked. It seems as
though there is all sorts of stuff. You—do you know about that
room? :

(No.) [Note 44.]

You haven’t been into the room? Well it seems as though it
is filled full of everything—full of china. It is artistic. At the
same time it is full it has got an artistic air about it. You have
seen it outside, haven’t you?

(Yes.) [Note 45.]

Well, it seems as though there is just that little artistic sense
that you get about it, outside. My! He suddenly takes up his

44, Mr. Gifford was a very hard worker. He had two homes, one
in New York and one in Nonquitt. The allusion to the third place to
which he could go, “where he had friends and home surroundings” would
apply to his mother’s home. He 'did like the place most where he
worked.

45. Mr. Gifford was very fond of china. He had a collection of it.
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arms like this [illustrating]. He had a way like that of folding
his arms after he was talking or listening to anybody else. He
folds his arms and says: “ So, my boy, you want to follow in my
footsteps and wear my mantle, and I am proud to give you what-
ever I can of help or inspiration. Be fearless, be true, and listen
to the voice of inspiration which will never lead you astray.
There is nothing so marvelous as the hold these things get on
one, and the joy is in the production, not in what the world says.
Some of the best things I ever did, some of the things I loved the
best, the world passed by. And some of the things that I saw
flaws in and far from the perfect expression which I would have
given, the world praised. The world doesn’t know. We paint
for two masters, our souls and the world.” [Breathed, shivered,
coughed.] He got there, didn’t he, himself?

(Yes, he did.) [Note 46.] )

Yes. There is a big T, you know, well, T that he just drops
down as he went away, and he says any time that you want him
all you have to do is just to go apart by yourself. He would
advise you to take a certain hour, a little while, each day, when
you just draw near to his spirit, as if you withdraw from the
world and just let his spirit come so close to you that it can in-
spire you for the whole day. The morning time is the best, be-
cause that gives you the whole day to work it out in. And you
go forward never fearing that your future is assured so long as
you hold fast to him. [Note 47.]

Is it time for me to go? What time is it?

(11.10.) ,

I kind of think it is, you know. I would talk to him [refer-
ring to Dr. Hyslop] if he cared to come up. Do you feel any
better now?

46. There seems to be no way of verifying the little trait of folding
his arms in the manner described. The spirit of his art, however, seems
to be correctly indicated in the passage, tho it may be the natural char-
acteristic of all successful men who may be devoted to their vocation, and
hence a natural association of the idea that is undoubtedly in the sub-
liminal.

47. T, as will be remarked, is Mr. Thompson’s initial. The advice
given is pertinent and accords with the facts as to the times when Mr.
Thompson feels most disposed to do his work.
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(Yes indeed.)

Thank you very much. I like to take your hand.

(You have made my future so clear that..)

Oh, there is no question about it, and you will see it come out
yourself, because the first step you will take will come a little
later. They make you want to go—these days just set the fire
in you. You will pack the trunk. You don’t know just where
you are going to—haven’t got your place, the house,—have you?

(No.)

Well, you will get one, an awful good one; not stylish, I don't
mean, but kind of homey and, Oh perhaps it is a little later than
this—April, May, I don’t think it is April, perhaps the last of
May ; and, oh, when it gets real cool, crispy there, then you will
start for home. [Note 48.]

(Is this the work I have been in the habit of doing?)

Well, it seems almost like a new life, as though you had been
along this line in the way,—as though this is practically a new
start and you will leave other things behind. You have been so
undecided, you have wanted to, you have loved it. A time [?]
in a thousand, but so many things came in, things were pounding
away at you. But your preparation has been all right for it.
But you will do it.

(My preparation has been on such an entirely different line
and different purposes that it seemed as if I were entirely un-
fitted.)

I don’t think so; it is just as though you had been so intent on
the other line, and all at once the crisis came. It seems as though
the call came. It is like divine leading. I don’t know that men
believe in those things very much, but it is absolutely true that
some men are led divinely, and are led out from the work they
think they have picked out, and they are led to go out. Well, I
was just going to say about Dr. Hyslop—you can hear if I whis-
per?—it is just like Dr. Hyslop’s work, led from one thing into
another that’s as good for the world ; so this man is led away from
his, out into the world. Hello, Dr. Hyslop! [as he entered the
room. Stranger said good-bye and shooks hands with the me-

48. Mr. Thompson went in late summer and returned in December,
“cool, crisp ” weather.
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dium.] Good-bye, I am going now; do you want him to go out
of the room first?

(Yes.)

Good-bye, have good courage. [Sitter and Dr. Hyslop went
out. Pause. Left hand over eyes. 10.16 A. M.]

4. Sittings With Mrs. Rathbun.

Mrs. Rathbun does not go into a trance in her sittings.
Occasionally there are moments of trance when amnesia oc-
curs, but her usual work is done when there is no important
distinction between her normal and her psychic state. The
reader must therefore reckon with the normal action of her
mind on the data offered. Mrs. Rathbun did not at this time
know who Mr. Thompson was. The public allusion to his
work had not yet been made. The record will indicate to the
reader whether the pertinent incidents have any relation to
the supernormal.

April 3, 1908, 8 P. M.
Medium, Mrs. Rathbun. Present, Mr. Thompson.

I wonder what we are going to get for you, sir. [Pause.] 1
presume that Professor has explained, so that I shall not have to,
that often I cannot get you just what you want, but, whatever
comes, I will give you. What you have to do is to see whether
it is right or wrong and Miss Allen [reporter] will do the rest.

[Pause. Hands over eyes.]

And I hear someone say “Anna. Don’t keep those books
closed and pushed aside.” Something as though, in the formu-
lating of plans—whether it is educational or what there may be
in connection with it for you, but I see you sort of delving in, as
though you were going through—[Note 49]. It is chemicals?

49. Mr. Thompson does not recognize any person by the name of
Anna, nor does Mrs. Gifford, except an early friend who is living and was
well known to Mr. Gifford. But there is no special reason for mention-
ing her. The reference to books and plans has no relevance in connec-
tion with her name.
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What shall.I call it? It is peculiar. They are books, and it
seems to me not a caldron, but you would have to go from one
part of your profession to some other conditions and I feel as
though it should be opened, whatever it might be, and thoroughly
well tested. [Note 50.]

You have been questioned regarding your honesty, so far as
intuitions, impressions or—some might call them hallucinations,
for you have a very peculiar power. [Note 51.]

From this strange power a lady who has not been out of life
a very great while comes very close to you. Her hands rest on
your shoulders like this: Her going out of the body has stirred
up the household in a general way. I see you as if you were this
way: [Interlacing fingers.] In a confusion, apart from your
material life. The home life seems somewhat broken, but con-
ditions are to change there. [Note 52.]

Oh, I go back in your life—Why, you are not in the navy; not
in the army! Have you worn uniform, may I ask you, sir?

Because I see something like a uniform around you, and there
is some condition where twice you have almost passed out of the
body.

(When I wore uniform?)

Yes. And something like a hurt; blow or something. It

I have a deceased sister by the name of Anha, mentioned in the Piper
Report frequently. But nothing of recognizable relevance is said in con-
nection with the name.

50. Mr. Thompson recognizes no special relevance in the allusion to
chemicals, except that he used them slightly in his jewelry business.
Mrs. Gifford says that Mr. Gifford was very fond of chemistry and
worked over chemicals a great deal in hig photography.

51. It is true that Mr. Thompson’s honesty in this work has been
very greatly questioned. The reference to “intuitions, impressions or
some might call them hallucinations ”” is a center shot and in the light of
what has already been said about the case an interesting hit. Mrs. R,
tho she had seen the man more than a year before did not recognize him,
as I proved at the end of the sitting. Nor did she know after the sitting
of the previous year either who he was or what his experiences had been.

52. Mr. Thompson lost his grandmother about eight years previous
to this, and his own home life has been much confused materially both
by the giving up of his regular business and by his attention to art. The
domestic situation thus produced is accurately indicated.
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seems as though you had been rescued for some very good pur-
pose, tho’ you probably do not see it now, but will, for I see you
coming up out of conditions that are around you to that which
seems to be very much more lofty than what it was. [Note 53.]

Yes, the word “ Question.” I see it right here, like some one
questions what impressions you receive and gwe them and say,
“ Do you believe him?”

Now, I want to say that you are far from insane now. I
know this is a peculiar reading, but I get an impression from
someone ; that they want to say your head is not right because
you tell your people around you that such is so and such is, so
and they look at you kind of as if they think you have not had
the impressions you claim. Well, you have had that sort of im-
pressions, sir and, I see a gentleman with you who went away
from this world not long ago like that [slapping hands together].
Something here and here [indicating side and abdomen], and I
feel them cutting and operating on him. It was a most peculiar
transition, the going out of that man from this life and it has
made great changes in your life. [Note 54.]

You are not idly seeking nor curiously running after the phe-

53. Mr. Thompson writes: “ When I was wearing oil skins, I was
twice nearly blown into the water during a storm while I was painting
sketches of the waves. I finally tied myself to a rock. I was bruised by
being dashed against a rock.”

There is no clear meaning in the reference to uniform, as Mr. Thomp-
son has never been in the army or navy. It is possible that the reference
is to the tarpaulin which was mentioned in the sitting with Mrs. Cheno-
weth (p. 126 and Note 37). It is interesting as associated with the men-
tion of having twice experienced feelings as if dying: for it must be re-
membered that his own diary (p. 60) describes the experience which oc-
curred when he had finished the “ Battle of the Elements” (Figure
XXVTI) which he painted in a storm. There was also, as the note shows,
a storm raging when the incident occurred which he recalls in this connection,
and he used this oiled coat and tarpaulin when painting in it.

54. The reference to his insanity and what others had thought of
him is perfectly pertinent and accurate. It could not be more direct and
clear. As to the death and operation indicated Mr. Thompson writes:
“ During my stay at Cuttyhunk, Mr. Veeder, one of the islanders, died as
the result of an operation on the abdomen. He was buried on the island
and I saw his grave. His death and funeral greatly impressed me.” Mr.
Gifford had no operation.
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nomena of Spiritualism than for the thorough, scientific, practical
decision of being able to tell it to others, whether you imagine it
or others are mistaken. And I see you like this through the
guidance of others. I see a new grave. Now, as you hold your
hand like this, a hand came over your hand and removed a por-
tion of your ring. I don’t know whether your ring is made from
something else or whether there is a stone taken from something
else and put into that ring, but there is an association between
you and another coming with that ring. Now, do you know just
the history of that ring?

(Yes.)

Has it been worn or handled by someone else but yourself ?

(No.)

It has been in some one else’s possessxon I do not see it
come right out of a store.

(No.)

Whether you have gotten it through a gift or by purchase
from another or what, but there has been a story in connection
with that ring. You have gotten it under strange circumstances,
because there are other magnetisms with that ring besides your
own. Whether you purchased it from another I don’t know. It
is yours by honor, but you came by it in a peculiar way because
the influence of that ring showed me a hand on top of it and I
know it was not purchased out of a store.

(That is right.)

Now, did you buy that from someone broken down or—What
was it? It was not from a pawn shop or an auction mart? Itis
a peculiar something. ‘That ring belonged to somebody. Its
value is not so tremendously great. Will you let me touch it?
[Takes ring in hand.] It is this [indicating one part of ring]
more than that [indicating other part]. Whether this you pur-
chase in some other way and add it; had it made into that ring?
But there is some association beyond you in connection with that.
Now, I see that for you.

Now, that noise of “ Tick, tick, tick, tick!” Are you where
there is any printing, may I ask you?

(No.) [Note 55.] '

55. The allusion to Spiritualism has no importance, tho it does
recognize what is true in reference to Mr. Thompson’s attitude and desire.
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It is not printing, but a peculiar noise around your line of
work, whatever it is. I don’t know whether it is opening and
shutting doors or books, or what it is, but there is a disturbance
there. Your material life is kind of broken. It is upset. They
are not yet exactly the plans that are going to remain, if you can
understand it in that way. Conditions seem to be strange for
you. The ideas would look to me as though you wanted the
forces, either material or spiritual, to set you right in some condi-
tions that are around you. One would call it obsession. But,
you know, you have not been able to build. You climb up a
ladder and are down again. For four months you have been
battling with the winds and tides. Now they are going to
change, for there comes the spirit of an elderly lady with dark
eyes, almost like a mother in feeling, and puts her hands on your
head, sir, as though she wants to tell me something about your
head. I don’t know whether you suffer with your head, but she
puts both hands back here and she tries to tell me: You have
not been able to attend to your duties as you used because your
head is searching so. Your friends say you have studied too
much in the occult. It is not hurting you one blessed bit! But,
you have forces builded around you that have unfitted you for
your practical life. I see books closed but I feel that they are
going to open again. You are a long way from having your
brain wrong and this lady tells me that, although you have suf-
fered from your head and have twice been in an accident—Is that
right may I ask you?—I feel as though you nearly went out of
life on two occasions within the last fourteen years, but you are
here to stay. You are not to pass out. You are going to build
the conditions which are being destroyed. They are to be re-
builded by the aid of one a short while out of this life.

I feel you coming from some other city; as though you are

Mr. Thompson had a ring which he himself made for a customer who
preferred another style of mounting and Mr. Thompson kept the ring
himself. The ring had been taken home to show it to some one else. No
others were associated with it. It was not purchased at a store, as in-
dicated by his own manufacture of it. The “ tick, tick, etc.,” probably is
a symbolical way of indicating its manufacture. Mr. Thompson has not
been able to do his work in jewelry because of the impulse to paint pic-
tures.
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coming away from some other city and going to another city.
What is it? The copditions are there; your friends and family
were about you. They would rather you were more practical
than interested in the spiritual. They don’t want you to be so
scientific in the investigations that you would lose the practical
part of your everyday life, but they cannot stop you, because it
is not hallucination or insanity. It is practical common sense,
because they are around you. You are being guided.

(That is true.) [Note 56.]

About your passing out, too, may I ask you: Do you know
what that means,—that you have twice been nearly on the other
side of life?

(I recall one instance.) [Note 57.]

Are your folks worried about you? Do they think you are

56. The allusion to his broken life is a return to the subject men-
tioned above and the reference to “ obsession” in this connection, per-
haps as the cause, is a very pertinent one and describes the condition ex-
actly. The reference to a lady about him is possibly to the same woman
mentioned at his first sitting with this psychic (p. 101) and in that case
would be the grandmother. (Cf. also pp. 121, 163-165 in sitting with Mrs.
Chenoweth.)

Mr. Thompson reports two dangerous accidents within the time in-
dicated, tho I hardly think the allusion can be treated as evidence of the
supernormal. They might have resulted fatally, but the risks were not so
evident as to give point to the statements here. The context rather
shows that it refers to the same incidents mentioned previously and
which apparently referred to his experience when he finished his picture
and the other to his exposure to the waves while painting. That this is
the meaning, however, is not perfectly clear. .

The statement that the conditions of life will be “ rebuilded by the
aid of one a short while out of this life ” is suggestive of the obsessing
spirit apparent in the case and is the first hint of what it was desired to
test more fully.

His family have been greatly opposed to Mr. Thompson’s paying any
attention to his impressions, all except his wife. The whole passage is
wonderfully accurate and recognizes their view of it as hallucination and
insanity.

57. Mr. Thompson recalls two incidents to which the allusion of
nearly passing out would apply. One occurred just after he had finished
his important painting (p. 60). It is possible that this with some un-
recognized incident was referred to in the passage above to which Note
56 refers.
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thinking too much about the occult? One little bit of a lady in
life worries about you and is afraid you won’t be practical. She
wants you to get into your everyday line of work. You do not
neglect your duties, but you read and are interested along these
lines of work and they would much rather you wouldn’t. [Note
58.]

You have peculiar influences. I don’t know whether you
hear the voices, but, as the Psychic Research people would call it,
you have “light.” You have had some very extraordinary ex-
perience. [Note 59.]

Has one of your parents passed over?

(No.)

Are both gone?

(No, both in life.)

Who is the elderly lady? Someone close. Very near to you.
She is your aunt and she was very fond of you as a child. She
is the one that has her hand on your head. She dies suddenly
and she brings to me the influence that I must tell you about,—
this queer experience that you have had. [Note 60.]

And you are not in your mother’s home life and I do not see
father and mother together. I can see mother in one place and
father in another. They are separated or divided. Are you
clinging to the father while you are more with the mother. You
don’t see your father, but you are absolutely in sympathy with
mother and she is with you, but there has been a division. Nine

58. The evident allusion to Mr. Thompson’s wife and her attitude
toward him and the work is perfectly correct. While sympathizing with
him she does wish that he could return to his former work.

59. This reference to voices, as the reader will already have re-
marked, is quite correct and so also the reference to “light” and extraor-
dinary experiences. .

60. Mr. Thompson lost an aunt when he was young, but does not
know whether her death was a sudden one or not.

From what has been said both at the previous sitting and in that of
Mrs. Chenoweth (p. 121) it is more probable that the reference her is to
his grandmother who seems to be represented as his constant attendant.
The allusion to the influence over him, as also apparent in the sittings
with Mrs. Smead (p. 343) suggests that the real meaning is not the aunt, as
this is not the representation in other places, where the identity of the
grandmother is clearer than here.
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years between your father’s and mother’s lives. I see it. And
then a little child comes to you from the other side of life. ‘This
little child passed out quickly from a choking sensation and that
little child is the little guide who is leading you out of these con-
ditions that have surrounded you into that which shows you a
more perfect condition of light.

(That is true.) [Note 61.] )

Now, about that ring: That is the funniest thing! You
keep twisting it and, you know, there is a peculiar sort of a his-
tory about it. I don’t see you go right into a shop and buy that
ring. It seems that it comes to you from another person and
you get it in a peculiar way.

(There is nothing especial about that ring.)

Well, did it come to you through some other? You didn’t
buy it?

(I made it, myself.)

I knew there was something about it! This part you made,
yourself, but the center part you took from something else and
put in there. '

(Yes.)

Didn’t that come out of a portion of a woman’s pin or brooch,
because it came out—There were several stones. I see more than
one; half a dozen stones were together and I see you with a most
peculiar looking something in your eye, as though you were look-
ing at it to see if there were flaws. You made this ring part but
not the jewel part.

(Yes.)

I could feel that. But it is very magnetic. I don’t know if
you particularly like it. You have taken off the one that had a
kind of a seal setting. You have got it yet. I don’t know if it is
in your pocket, but you took it off and put that one on.

(Yes.) [Note 62.]

61. For meaning of this reference to his father and mother compare
Note 5. The same thought was expressed by the same psychic at the
first sitting, tho the number of years was more accurately stated. (Cf.
p. 101.) Mr. and Mrs. Thompson lost a child at its birth.

62. Mr. Thompson writes: “I made the ring from one piece of
gold. I used to wear a seal ring on that finger, but do not have that ring
now.”
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I know it because they tell me. They tell me to tell you that
one of the parents is to-night, oh, very miserable. Is your father
in an Institution?

(No.)

Well, he seems to be disturbed. You don’t bother with him
very much. It is a domestic affair. Your grandmother is here
and says, “ Don’t bother with him, at all; only tell him about
mother ” as if mother and you have been very close, although
there are two others in your family that mother is connected
with. They do not reach out to you like you go out to them.
You almost are alone. You have said it many times that you
are alone. [Note 63.]

You are queer. You have been psychic so long that they call
you “queer.” They will say that of anybody that has these
powers. But,—Do you recall these peculiar scenes and visions
that you get around you? Because, there’s lots of them.

(Yes. That is what I was interested in. That is what I
wanted—)

To know whether you are crazy or whether you really see
these things? There are, really and truly, some very extraordi-
nary happenings that have happened to you within the last ten
months and they are not going to hurt you. [Note 64.]

I see the ocean, too. What is it, may I ask you? I see a
ship. Were you in a shipwreck? There is a peculiar something.
I see the water and the boats go like this [indicating motion of a
boat in rough water].

(I have been on the water.)

Connected with marine? What is the uniform? Was that
when the uniform was worn?

(It was not connected exactly.)

But you have worn uniform in another capacity?

(It was in connection with the ocean, but not aboard a ship.)

Whether Inspector—

[Sitter laughs.]

It was something high for you and there is where you have

63. Mr. Thompson’s father is not in an institution, but he is an in-
valid and doubtless some have thought he should be in a home.

64. The reader will remark the accuracy of the allusion to visions
and what is thought of them by friends.
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made your friends, because there is a large man at your side with
whiskers and he looks at you. I don’t know whether you are
Captain or he is Captain, but I see a person standing by you and
he says he knows. He says, “I have been with him before.” I
would describe him as a stout man who is interested very much
in what you are doing; interesting yourself with another person
for the interest of science, or whatever it may be. [Note 65.]

It is not what you may be able to do financially, but you are
trying to do the very best you can for this.

But I see the ocean and the boat and that man with a beard
just goes this way. You can almost see him, yourself, for he
stands right to your right. He is right with you. Is that right?

(Yes, I have a man in mind.)

Oh, he is anxious to help you!

(Is he in the spirit world?)

Oh, what little, teensie bits of little—What are all those little
bits of fine tools :around you? Are you a chemist, or what are
you interested in? Not knives? They look like little blades of
different sorts, almost like what a dentist would use, but it is
not dentistry. Peculiar little somethings. They pick them up.
They are as fine, almost, as hair and the forces seem—[Note 66.]

Oh! Just as I look at that, that little child comes right again
to you, sir, and puts her hand over yours. A very pretty child.
The child is with you in every thought. [Cf. pp. 60, 140, 143.]

65. All the meaning that could be twisted into the allusion to a boat
and uniform is that Mr. Thompson had to take a boat to the island
whither he went to paint his pictures and wore oiled skin clothes there.
It is evident that there is a change of communicator at this point and the
appearance of Mr. Gifford becomes apparent. He wore a beard and was
slightly stout.

The reference to the ocean and a shipwreck possibly points to some
of the scenes which Mr. Thompson finally found and painted. The allu-
sion is not clear enough to make this certain. The circumstance in favor
of its having some other meaning than pure guessing is the abrupt man-
ner in which the reference to the ocean takes place and the association of
several other incidents with it, such as the uniform and the interest which
the man is said to have in Mr. Thompson, this man being correctly de-
scribed as far as the description goes.

66. A fair description of the tools Mr. Thompson- used in his gold-
smith work.



A Case of Veridical Hallucinations. 143

Now, if there is any question you would like to ask and I can
see it for you, I shall be glad to.

(Yes, I want to ask what the—What was the source of my
inspiration, and—From what source do I get these inspirations
that I speak of?)

Why, direct from the spirit power. They are giving them to
you unbidden. You have not said nor asked for them. You
have tried to run away from them, because you did not want to
appear kind of weird, at all, before people, but they are coming
to you and are given to you for a very great purpose. There is
not any harm to come to you from them. You should, rather,
encourage them. They are only from the high and the good.
“ The little child shall lead you,” I hear a voice, and don’t you try
to evade them. Whatever it is that is coming to you, it is good.
Your people needn’t worry about you.

I see you rigid ; as if your hands were like this: I don’t know
if you have been entranced, but I see you in a condition like that,
as though such perfect rigidity! They have been alarmed. Why,
you have had just that condition! It is not going to hurt you.

(What are the influences that you see around me, except this
lady ; this aunt?)

Why, a man with a turban; a peculiar looking man with a
turban, but I cannot understand his language. I don’t know if he
is Hindu, Greek or what, but somebody stands near you with a
turban and rather a distinguished face; a very splendid nose, high
cheek bones—If the turban were off, the face would look like an
Indian, but—Not an Indian, because the turban—cap—was
something worn in connection with his title, or whatever it is;
but he is a foreigner; maybe, a Hindu. He is very near to you
and he has often been around you. That is one of the guides, I
think, to aid you. [Note 67.]

The little child is stronger; the elderly lady; and, someone I

67. There is no recognizable meaning in the passage regarding the
* Hindu, Greek, or what.”

Mr. Thompson has not exhibited any evidence of rigid trances or
catalepsy. He has shown those unconscious conditions that may be de-
scribed as semi-trance, and has apparently done some of his work in.a
more or less automatic state.
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would call the Captain of your band, is very near you. You
won'’t receive any harm. They will do you good.

(What sort of a person is this “ Captain ” you speak of—with
whiskers?)

There is ever so much tenderness from him. The emanations
are just like, “ Oh, I wouldn’t do you harm!” He has big, laugh-
ing eyes. He is very fond of you because you are intending to .
be thoroughly real, although, at times, you question your inner
self. You don’t know yourself. You say, “I don’t know what
itis.” You say, “ Is it hallucination, inspiration, or am I crazy?”
You are not. Your eyes have beheld the most beautiful visions
that you have been unable to explain. I know that because they
tell me so. [Cf. Note 56.]

Well, I believe that is all I can get for you now, unless there
is something else you would like to ask me about.

Did you put some article around or about you to attract a
spirit to-night?

(No, I think not.)

You did not handle a picture, or anything, to-day, did you?

(Yes.)

There is something about a photograph. I don’t know
whether you intended bringing it, but there is something about
a photograph.

(I think not.)

But you have held it to-day.

(Picture ; not photograph.)

Who went out lately? There is a spirit around you that has
not been buried long.

(Yes.)

And you wanted to know if it was possible that they would
reach you. They are quite close to you, too. Oh, such—It is
just like I told you, here. [Indicating side and abdomen.]
Trouble there.

(Yes.)

I just seem to feel as if I had been cut in pieces. It is a dread-
ful suffering!

But a glorious brain and the going out—before that spirit
went out from the body you knew they were going. You didn’t
want to know it, but you felt it and, since the transition, they
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have been around you a lot and they are trying to say “I am
your inspiration; fear not.” [Pause.]

(Is it a young or an old person?)

I can’t get that now. It is gone from me. [Long breath.]
It is gone like that.

Oh, the child is beautiful! [Long pause.] Well, I believe
that is all I can get for you. [Note 68.] :

[Reporter goes upstairs and Dr. Hyslop and Mr. Rathbun
come down to the room where the sitting was held.]

Oh, Professor, I have seen for this gentleman a picture of a
scene like an ocean and the blue is very wonderfully clear and
the sails are just—Oh, it just seems to me as if the wind was
blowing everywhere. It is so clear to me that I feel as if I want
to see whether it is pastel, oil, water color, or what, but it is a
marine and I feel the inspiration in that picture that you are in-
terested in is more inspiration than from education or study, be-
cause the ideas are given you through the forces that are unseen.
I don’t know whether you know it, but I feel you—how artistic
you are in that work, and I feel that you are good in that from
the spirit. [Note 69.]

(Dr. Hyslop: Has he given himself away any?

No, he sat still.

(Dr. Hyslop: All right.)

Not a bit! I don’t want them to give themselves away. But
I see this so plainly around him that, really, you are wrapped
right up in sails! And the water has been around him all the
evening!

[The confusion of pronouns is occasioned by Mrs. Rathbun’s
addressing these remarks to Dr. Hyslop, the sitter, Mr. Rathbun
and the reporter, alternately.]

68. Confused allusions to the man who died from an operation and
also to the child mentioned above (pp. 60, 140). The reference to the pho-
tograph is equivocal.

69. The allusion here is distinctly to the picture which Mr. Thomp-
son wanted to paint. The reference to the “ wind blowing everywhere”
is especially pertinent, and that the picture was more the result of in-
spiration than of study is quite correct. The picture, however, had al-
ready been painted with other marine scenes representing storms and
wind.
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(She thinks I am a sailor.)

(Dr. Hyslop: I see.)

No! I know you are not a sailor but I could see you all
around the marine. I could see the ships, water and boats.

(Dr. Hyslop: Do you see any person around him?)

Yes, I did describe. But not now. One passed out lately.
You are dead tired to-night, aren’t you, Doctor? * * * Well,
I am glad to have gotten what I did for “ Mr. Smith” and will
leave it to you.

(Dr. Hyslop: Have you ever seen this man before?)

[Mrs. Rathbun looks closely at sitter for about a minute and
then answers:]

Never in my life [pause]—that I know.

(Dr. Hyslop: Sure?)

Quite positive, Doctor. [Looking again attentively.]

(Dr. Hyslop: All right. But—you have.)

Where?

(Dr. Hyslop: Right in this room.)

I have seen so many!

(Dr. Hyslop: All right. Glad you didn’t.)

I couldn’t remember. And I have got—

(Do you remember the group of trees that you described for
me?)

No, I don’t. Was there something in it—the group of trees?

(Dr. Hyslop: Yes, it was very good.) )

Oh, I wish I could tell! And now, to-night, it is water. Is
the gentleman an artist, may I ask? Or, would you rather I did
not ask?

(Dr. Hyslop: No, don’t ask.)

Don’t tell me, then. How long ago were you here before?

(Dr. Hyslop: It was about a year ago.)

Oh! T can’t remember. You see, we have so much to in-
terest us!

April 4, 1908, 8 P. M.
Medium, Mrs. Rathbun. Present, Mr. Thompson.

Now, we hope we are going to get something good for you
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to-night, because you are, really, very good and I want to try it.
[Pause. Medium twists fingers.] I don’t know what I am do-
ing that for!

Oh, what an exquisite cross! Why, do you know—That is so
foreign, probably, to anything that you would understand, but, if
it were an Easter gathering in a Catholic church and the altar
were illuminated, it could not be more distinctly brilliant than
now, and I will tell you—There is a cross there nearly six feet
high, right at your back, and the lighting of that cross seems to
be made with peculiar hands from the spirit. Why, do you
know, there is a religious sort of a fervor comes over that and
then above it is a face and that face is as much like the picture—
not the recent pictures that you see generally distributed, of
Christ, but one—Oh, I wish I could tell the different ones! It is
just very much like as though there were a beard. The hair is
parted and sort of waves, like this, and it is above the cross; not
touching it. [Note 70.]

Whatever this might have to do with you—Then, at the other
sidle—You have seen that Sistine Madonna,—that pretty face?
But over it is gathered, oh, such a drape! But it is so beautiful,
graceful. That is right at your right and now—There was a
hand came above it and that hand of that angelic woman went
this way, over your brow and, as she did this to your brow, she
goes to the base of the brain, the top of your head and I see her
put it in your hand, just as though it were a little bit of brush.
It is so fine!

The hair is like the finest; oh, the finest! Whatever it might
mean. It looks to me on the order of a very refined—Oh, what

70. The allusion to the cross was evidently a symbolical interpreta-
tion of the conditions in which the work of Mr. Thompson has to be done.
The reader will remark the influence of the psychic’s mind upon its con-
tent. This has no relation to Mrs. Smead’s allusion to the cross and
rocks (pp. 362, 365), as the incident Mrs. Smead refers to occurred long
after these sittings. No coincidence is involved.

The allusion to wavy hair seems to have its coincidence with a later
madonna painting. But we may suppose that this characteristic might have
been the result of suggestion on his mind from this message.

The allusion to a brush and painting implies a correct conception of
the man’s art, tho we may suppose that enough had been ascertained at
the previous sitting to suggest it.
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will T call it? Camel’s hair! It is something like that. And I
see now the lighted cross is over you! It is given you by the
higher forces and the meaning of that cross being so exquisitely
beautiful, lighted with the different colors—Oh, it is iridescent;
it is glittering; greens, yellows, blues, reds! I never have seen
anything so beautiful, and I wish you two [sitter and reporter]
could see it. ‘That is a cross for you and it means that, whatever
your material anxieties or crosses might be, they would shrink to
a nothingness while the activity of this angelic guide or inspira-
tion would produce the lights that, by-and-bye, you will see
yourself standing, as it were, and will exclaim, “ Why I carried
that cross when there was not a bit of color or light about it, and
it was so woody!” To-night it is so light and so brilliant!

Then, this beautiful face with this glorious drape over it:
Oh, the most perfect nose; the profile is beautiful. There is an
inspiration from that and that is no one whom you have ever
known. It would look to me like one of the older saints or some-
one religiously beautiful that aids you in something. [Note 71.]

Now, then, you seem—while that picture was being shown
me—and it is being dispersed and removed—you come again to
me as a child. I cannot see you here, a man. I see you as
though you were out, growing; growing out of yourself, as it
were; and now I see you stand like this [arms crossed] and you
have a peculiar coat on. Your coat is not a coat like that. It
would look to me like one with pleats, like a Norfolk jacket, but
it is gray, with little spots of white in it and marks on it, like you
have either washed a pen—wiped something off on it, and I see
the hand of that beautiful spirit come and take that little fine
brush. It is spread out in just that shape,—as if it were wide;
as though they wanted you to do something. [Note 72.]

71. Mr. Thompson records in his diary the vision of a woman and
child (p. 60) and in reply to an inquiry writes of this incident: “About
six months ago I had a vision of a woman holding a child in her arms and
I had a desire to paint it but it was not clear enough for me. But a few
weeks ago the face again appeared to me and this time so clear that I
have been able to paint the face of the woman. I finished the picture on
Saturday, May 16th.” The painting was subsequent to the sitting, as the
reader will remark, and so also the continuance of the vision.

72. Mr. Thompson writes that he wore a coat of this description, a
Norfolk jacket, while sketching last season.
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And this ladder! Why, it is all broken. You have had some
force or power or something suddenly broken [clapping hands to-
gether] like that, as though you cannot get it again, whatever it
may be! And I just want to go that way [clapping hands]. But
the ladder being broken! Being made together again. And I
see one, two, three, four, five, six steps. One week, two weeks,
three weeks—In six weeks, they tell me, from the noon of to-day,
you will have realized and completed something now unfinished,
through inspiration that had left you and will come back, and the
inspiration is that sainted face, and that cross is, I believe, given
as an emblem or symbolical of what shall be for the best. [Note
73.]

This is the queerest reading that I have ever had for anybody.
I wonder if you know anything, at all, about it. Now, will you
tell me if you can see anything in it?

(Yes, that is—that is very true. I have seen the face before.)

Oh! That sainted woman?

(Yes.)

Well, she is beautiful, do you know.

(Yes.)

And I will tell you: Her nose is not unlike your own, the
profile; the hair so wavy. Oh, a sort of an exquisite brown, oh
exquisitely arranged, but it was parted; then drawn and pushed
back, not right plain—Oo00-00-0! Wee-ee-e! Just look, all over
my arms! [Medium draws hand over forearms as if brushing
off something which caused distress.]

First, her hair is parted and drawn like this and pushed back,
like that. I don’t know if you are a Catholic. But if ever a
sainted woman looked into the face of an individual! That
woman is beautiful. She is so perfectly beautiful! And, over
her head this drape fell, and it was not loosely here, like a Quaker
or a Shaker. It was drawn across her breast and the nose and
mouth were so perfect, and she looked over into your face, and
I hear, “ Why, I will complete what seems to be incomplete and

73. The reference to the ladder is evidently to the prophecy, which
was fulfilled in the painting of the face. (Cf. Note 71.) No importance
can be attached to the prediction and its fulfillment, as Mr. Thompson
knew of its having been made.

L



150  Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

master the work; a few more strokes with a newer brush and my
inspiration!”

(That is very true.)

Oh, how beautiful! You know, she would almost make me
cry for her. There is something so sweet about her. [Note 74.]

" But that cross, sir, is the most beautiful thing I ever, in my
life, have seen! It is taller than you; it is mighty in its strength
and height and the lights and just like this: They grow green,
yellow, blue. And there is so much more to come out of this.

Now I see a black looking box. It is not a satchel; it is al-
most shaped like a suit case, but it is not thick like that. It folds
over. It is rather like a music folio, but it is larger than a music
folio would be. It is like—It is about like this. ,

And I see it opened. The face of that angelic woman! She
looks down into it but she doesn’t touch a thing and, from out of
there, I see you drawing something. I don’t know if it is canvas
or what; and it is unfolded, unrolled and placed out like this, and
it would be that you would go that way and this way and there
would come something there without touch of hands, just as
though you would produce something through the aid of that
spirit, and she tries to tell me this. [Note 75.]

But, “ Six weeks from to-day at noon.” I hear it repeated.
The completion and the master stroke and that which will seem
to be through divine inspiration, and she asks—She knows that
- you are not worldly; materially so or slightly so, but she said,
“ Let there be the greatest devotion; holiness, almost, and aspira-
tion at each attempt of your work” and the high, the holy and
the good child will guide you into the right path, for you seem
to wonder “ Where am I driving? What are they doing? Is it
inspiration, or am I deluded? She said, “ You will be lifted out
from the conditions that you are in and firmly set down;” you
will find it not a delusion but a divine inspiration from this spirit.
And I read something in Latin: Just a word there, but I cannot
see it. You have also had that name shown you for this beautiful

74. Mr. Thompson writes that the description of the woman is accurate
as seen in his vision. But he does not give details.

75. Mr. Thompson writes that he has a black paint box that answers
to this description.
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woman. Her hair is most beautiful; it is parted, waved and
pushed up, like that, and then falls carefully here.

(Yes. You can’t see the Latin word?)

No, I cannot read that Latin word. There would seem to be
almost like an “ R.” There is one letter,—I don’t know whether
itis “B” or “R.” I cannot read it, but there is a word written
and it is written underneath the flaps or folds of this head cover-
ing and it would seem to be that she would want it as her identity
and then she would close it up. She says, “ Now, he knows. I
am his inspiration.”

Now, tell me, does that mean anything to you?

(Yes, it is absolutely true.)

Well, that is good.

(And she gave me a Latin word as her name.)

Oh! To yourself, alone? '

(Yes.) [Note 76.]

Oh! Now, isn’t that good! You know, that it is perfectly
beautiful to know, because I know how you feel. You feel, “I
want to know if I am crazy or Mrs. Rathbun is crazy or both,
and, if Mrs. Rathbun cannot see it, then, we are both off, you
know!” I know how you feel, because you are thoroughly sens-
ible in the searching of thest things and you want to have it
right. [Note 77.] )

And that peculiar looking brush, wide at the top and narrow
as if she wanted you to do something with that camel’s hair .
brush. She tells me to tell you that she stayed by you between
2.30 and 3.10 this afternoon and there was something you were

76. The allusion to “ something in Latin” is very interesting. Mr.
Thompson had had an hallucination of what he thought was one word
and was told that it was the name of a woman on “‘the other side.” He
took it to be the woman referred to as helping him in the work, and was
also told, by auditory impression or hallucination, that it was Latin and
that he could not now know who it was. When he mentioned the inci-
dent to me I told him to keep it secret and perhaps it might come out
some time at a sitting. The reader will here remark its pertinency. It
is not a single word, but two Latin words, and in giving me the words Mr.
Thompson had spelled one of them incorrectly, and did not know their
meaning until I told him. (Cf. p. 60.)

77. Mrs. Rathbun gave her maiden name instead of her married
name.
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trying to complete then. You were tired and you had to get
away from it, but you had to get back to your work, whatever it
is. [Note 78.]

I hear him say, “ Don’t leave the books entirely closed! They
must be opened again. It is read, read, read; or, study, study,
study,—but don’t let it be without devotion, the highest aspira-
tions and the kindliest prayer, for good will come, good will
come! We will guide you.”

Now, you know, that hand of that angel came over that pin.
[Indicating a large pin of emerald green in sitter’s scarf.] I
don’t know whether you put that pin in for any reason, or not,
to-night, but you know, there is something, for the hand touched
your pin as though they wanted to say something. It looks blue,
green, it looks like an emerald from here. I don’t know if you
put it on for any purpose, but there is a hand touched it and said,
“ Please tell him.”

Whether you put in another pin and then took it out and re-
placed it with this one or whether they want to tell me that they
have been following you from the hour you put that pin on, for
you had not been wearing it, I don’t know.

Now, is there anything you want to ask them, “ Mr. Smith?”

(Well, I—As you have spoken &f the inspiration of the figure
—Did you say that you saw a child with her?)

Yes.

(And, what does the cross symbolize?)

I think, probably, as they have said, that you Had carried it
when it was not so bright, but now it was being so illuminated,
that whatever trials of life that may interfere with you in your
work and unfoldment would be so light that you would not mind
it, for the brightness of the lights meant something very good.

(I understand that. And now, this work that I am to do in
six weeks: Is that—Do you get any glimpse of that?)

Yes, religiously. Kind of through this divine inspiration. I
don’t know if it is ““ Mother and Child ” that is to be made.

Are you connected with clay or pottery? I see something

78. My inquiry regarding this incident was made too long after the
sitting and hence Mr. Thompson replies that he does not remember
whether he was doing anything at the time as described.
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with a peculiar odor. I don’t know what it is. Strange! But I
feel like “ To-morrow you would commence or had begun their
outlines and it is going to be done something different and, by
tonight, even in the sleep, they are going to bring you thoughts
that are going to complete it and in six weeks it seems completed,
whatever it is, but successfully. [Pause.]

(Then, I am to wait for the inspiration?)

“I will come to you. It began this afternoon between the
hours they said, but you could not grasp it then.” Why? “ They
were filling a sort of caldron for you then. Now, they open it up
and say, ‘“ Now, let the light shine.” Now, I see it this way and
the fumes and the flames seem bright. She says, “ The inspir-
ation came before and will come again.”

(It has been before.)

That is good. And it is coming back to you. You have lost
it very quickly.

(Yes, I have.)

That is good. And it is coming back to you. You have lost
it for awhile.

(Yes, I have.)

Well, now then! You have lost your inspiration, but it is
coming back. [Laughter.]

Isn’t that queer! I just heard her voice say, “ Why, the lost
is found.” It is an answer to your prayer.

Now, I see the cross. You have been sort of prayerful and
religious in your attitude toward the recovery of this lost inspir-
ation and that is what it means. Where you have the highest
aspiration, the inspiration will be beautiful.

(Do you see any connection between this new inspiration and
some—)

Egyptian?

(—other inspiration before that?)

I could see a peculiar—back there, a strange looking, foreign
looking spirit, but they don’t want that. That older one has not
completed with you, but they have gone on and transferred you,
as it were, to another. It is like as though. Oh, perhaps you
had gone on one car and you have traversed that length and you
have gone another direction and that conductor may take you
that way and you will be switched in another direction and that
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older inspiration has gone on and this new one has come to you
and I feel that heavenly, divine face : that is where you will get it
from. I feel forces from her and can see the face.

. (Then, you feel that I have completed the work under the
other inspiration?)

No, but you are sufficiently strong now to begin with the new.
You have been waiting to get it, and you will do.this because that
Latin word means something for you.and you alone.

(Yes. I know what it is.)

Oh!

(You know, last night the reading was not— That is— I
knew that you had something, but it was not tangible enough.)

I didn’t get what you wanted, quite?

(No. And still I could feel what you were feeling, too.)

It was good, but it was not what you wanted?

(No, it was a breaking away from the old influence.)

Oh, and now, tonight, it is stronger?

(Yes, now it is absolutely true.)

That is so good. Well, I am glad you tried it again. [Pause.]
And I believe that is all they will give me for you. And then,
some time again, if you will call again, I shall be very glad to see
what we can do for you.

I think Professor has helped tremendously coming with you
tonight. He looks clear-cut tonight. He looked almost like
crystal. He looked so clean and wholesome and not a bit tired.
He just brought the inspiration with him.

(The first sitting I had with you, you described just what I
came for, absolutely.)

Is that the year ago, when Professor said you came?

(Yes.) '

We were trying to recall you. Mr. Rathbun said he couldn’t
think and I couldn’t recall you and we wound up by agreeing not
to discuss it, because we could not get it.

(You were absolutely perfect. You described the influence
and described the way that the work was going on and the place
where I would do the work and everything, and what became of
it; and I spent the last year in going through the work, and it has
all come out just as you predicted, absolutely.)

Going through it for other people besides yourself. You
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mean, you went through it as the spirits had guided and directed
you?

(Yes. I followed those instructions absolutely and I found
that they were correct in every way and, at the time, I did not
know where I was going.)

I wish you folks could have seen the cross! Oh, the most
exquisite picture of a cross I ever in my life looked at!

(Mr. Rathbun: I wish you could draw, so you could draw
those things.) -

Oh, if I could draw! Oh, have you felt that you would get
the sweetest inspiration by going out under huge trees? Can
you draw much under trees?

(That is where I have been working the last year.)

I just saw you out under trees. Palms were over your head
and I heard a voice say, “ Oh, what he has seen under the palms.”
And he said, “ What you have received under the palms!”

And, do you know, the green influences are all about you;
everywhere, everything is verdant green; this growing condition.

[Mrs. Rathbun attached considerable importance to an im-
pression which had made her, prior to this sitting, put on a neck-
lace of emerald green beads and to put on, for the first time, a
large emerald set in a ring that belonged to Mr. Rathbun; then,
this sitter coming in with a big emerald in his scarf pin and these
green conditions about him.]

5. Sittings With Mrs. Chenoweth.
A. Oral '

April 10, 1908, 10 A. M.
Medium, Mrs. C. Present, Mr. Thompson.

Hello.

(Hello, Starlight.)

I came, all right.

Hello, Miss Allen.

(Reporter: Hello, Starlight.)

Oh, Dr. Hyslop, I liked the lady we had.

(When?)

Yesterday and the day before and the day before that.
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(Good.)

She is beautiful.

(Yes.)

I liked her best the last time she came.

(Yes.)

The spirit was so disturbed, you know. The unusual con-
dition of his going, and all, that it took him a.little bit of time to
get at the thing; to break through. There is always a little un-
easiness over anything of that sort. I don’t know as you know
anything about it, but you will, when you read the records, and
that is what I found. But, as it went on, you know, it was—it
was good. She was good and he was good.

(I understand. She is perfectly satisfied.)

I didn’t mean that the work was so good, but I mean that the
beautiful influence came. I can tell the influence that comes to
me and the opening up of the person, you know, and the thing
that comes makes the life better afterwards.

Say, Dr. Hyslop, you never owned or had around you a
donkey, did you?

(N-n-No. No.)

I see one of those great big—I don’t know whether it is a
donkey. Is there a difference in them,—those long-eared things?

(Yes.)

Some are jackasses and some are donkeys?

(Yes.)

Well, the jackass is biggest?

(I think so.)

Well, this is what that is,—a great, big one and, funny—
When I am looking at you I see it as though it is—I couldn’t tell
whether it was yours or whether it is somebody— It looks
almost like traveling somewhere, you know.

(Yes.)

And having one to use.

(Yes.)

You know, as though it was— In traveling, probably, over
some mountain, or something.

(Yes.)

As though there was one of those used.

(Yes.)
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Isn’t that funny?

(Yes.)

Do you know whether Dr. Hodgson ever used one or not?

(I do not.)

It is funny! I see that there, the first thing, by you, and I
had to speak to you about it. It seems that it came with the
person, you know, but I would think it nearer to you than Dr.
Hodgson; more like some family relations, and I seem to go a
distance with it, rather than right here, but it is a sure-footed, big
eared creature.

(Yes.)

All right. T am ready now. I will try and drop that.

[Dr. Hyslop leaves room at 10:26 and Mr. Thompson enters.]
[Note 79.] '

Funny little influence comes, the first thing, is a child. Itisa
little girl, just came right into the room. Hm! [Pause.] Seemed
to .come with the person. [Pause.] [Note 80.]

You know, the first thing I find when I come—or when I
come into the influence of this person—is a number of spirits. It
doesn’t seem to be like one special person who is striving to get
through a message, as it is a little group of people, and they are
all so intent and as if I would come right out of a very busy,
active life, where an active brain is thinking, thinking, measuring
sort of an influence and as though all these spirits sort of under-
stand that and just seem to come in response to that sort of an
influence; as if they want to make plain and come, well, just like
giving evidence, you know, rather than just giving comfort or
expressing some especial affection.

(Reporter: See, if you can, what they want to express.)

All right. You know, usually, they do have an article and
that is why— [Accounting for previous hesitation.]

(Reporter: Yes.)

[Pause.] Whoever this person is, the life about him— It

79. There is no recognizable meaning in the reference to a donkey,
unless it be to one used by Mrs. Hyslop, before we were married, when
on a trip in the west. I do not know whether Dr. Hodgson used one or
not. It is possible that he did so in a trip he had in the west.

80. Compare reference to a little girl with the same references in the
sittings of April 3rd and 4th, with the other psychic (pp. 60, 140, 143).
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is a man, you know, I feel, more than anything—the life about
him is all— It doesn’t seem to be the least bit tangled, but it
seems to have a thousand different threads in it, as though there
is so much weaving in of this and that and the other; all sorts of
threads go in to make up the fabric of the life and that draws all
kinds and sorts of influences into the life, but always through it
all, is such an evident purpose and like one particular influence
that pushes on through everything while all these others are
subservient. They are there; they hold things together, yet,
there is one or two important cables which connect this person
with all the activities that are so close about him. There is in
the spirit two classes of people who come to him. One is the
family relation and the other is an outside, as though, so often,
his spirit had been touched by influendes who know more than he
does; who are interested along the same line of influence and
work that he is and who frequently give him a bit of a touch from
the other side to open up the life, as they go toward new fields
and broader expressions. [Note 81.]

I don’t care who the person is, I see the life like a flower that
is half opened and that, as the days go by, these leaves unfold
more and more and constantly, as long as that man lives, there
will be new growing influences about him. He is not the stag-
nant kind or the stationary kind who stays right in one place and
that settles it, but he keeps putting out feelers all around here
and, while he sticks to the main line, there is always some sort of
an influence that is going out to know something more and to do
a little more and to be a little bit broader than the people around
him. [Correct so far as it goes.]

That is what I see. It is an awfully good.sign, isn’t it, Miss
Allen?

(Reporter: I should say so.)

First, there is a man in the spirit. He is— Oh, I should
think he might be fifty-five or sixty years old; perhaps older, but
he doesn’t seem very much older than that. He has got side

81. The distinction between the family and an outside influence fits
exactly all that has been said previously in both cases. It would have no
importance but for previous matter, but is interesting as the first hit of
this sitting and a perfect statement of the situation.
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whiskers and they are quite gray and he has got gray hair and
rather thin on the top and he has got a broad, full face and broad
shoulders. I don’t mean that he is fat, in any sense of the word,
but he is strong. Rather a clean cut, gentlemanly-looking per-
son, and his face is more square than it is round, you know; a
strong-looking face. His eyes are just as clear blue as they can
be and he stands right there and puts his hand right on the
shoulder of the man and just seems so anxious to speak to him,
but as though he had not been associated with him in the earth
life, you know. It seems that I do work with him; I am associ-
ated with him and I feel all my influence from the spirit life
weaving around the influence of the person here. That man
wears, when he is— It is funny! He has got two kinds of a
life that he lives,—this one in the spirit: One is a busy, active,
working life, and the other is when he throws that aside and be-
comes sort of a gentleman, you know ; as though he would dress
up; just as he would change his clothing, he changes his thought,
his mode of expression, and walks right out of the busy life into a
different. You know, easier. More—more—not exactly so-
ciety, but into a different atmosphere, and it seems as though he
slips from one to the other so easily, as though he were perfectly
used to it and could do it with such freedom that it is just like
two personalities in the man. Isn’t that funny! [Pause.]
[Note 82.]

Do you know anyone in the spirit named “ Charles?” [Note
83.] :

(Yes.)

Who would be near to you?

(No. That is, he was not near to me in the earth life.)

82. Mr. Gifford was sixty-five years old when lie died. The descrip-
tion fits him in at least some respects. A cut of his face in a recent paper,
April 15th, 1909, at his old home shows features that this account might
represent fairly.

The interesting suggestion of this interpretation is the statement that
the communicator has been with the sitter “as long ago as that” It is
true that the visions and apparitions came while he was occupied with his
work as a jeweler.

83. The mention of the name Charles in this connection is most inter-
esting. The reader will recall that this name came very early in the first
sitting with Mrs. C. (Cf. p. 114.)
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You think he is from the spirit: Is that what you mean?

(Yes, I think so.)

[Pause.] I have to go a little slow. I don’t know why it is,
but it seems as though there is such a— It is not exactly like a
pressure, but it is a power all about you; such a power! If I
should tell you just exactly what I think and what I feel, I
should say that so much of your life has opened up to the spirit;
so much you got to do, as though you are almost, half the time,
in touch with the other life and the forces there, perhaps uncon-
sciously, but it is there and it is a power, and it is moving on
toward a—some great thing that you are going to do—sometime,
you will do. Sometimes you feel it; sometimes it seems as
though it is a far-off thing, but, always, there is a moving toward
it. ‘That is what I feel with you.

You know [Pause.]. Is there anyone connected with that
“ Charles ” begins with “ D.?”

(Not that I know of.)

It would not be his name, would it?

(No.) [Note 84.]

His other name?

(I don't know his other name.)

Oh, you don’t? Let me take your hand a minute, please.

[Sitter puts his right hand on medium’s left.]

S—— Do you know what he looked like?

(Yes.)

Well, didn’t he look like this man I just told you about?

(Yes.)

I thought so. The minute I take your hand I see that man I
first told you, come right along and put his hand over it like that,
and he says, “I am not here for any small matter, but because
there are great things to be done, and I want to do it with you
and help you and I believe we can go on together.” You know,—
You don’t mind how I take you, do you? [Changing hands.]

It seems that here is, altogether, two particular forces about
you; one is your friends, who are trying—or would try, if they

84. Neither Mrs. Gifford nor Mr. Thompson recognize any meaning
in the letter “D.” I have learned of an intimate friend by the name of
D , but he is in no way connected with the Charles evidently in-
tended here.
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had a chance—to express to you, because they are fond of you;
want to come close to you and give you all that a heart would
want; and here is this other great body of people, as if they were
using you practically as an instrument to carry on specific work
and to carry out specific purposes in life, and, among them, is this
“ Mr. Charles.” I will call him that because that will designate
him.

Now, he— He puts down, right on your hand, another letter,
and seems to be another person, and this is “ M,” and he prints it,
just as though it is a great, big printed “ M,” and he says that is
another in his company, you know, as though it is one in his
company who comes to you. [Note 85.]

Now, do you do anything where you sit down? Looks like a
table and as if you sit down and you are looking for something,
but there are things— It is not printing. It seems to be differ-
ent little things, as though it were some— There— Oh, let me
see! They are not boxes but, still, they seem to be different
things that are laid out and that I just sit and examine them and
examine them and sometimes, you know, just like this: As
though I do not touch them, at all, but I would look them up and
down, up and down, over all the way and then I perhaps take
one and then, perhaps, don’t, but keep just looking at them.

(Yes.)

Do you do something like that?

(I used to, yes.)

Well, wasn’t that in a sort of a study that you were interested
in?

(Yes, there was study connected with it.)

Yes. Well, I see this: That man was with you as long ago
as that, you know ; as though he was connected, spiritually, with
you as long ago as that, because I go through these things and
come— I don’t know what they are, but as I said—I have classi-
fied all that, you know.

85. The meaning of “M ” is not recognized by either Mrs. Gifford or
Mr. Thompson. According to the claim made there is no special reason
why they should recognize him, as he is said to be one of the group influ-
encing Mr. Thompson. '
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(Yes.) [Note 86.]

This is you: I have classified all that and I am going on to
other things and from that you come up to other things that are
bigger; where you handle them ; take your fingers.

It comes along, later, where there are books and pictures in the
books and as though the books— They are almost like chart
pictures, you know, as though I look them over and I see the
things and I take them— You are turning leaves over just as
fast as anything and looking at those pictures. You understand?

(Yes.) [Cf. p. 226.]

And it seems that all— Then, I come along to still more
things, and as I— All the time your whole life has been just
like your study,— Up, up, up, up, up! As though, all the time
just growing right along to all these different conditions,—up,
up, up, up, up! And, mercy! If you only knew it— It seems—
I don’t know when I have ever seen anybody that I feel so much
the impulse and the pushing power of the spirit as I see it in you.
Things come to you. You are psychic and the things, as you
work along here— You do not— You are very modest about
it. You would hardly realize that you were, really, doing any-
thing unusual, but, somehow, when you come to size the thing
up, put it together, measure it, why, it is as definite and plain to
you where it would be like Greek to some other people; and all
this preparatory work and all that you have done is just like
steps towards the final expression which comes to you in your
earth life.

You are going to do some big thing! I am not saying that
to make you feel proud, but just to make you appreciate your
own capacity. You are almost too modest, you know. Some-
times the— You measure what you know by what you want to
know instead of by what other people know and that makes you
very modest and almost inappreciative of the real things that you

86. Apparently a reference to Mr. Thompson’s trade as a maker of
jewelry. It is at least recognized as this.

There are a great many statements by the psychic that are remark-
ably true and pertinent, but which no one could appreciate and no evi-
dential character asserted of them unless the reader knew Mr Thompson
and perhaps the psychic herself. This could be brought out only by
comparing these results with those in sittings of other strangers.
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have accomplished. I do not think it is well for people always
to be looking at their ideal. It is always well to have it there
and to use it as a chart, now and then, but to be always looking
at it is, often times, discouraging because the accomplishment
seems so far short of what the ideal really is; and that is your
great trouble. You don’t mind my speaking very plain to you,
do you? '

(No, indeed.)

Well, if I could just give you, from the spirit, the assurance
of what you are and your capacity and how quickly you receive
and how much you already have done, how far you are along the
way, I think it will be one of the blessings that could come to you.

Now, you are very strange with your friends. You have very
few who come right close into your heart. You meet them on
certain planes. They classify, just like your studies. A man
meets you for this, that or the other, and that is all there is to it.
He fills his purpose in that particular place, but, when it comes
to somebody who knows you all through and through,.there have
been less people than you could remember on your fingers who
have come into your inner life to understand you and for you to
even give a thought to understanding them perfectly. You un-
derstand what I mean? [Note 87.]

(Yes.)

Well, that is nothing wrong. It is only that it is so. It is an
unusual personality about you and the spirits understand you.
You are a child spirit and, being a child spirit, it is there that
your understanding and your sympathetic relationships will ex-
tend into your life rather than among the children of men.

Now, there is a woman— Do you want me to go right on,—
just anything I see?

(Yes.)

There is a woman in the spirit— There are two, but there is,
first, an oldish woman that I feel very much interested, because
she seems so anxious to come to you. She is a woman about—
Well, medium height; not very stout; her hair is quite gray but

87. Mr. Thompson states that the description of his relation to his
friends is true.

The reader should compare the passage with the statements in the
first and later sittings with Mrs. Rathbun (pp. 135, 278),
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not white, and it is parted and combed rather plain. She has got
a little way of putting her hands up to it, as though she smoothed
it up every little while, herself, though it is not a bit rough; just
smooth. She is very active. Seems to be a woman who is con-
stantly doing something; more like an influence in a home.
Never outside, but working about in the home. Everything
about her is just as—just as trim and right as it can be, but, oh,
she is so busy! Seems as though her life all the time was spent
in taking care of the garden committed to her keeping.

That woman is close to you and, when I look at her, I see her
eyes are more on the gray than either black or blue and her face
is rather thin and there is just a little tired look, but that seemed
to come before she went to the spirit. It seems that, when that
woman went away, as though everything was in perfect order.
She passed away like one who had always kept the life adjusted,
ready to go any time and, yet, needed so much here! But she is
ill when she goes. You know, I feel all that— Oh! Such a
distress, as though I am so tired I cannot stay any longer and I
just give up, but it is all in orderly fashion. The woman belongs
to you and, as she puts her hand on your shoulder and then puts
another one down under your face, as if she would look it up,
lift it up and look into it, it is such an expression of tenderness
and love that I feel very close to you with her. I don’t know
what she is to you. I only know she is there. Now, isn’t your
mother in the spirit land?

(No.)

Well, do you know who this woman is?

(No, I recall no one in the spirit land like that.)

There is someone. You wait a minute. Let me take your
hand again. [Pause.] You have got a woman in the spirit
land— Oh, I should think she was between sixty and seventy
years old, like this I told you: just that kind. She lives away.
She is awfully near to you. She is a relative. I don’t know— I
couldn’t make such a— You got an aunt that is anything like
that?

(Well, I— T have an aunt in the spirit land, but—)

Would she be like this one?

(In some ways.)
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Was she a very devoted and active woman to the little con-
ditions around her that were committed to her keeping?

(Yes, I think so.)

Well, if I could get her name I suppose it would make it more
real to you, you know. I see her having such a care over you,
as though her interests and influence would be to bring a sort of
a care to you, you know, just like a mother; as though she would
almost constitute herself as a spirit mother to you. I really
thought she was a mother, at first, because she came in that
way. [Note 88.)

Do you know someone named “ Frank?”

(Yes.) [CAf. p. 106.]

That is here in the body?

(Yes.)

It isn’t you, is it?

(No.)

Is it anyone you care about?

(Yes.)

I got to tell you a little about him. It is a man, you know,
but it is a— I am not troubled especially over him, but I feel
first thing, when I go a little nearer to him, I want to kind of
laugh. It seems as though there is— He— There is a good
deal of good humor about him, you know; good kind of happy
influence. He is— I don’t feel the least bit of trouble about
him. I feel more a kind of a taking things as they come and
making the best of them. That is his spirit, you know, and
moving on with a sort of an independent air. He is all right. I
don’t know if you would— I don’t know why I should see about
him, but I feel all right with him. I don’t feel even the sug-
gestion of his passing away or anything like that. It is just that
I find him, do you know, in your influence.

(Yes, I understand.) [Note 89.]

I have given you all I see. I don’t know— Do you know
anyone named “ Louie?” But that is in the spirit.

88. After reading over the record of the sitting Mr. Thompson
thinks this describes his grandmother. At the sitting, as the reader will
remark, he recognized an aunt “ in some ways.”

89. Mr. Thompson says he had in mind an uncle Frank, when the name
was mentioned, but states that the description is not entirely correct.



166  Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

(No, I know no one in the spirit of that name.)

You do?

(No.)

You do not?

(No.)

You know someone here?

(Yes, that is part of their name.)

Well, do they call them “ Louie?”

(Yes.) [Louis is Mr. Thompson’s middle name.]

Hm! Well, now let me tell you. There is a man in the
spirit who speaks that name “ Louie” as though he was inter-
ested in the “ Louie,” you know. It is— I— I don’t know
whether it is a man or a woman that is alive, but I hear— I
think it is a woman, you know. Isn’t “ Louie” a woman?

(No.)

[Long pause.] I think so. Ask me something about him
and I will see if I can get a little closer into his influences.

(Did this “ Louie ” feel the influence?. Feel the woman’s in-
fluence? Perhaps you can—)

You mean, in the earth life?

(I don’t know.)

Does it trouble you? To have him do it?

(No. This influence comes as an inspiration.)

Oh! Well, let me tell you: There is a— There is a man in
the spirit that is close to him, too, you know, and I suppose that
where I got the woman was from the spirit because instantly
when I come to him, I just felt, oh, such a woman—woman in-
fluence.

(Yes.)

And— [Pause.]. I don’t know. You know, something—
You want me to tell you, of course, just exactly the way I see the
thing move on there or you wouldn’t ask me.

(Yes.)

But around “ Louie ” are some changes that are taking place.
He is not settled. I mean, in this—in his—in the atmosphere
about him. I am not speaking of the physical condition so much
as I am of the spiritual and mental state. Itis— There is some-
thing— There is nothing that brings annoyance except the an-
noyance that comes from a bit of friction that is there, you know.
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(Yes.)

He tries sometimes and then it is just as though, sometimes
the thing comes beautifully, you know. He can go close into the
influences and sometimes it seems as though it is— Oo0-00-0!
All you van— You know, just like strain—pressure, that you
just feel that— Well, you don’t know what to do! He doesn’t
know what to do. It brings almost like a pressure on the head
that, in some other people would be a headache; in him it is just
pressure and nervousness. You understand?

(Yes.) [Correct account of his state of mind.] [Mr. Thomp-
son says: “ I feel at times a great impulse to paint, and if I do not
have the opportunity it makes me very nervous.”]

That will wear away. That man—or— He is grown, you
know ; He is a man, all right, but that—that man is going to come
up through some condition there today and move the way, you
know, just as though he moves out of this frictional atmosphere
into a stronger and a better one, where he is able to do more
what he wants to. He is awfully sensitive ; almost too sensitive,
and he needs the man in the spirit to balance the thing, you un-
derstand.

(Yes.)

Well, that will come. You won't have to do anything about
it. He won’t. It just comes. Spirits never come close to a
person that they don’t know what they are about. If they are
trusted and have got anybody who is willing to take their hand
and help them along a bit, they can do what they want, but, if
they are fought or the thing goes wrong, that brings friction.
They are not so bad as they seem, you know. It is only the
friction that brings what seems badness. You understand?

(Yes.)

Well,— Does that “ Louie ” do something with his fingers?
It looks to me as though I see him with a pencil and as though
he is making—it seemed almost like things, you know ; as though
he writes a little today and then he stops; and then he writes a
little more, you know, and then, all at once, he writes more
rapidly, you know, a whole lot, but the first is that—just as
though there is something that he has to do. But it is a pencil
and a paper, you know, that he has got. Do you know anything
about that?
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(Yes, I know it about the pencil and the paper.)

Well, doesn’t he write out things and then kind of think and
think and then write out some more?

(Well, he doesn’t exactly write; No. But, he uses his pencil.)

What is it? Figuring? You needn’t tell me. I see the pencil
and the paper and I see something that is done and I see him.
Oh! [Pause.] As though he sits up and looks around, you
know. His head is not always down here like one who reads
continuously, but he sits up and looks around; then, he goes
down again, with his pencil and his paper, but there is something
else in his hand, too, you know, as though, at times, there is
something in this hand, as though he would kind of— [Making
sweeping, circular motion.] It is almost like a stick, you know.

(Yes.)

You know that he would sort of put down— I don't know
whether it is a measuring stick or what it is, but there is some-
thing in his other hand that he— When he has a pencil and
paper, he uses this, too, sometimes.

(Yes.)

And I see him have that and having these little times of sort
of thinking and figuring things out; then, all at once, he just goes
to work and works real fast, you know.

(Yes.) v

He is very, very sensitive and any little thing— He is sensi-
tive to everything,—people, influences, atmosphere—everything.
He is like a flower, and, yet, he is a man. There is that man in-
fluence about him, but he is almost as -sensitive as a woman
would be, and that is almost too strong an influence, you under-
stand.

(Yes.) )

that is there. And I think that that will come. A strong
man from the spirit land who just brings out of this a more even
and equable—if you understand what I mean—equable influence,
into his life, and he will. He is all right, you know. [Note 90.]

90. This whole series of passages describing “ Louie ” with the pen-
cil and paper is an accurate account of the way Mr. Thompson does his
work, tho thé psychic seems not to have caught either that the “ Louie”
is the sitter or that his work is painting. But his habit of reflecting, ex-
perimenting and working rapidly at times is perfectly accurate. Some of
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Now, you know—There is another thing I see: Funniest
thing! Here is—I have to keep hald of your hand. I guess I
get closer to your spirits by it,—if you don’t mind?

There is a—Right before me is a brown pocket book like a
bill book ; very old, shiny. It is either brown or dark red. Itis
a dark color, but not black. There is a color to it, but it is one of
those smooth, shiny ones and quite old; and, look! It is as long
as that—like a bill book. And I see that open. There is a man
in the spirit who has that book and opens it here before me and,
oh, it has got so many things in it! Little papers, bits of things
—and it must have been used a long time. It seems as though it
is—It has seen service, and you look at it and you would know,
right away, that it was an old, old purse—pocket-book—and out
of that—This man in the spirit pulls a little piece of printed mat-
ter, as if cut from a paper, and that is old, too; you know, looks
like an old, old clipping, but that is in it; in this. Do you know
anything about that old pocket-book?

(No, I do not.)

Have you got one that belonged to anybody?

(No, I have not.)

What would you do with that, Miss Allen?

(Reporter: I would take another line of thought.)

It belongs to somebody who belonged to him, because I see it
there. [Note 91.]

it might be a symbolic attempt on Gifford’s part to identify himself.
Note the stick. Louie is Mr. Thompson’s name; also of a deceased aunt.

Apparently the allusion and manner connected with the stick indi-
cates an attempt to get away from the ideas invoked by the reference to
a pencil (Cf. sitting with Mrs. Salter p. 106.)

91. Mrs. Gifford does not recognize any fitness in the pocket-book
incident. Mr. Gifford, she says, had no special pocket-book, but carried
his change loose in his pocket. He did not believe in pocket-books. Mr.
Thompson does not know what it means.

At an earlier sitting of my own, a pocket-book almost identical with
this one was mentioned and assigned to an uncle of mine and I ascer-
tained that it was correct. The sitting was one of automatic writing and
represented a deeper trance. I have no evidence that this article of my
uncle is meant, but since I have so often seen this kind of confuslon the
facts should be mentioned for what they are worth.

It is possible that the incident refers to Mr. Gifford’s sketch book.
A later reference to it in one of the sittings in which automatic writing
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(Well, I am more interested in the work of this Louis, that
he is to do; just Louie—under this impression.)

Aha! You mean, as a medy?

(Well, the work that will be accomplished by this impres-
sion?) [Pause.] (In describing this “ Louie” you have de-
scribed myself and that is part of my name, so perhaps that will
help you.)

Oh! You are the “ Louie?”

(Yes.)

That is funny! That is funny! I didn’t take it you, at all.
[Long pause.] ‘

Well, I see so much for you. It is not that I see nothing that
makes me so still about it, but I see so much. First place, here’s
so much that has got to be done and is being done and almost as
though it is—Why, you are just as much a medy—and I do not
say it in any but the highest and best sense of mediumship—that,
while your, own brain—you keep growing and expanding and
understanding—At the same time, the spirits are practically liv-
ing a life in you and working things out through you. Not for
a personal satisfaction, at all, but for the world, and you will go
on here for a little bit of awhile longer, practically with no par-
ticular change, you know, as though there is no particular moving
away out of the present conditions but all the time this power
grows, you know ; it seems as though, when I see the pencil and
the paper and the work coming, that the power seems to grow
with you as tho’, first thing you know, something comes here that
is unusual. You would like that you know. It is not because
you want to be so great but because you want to know what can
be accomplished; that accomplishment of that brings you into
new fields, afterward. You cannot stay just as you are now after
this thing is fully expressed. Do you understand what I mean?

(Yes, exactly.)

Well, if you have that—Of course, you are perfectly willing, in
a way, or perfectly free, you know. It is as though when the
thing comes and comes the way it should—which it will—then, I

was the method of communication makes this interpretation more prob-
able. A feature of his sketch book is more definitely alluded to there.
(Cf. p. 208 and Note 120.)
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just see you just cutting loose from everything to do a spirit
work. You understand?

(Yes.) [Note 92.]

And I see that come right along, as though it does not come
just like a flash in the night that means nothing except to light
up a little bit for a moment or a day, but it comes a steady un-
folding and, oh, increasing and more than just this—just this—
just what you have got your mind on now. Thére is additional
work to that, you know ; additional things that come toit. When
that comes, the other things come through, too. That is the way
I see.

Now, this—Do you know the woman who is near you? Isn’t
she a guide and not a relative? I mean, in the spirit?

(I don’t—I don’t know. She is very near to me.)

You don’t know who she is?

(No.)

That is what I mean. She is not—What I mean—She is not
a mother or a sister. It is a guide, you understand.

(Yes.)

Well, that is what I see, because it is nobody like anybody
who had lived within fifteen or twenty years, or anything like
that. It is an old spirit; one who has—who is a guide from the
spirit and who knows how to do these things. Oh, she walks
right along-and puts her hand on your shoulder now, as if she
were just assuring you of her beneficence and her power to bring
out of all the seemingly chaotic conditions the order and the
strength and the power which you need and which you deserve.
Do you ever have a feeling as if you were away out of your body,
above everything, sometimes?

(Yes.)

It is just as if I see you—Funniest thing! Just first above the
tops of trees; then, higher and higher, as if your spirit were just
wending its way out through the great, vast universe that is
above the world, and I would not be afraid. If I were in your
place, I would never have the least fear of anything that is com-
ing. You don’t need to. It is a band of influences about you and

92. Correct account of Mr. Thompson’s mediumistic nature, but in-
. ferrible from his own previous statements and admission.



172  Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

they—they are just going to do all this for you and that is only
the releasing of your spirit. But it is the funniest thing? It is
like going in a balloon; as though you feel almost as though you
were wafted by some power you could not understand, but you
are higher, higher, higher, and you keep your consciousness all
the time. I don’t see you going into trances you know. I don’t
see that sort of thing come to you, but I see you going into a re-
lease while you are still normal and no sort of—of sense in a fear
or a hesitancy, but just floating yourself with confidence into the
arms of the spirit guidés who are close to you and who have
watched you all the way along and have got the specific work for
you to do. That is the thing I see. [Note 93.]

Another thing: You have got a sort of a hearing. It is not
definitely unfolded, yet, but there are times when you can get
strains of music, you know.

(Yes.)

Just as though it floats to you and that is the harmony of it.
Your clairaudience will unfold as the rest does. You seem to go
along as the rest of these things unfold, slowly, little by little, bit
by bit, and just seem to bring you out into the perfected medium-
ship which belongs to you. People don’t seem to understand
you, do they, around you?

(No.)

They seem to think you are peculiar, and so you are,—if you
don’t mind my saying it.

(No.)

You are different. You are peculiar to them just as they are
peculiar to you, and it is one of those—one of the things that
comes with an unusual personality who has got an unusual en-
dowment of any kind, that they always are stamped as being
peculiar and really are, and I would not—I don’t think you have
any feeling about it now. You used to be awfully sensitive about
it, but you have begun to come into the place where you begin to

93. Mr. Thompson describes two occasions when he seemed to be
out of his body. “ On one occasion while sketching I saw a vision of a
city on a mountain side, dazzlingly bright and also at the time I saw the
vision of the woman with the child in her arms. I felt a sensation as if I
were dying.” (Cf. pp. 60, 134, 137.)
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think it does amount to something. You know, at first, you were
afraid. You understand?

(Yes.) [Note 94.]

But I don’t see any need of fear or of hesitancy, but just go on.
I like the power about you and I believe it is good and I believe
it is for your betterment not only, but for everybody, you know,
as though it does something for the world, and some of these
dreams you have had sometimes, about doing great things—you
just throw yourself down sometimes at night, just as though you
were in your bed, and you just lie there with your eyes wide open,
right on your back, looking out and trying to see; trying to think
and feeling, all the time, the spirits and as though you feel—Oh,
such dreams you have, you know, of the things you want to do.
You understand? '

(Yes)

And I see those things. They come not forced, not hurried
but growing, like all God’s plans do. They never come at the
snap of a finger, but they grow, and that is the way your medium-
ship will be. And you will live a long time and do many things
and be glad that you are just exactly what you are. That is what
I see.

(Can you see anything that I am doing—any special thing
that I am doing when you hear this music? Or, can you hear the
music and—)

You mean, what you are doing with your own hands?

(Yes, the especial thing that I do with my hands at the times
when I hear the music.)

Well—Are you making music, too, with your hands, when you
hear it?

(No.)

Well, let me see if I can see.

(Can you describe the place that I am in? An especial place
—a specific place, that I have heard this music and I have always
been doing a specific thing at this time.)

94, The diary shows what Mr. Thompson’s experiences were in
hearing music (pp. 53, 60). There is the same allusion here to the mis-
understanding of his friends. (Cf. pp. 135, 138 and Note 56, equal to cross-
reference.)
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Let me see if I can see it. Is it a big, big place where you are
when you hear it?

(Well—Yes.)

Like a big building?

(No.)

I don't see it.

(Hm.)

I wish I could. But—Wait a minute!

(It is big, but not a building.)

It is outdoors isn’t it?

(Yes.)

Because, all at once, I see clouds and all, you know, and as
though I am standing out and I—I don't see what your hands are
doing, but I see you just looking around, as if you just—It always
comes to you that it must be you are hearing something in the
physical world, you know.

(Yes.)

You just have that little feeling and you look around and you
see no one. There is nothing coming, but, all at once, it dawns
on you. It is like angel voices and there is more than voice, you
know, but there is other music, as though it is some—almost like
a harp, you know; some—It is a stringed instrument, like some-
thing that you could not describe. It is not a piano; it is not a
violin, but something that is like a stringed instrument and, yet,
the tone of voices with it that swells and swells—You know what
I mean.

(Yes.) [Note 95.]

And I know that it is—Whatever you are doing; though, at

95. Mr. Thompson says he does lie abed at night and with eyes open
thinking and feeling as described. It was out of doors that Mr. Thomp-
son heard the music, and the music was more than one kind. But the
descriptive matter about the place was suggested by his own statements.
The kind of music was not.. Mr. Thompson plays the zither a great deal
to get inspiration.

A friend of Mr. Gifford, to whom I was talking about the case, asked
me the question whether Mr. Thompson ever got any indications of music
in his experiences. I remarked that he had, and this friend at once re-
plied that Mr. Gifford was passionately fond of music, especially of the
violin. Cf. pp. 53, 54, 58.
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that time it is not what you are doing that draws out this, but it
is because, just at that particular time, there is an opening up of
your inner hearing that makes it possible for you to catch what is
going on all the time.

(Yes.)

They are not singing or making the music just for you. It is
always there but you are just in that state of harmony or har-
monious vibration that you catch what is going on, you see.

(Yes.)

That is what makes people so far from understanding. They
think that things are done especially for them at times, but it was
there all the time. Grasses are growing, violets blooming; all
the things are moving on and expressing themselves in some way
all the time, but somebody comes along and pulls aside a grass
blade and they see a violet. It is the first time they have seen it.
It was there all the time and if anybody else had pulled aside the
grass blade they would have seen it, too. It was not especially
for the one who pulled aside that grassblade, but it was there.
Like that music that comes to you. It is there and you are get-
ting into harmony with the vibrations and the other life to catch
the thing. It is almost wonderful; almost too wonderful to be
true, you know, when you tell it to anybody else, but it ¢s true.
It is yours. It is your gift and you are at that degree of psychic
sensitiveness that you just break through now and then. Only a
little thin garment covers your consciousness and every little
while the sunlight breaks through that and you catch a glimpse
or hear a sound or get the inspiration.

You know, you are going to write something. I don’t know
whether you know it or not, but there are times when there is
almost like a poetic inspiration that comes to you. Do you un-
derstand what I mean?

(I think so.)

Well, you are going to write some things.

(Reporter: Time, time, time.)

Oh, I knew it! Shall I ask him if he is coming to-morrow?

(Reporter: No questions allowed.)

All right.

(Yes, yes; you have helped me.)

All right. I suppose I have got to go now. Good-bye.



176 Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

(Good-bye.)

[Sitter leaves room.]

That is a nice man.

(Reporter: A wonderfully gifted man.)

Yes. He don’t know how to get things out of me, though.

(Reporter: Perhaps he knows how not to.)

No, I think he wanted to, all right, but he didn’t quite know
how.

[Laughter.]

Good-bye.

(Good-bye, dearie.)

April 11, 1908, 10.15 A. M.
Medium, Mrs. C. Present, Mr. Thompson.

Hello.

(Hello, Starlight.)

Hello, Miss Allen.

(Reporter: Hello, Starlight.)

I will be ready in a minute. We're going home to-day!

(Yes. Glad of it, aren’t you?)

Yes, though I like the work here.

(Good.)

It is—I like it. I like it anywhere, you know; I like to talk
about the spirits and I like to see things for people. You know
how some people like to work out puzzles and that sort of thing?

(Yes.)

That is what I do. If I get a complicated case I like to fish
around and see what I can do with it, you know; get it out.
[Pause.] Al right.

[Dr. Hyslop leaves room.]

You will stop me in season, won’t you?

(Reporter: I will)

[Mr. T enters room.]

Hello!

(Good morning.)

[Pause.] Do you want me to begin just where I left off?

(Whatever comes to you.)

All right. You know, yesterday—Why, you are—Of course,
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I know you are the same person I saw yesterday. Yesterday I
saw so much that seemed to be opening up into your own life, as
though, out of all this expression and proximity of spirits, there
was so much that was coming to the world; so much that will
come, literally, through your own effort and your—the combina-
tion of your power with these people in the spirit.

Close by you this morning I see a woman. She is—I saw one
yesterday, but this is a different one, and I see her fair, rather
young. I should think she was less than twenty-five and very
easy and quiet in her manner. I think she passed out a long time
ago, because, when she comes here, there is just that—that as-
surance that comes from a spirit that has been a long time in a
certain condition and has become accustomed to it and can over-
come the new—the obstacle in the path. This—I want to ask
you: Have you got anybody close to you, like a sister, who has
been gone a long time to the spirit?

(Yes.)

A young woman, I mean?

(Yes.) [Note 96.]

It seems as though from her there is such a desire to give you
the full confidence, not only in your own power, but in the power
of those who are near you and, as I find her coming, it is almost
like an angelic influence; so tender, so true, so expressive, and
all the time with-a clear head that sees definitely the thing to do
and, as she puts her hand down on the table, she says: “ This is
not the first time that I have tried to communicate,” and she does
not refer to that indefinite communication that all spirits try to
have with their own friends, but more like a separate and definite
effort that she had made to send some message to you; and she
puts her hand in the hand of a man, and that man is just as close
to her and to you as he can be, but he hgs been—when he was
here—a very—It is more like a—If I can find the word I want!—
[Pause.] “Curt!” Almost a curt way of speaking; rather
short ; not very much of the effort to be over polite, but just quick,
curt, short-speaking and it is a short man, too. He is probably
medium height and he is very unconcerned about the effect of
what he says on people, but he is so anxious to come to you and

96. Mr. Thompson recognizes her as his deceased half-sister.
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is helped by her. You know—Do you know a man like that,
who would be near her and near you, too, in the spirit?

(Yes, I think so.) .

Well, that man is—It seems as though, with his effort to get
to you—You know, he did not know much about this before he
went away. It is an entirely new thing to him and he would be
‘one who would just—Oh, “ I don’t want anything to do with it,”
you know. “ Leave this life take care of this life. Let the rest
go as it will, but we will do what we have to do.” And, you
know the man—It seems to me as if he fought death. That is,
that he had a sickness and that he kept up a long time when some-
body else, naturally, would have given up the things he didn’t.
He just fights the thing and goes along as best he can and then,
all at once, he just succumbs and goes to the spirit and goes with
a good deal of the feeling of “I lost my fight!” You know,—
that sort of way ; half discouraged, half with that sense of having
lost; and, you know, he comes—It seems to me as if you got a
place or he had a home away.

You know, I go to two places with you: One is where you
are and one is where he lived, you know, as though he would—
There would be those two homes and he would go definitely to
yours and to the other one where he lived. You understand?

(Yes.)

And that one where he lived—It seems as though there is
a woman left.

(Yes.)

that he is anxious over and would give any word he could to
help her. She is not going to die right now, you know.

(No.)

There is some life ahead for her, but sometimes he goes there,
and he goes with a care and a protection and with something like
an everyday interest in everything that she does. And, you
know, he says there are some things that he is going to be able to
do for her, you know, as though this woman is, in a way, near
you. You know, there is—you would—you would talk with her.

(Yes.)

About things, and there is more and more that you are able to
talk with her so that when she goes to the spirit land she will go
like a certainty, you know; an assurance of where she is going.
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It won’t be like going out into the dark, like he did, and the
younger girl did, you know ; the young sister, you understand.

(Yes.)

You know—Do you want—You got something for me? Oh!
You are just going to give me your hand.

(That is all I have for you.)

Yes. [Coughs.] Well, there is a—When I go to this home
where this man went away,—It seems—it is perfectly familiar to
him, you know. It seems as though, if he would drop down
there now, he could go anywhere and it would be so familiar!
The things are about the same as when he went away.

(Yes, just the same.) *

And he says, “ I frequently go there and walk about and won-
der what it all means! It seems so strange to be over here and,
yet, to be so conscious of everything that is going on in your life,
and it is good for me, boy, to be near to you.” He speaks to you
as if you were a boy, you know; as though there is that little—
almost a tender feeling that comes from him to you, although,
naturally, he is outspoken and short.

(Yes.)

And, you know there are several things. They are not things
that bother him much, but he would be apt to be bothered if
things were changed. He always wanted them to be as he
wanted them, you know; didn’t want anybody to make any
changes. If he went out, and found things had been moved or
changed that he was in the habit of using, he would make a fuss
about it; makes a remark and doesn’t like it; and he says, “ You
can understand how it is hard for anybody like me to overthrow
all their lifelong ideas and accept the new and, yet, it is coming;
slowly coming. I am coming to a better understanding of what
life is and how close I am to you all.” [Note 97.]

(Can you see his face?)

Yes, I can. I can see his face and I can see his body and—

97. Mr. Thompson thought of Mr. Gifford at this passage, but spoke
encouragingly in recognition to sée what would come. But the important
incidents do not fit Mr. Gifford and he does not recognize the person
meant. The living woman referred to is not recognized.

The statement that a “ woman is left,” however, would apply to Mrs.
Gifford, but no evidential importance attaches to the incident.
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look! Do you know anyone connected with him who begins with
“ M? ”»

(No.)

Isn’t it your mother?

(No.)

Well, who is this “ M ”” that you have got?

(Well, that may be my mother, but she has no connection with
this man.)

With him?

(No.)

Well, does your mother begin with “ M?”

(Yes.) .

Well, I will go back to him in just a minute, but, right after I
see him write this “M,” you know, here, and as though he re-
ferred to her—to your mother, about it—you know, there is sort
of a—Hm! [Pause.] Do you like your mother?

(Yes.)

Isn’t she funny?

(Yes.)

It is a funny question to ask you, isn’t it, but, somehow, when
I come to her, there is just a kind of a little bother.

(I understand what you mean.)

I feel bother about her. Perhaps that is enough to say about
it, but—it will never be any different. I would like to tell you
that things would be different, but they do not seem to be. The
only thing that will make her different is to go over and, when the
light comes to her over on the other side, then, of course, she will
be different. I am sorry to make it so, but that is exactly what
I see.

(That is true.) [Note 98.]

Now, to go back to the man: There is another letter that I
see: A great, big “ O,” do you know?

(No, I do not.)

Do you know anyone named “ Orrin,” or a name something
like that?

98. If the “M ” refers to a name it is not recognizable, but the con-
text shows that it may be the initial of “ mother.” What is said or hinted
at in this connection is relevant, but too personal to mention and is recog-
nized as such by the control. (Cf. pp. 101, 139, 140, 141.)
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It is someone he knows and I see it spelled, now—“O, r, r,
i, n.” And you don’t know it?

(No.)

Ain’t that funny! You ask him something and I will see if
he can tell you. You got “ Orrin ” down all right, didn’t you?

(Reporter: Yes.)

Because, it means something. A name wouldn’t come so
definitely as that unless there was connection there between him
and it. [Note 99.]

(I just want to ask what message he has regarding the work
for me to do.)

He gives you that as quick as anything. It is not so much
that you need to have patience; you have got that. It is a watch-
ing out for opportunity. That is the only thing. This work—
This is psychic work you are talking about, and psychic work he
is talking about, you understand?

(Yes.)

Isn’t that true?

(Yes.)

Well, now let me see: Here is—But, you know, your psychic
work—You never—Well, I don’t like to ask you, but it seems as
though there is a combination here ; psychic work and your other
work. You are still with one hand on your daily work, like your
mental work, and the work that is yours to do and one hand out
here on the psychic, as though I am holding here and I am push-
ing forward all the time with the psychic. You have seen a man
on a bicycle, leading another beside him? That is practically the
way you are; riding along and still pulling along on your old
wheel that has been the thing you rode on but it has got to be
discarded pretty soon. It doesn’t give you the full time or the
full strength to devote to the bicycle you are on to-day. I am
calling it a “ psychic wheel.”

Now, all this—I don’t know just how you begin, but, bye-
and-bye, I see you with a little company of people all around
about you. They are mostly men and they seem to ask you some
questions, as though there is something that comes to you that

99. The name Orrin is not recognizable. It may be a mistake for
the word Orient. See what follows.
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you are literally plied with questions as to how you got this; how
you got that; how you did this; how you did that; and you are
so overwhelmed that you cannot say anything. You are not a
very ready talker until you get warmed up, you understand.
[Perfectly .correct.]

(Yes.) .

Well, it seems that in this—You just stand there and you—
Well, you are not exactly bewildered; you know what you are
doing all the time, but it is fired at you with such rapidity and
vehemence that it is almost as though you just kind of straighten
up and wait a minute; don’t try to answer every question they
ask you. There will be a lot of fool questions come to you that
it is better to let your own expression filter down through and
then, bye-and-bye, the answer will come from their consciousness
rather than from your words. But this—Oh, this is only just an
incident. It is not the great work, but it is an incident in this
work and, out from this, there is—You know, have you ever
thought of going across the water?

(Yes.)

Well, here is the funniest thing! I see, after this incident
where you are with all these people, you know—these men—
there is something as—all at once I see you down on the pier
and I see all the plans; you have arranged everything so that you
leave to stay as long as you please. It is not like going across
and right back, or going over for one expression and back, but
there is—everything seems to be in order, as though it is ad-
justed and you go across and, when you go across, I see there—
There is some more people that you come in contact with and
they are on this same question. Say, you are awfully interested
in psychic things, aren’t you?

(Yes.)

I mean, aside from your own personality. You are interested
in other people, too, aren’t you?

(Well, in—Yes.)

I am not asking you too much, am I?

(Oh, no indeed.)

Well, it is funny, but when I see you—You are going right
straight across the water and you immediately go. I don’t mean
this in a week or two, you know, but I mean after some little
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events come. This is one of the events in your life and, as you
go across, you strike a little company of people there and you are
by yourself quite a lot, as though you have got either a room or a
—1It is not a home. It does not seem to be so well established as
a home, but seems to be a little place there to which you go to do
some things of the work. You work all the time with your brain.
You are working out some problems and you stay in one place
awhile and then go to another, because I see the moving about
from one place to another until you finally land in a place where
thete are different kinds of people; you know,—dark people.
Whether it is India, or what it is, I don’t know, but it looks more
like one of those warm countries like India, you know; some
place like that, and it seems as though, out from that—Why, sud-
denly there comes, oh such a—Oh, to you—such an unusual
power, as though it does not come to you back here. The ful-
filment of some of this expression that has been promised you by
your guides comes across the water. It begins here and you
move along here, but the fulfilment of it is over on the other side
and, after you have taken two or three little—shorter trips, you
know, then comes this other that brings a certain power and ful-
filment and expression to you. Then, you come back here again.
[Note 100.]

You know, your life is full of events. There is—You are not
rich, are you?

(No.) :

I thought so. You don’t mind my saying it to you, do you?

(Certainly not.)

But, you know, it is the funniest thing: While I was telling
you this it just seemed as though, all at once, this flashed over

100. There is no evidence of the presence of Mr. Gifford in all this °
allusion to going “ across the water ” and to India, but Mr. Gifford had
been abroad several times and had visited Egypt. He was also interested
somewhat in Oriental things. The only meaning which the passage could
have would be that, having proved his presence his ideas were slipping
into and through the medium, tho we should have to assume that her
subliminal processes were coloring them with their own action. The
prolix and verbose character of the talk is evidence of this, and so also
the analogies used, the same circumstance being conspicuous everywhere.
In the midst of it, however, the distinction and struggle between his daily
and his psychic work represent a hit of some interest.
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you, “ But, how can I do that? I am not rich enough to,” don’t
you know ; as though you would say that to yourself. Do you
understand?

(Yes.)

Well, out of all this—I don’t know what it is. It doesn’t seem
as though you go like a prince or like a rich man into these things.
I am telling you just the way it looks to me,—as though you cut
off some things in order to do some other things. In other words,
you make a choice and, between the choices, you take this over
here,—and it pays you! And I am speaking of it entirely from
a spiritual standpoint; not the money that comes back again.

(Yes.) [Note 101.]

But, out of all this, always comes enough, so that you are able
to do the thing that you want to. I never see you fore-shortened
in your power on account of finance, but it seems as though it
always comes in. Just when you don’t know how you are going
to do it, then, something comes and you are able to do it.

(Yes, that is true.)

And it seems that all your life will be just that way. You are
a marked man and you are marked by the spirits and the work
that they have to do just brings out so much of this combination
of co-operative work. Some things you do, some things they do,
and they are just as much interested in your financial and mate-
rial condition as they are in the spiritual, because one cannot move
without the other. It is a*double team; two horses,—the mate-
rial and the spiritual, and they understand it even better than
you do.

(Can you see what I am doing? I mean, with my hands—all
this time? That is, my work? [Pause.] The work that I do is

a part of all—of all this.)
) Yes. I think so, too. [Pause.] Look! Do you have any-
thing—You don’t draw, do you? [Sweeping gesture of arm.]

(Yes.)

And paint, too?

(Yes.)

Aha! Well,—Because, here is the funniest thing! I see like

101. The recognition of Mr. Thompson’s financial relation to such a
plan is perfectly correct.
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a great big—It doesn’t look exactly like a board and, yet, it is
something like it. It is more—There is a board, with a paper
pinned on it, as though it is sketching, like—Not a canvas; and
there is something—When I see you go across here I see you out-
doors. You are sketching something and, while you will do a lot
in the house and indoors, there is a new kind of a thing—Almost
anything that you undertake to do in the art line, you could do,
you know. You are so fearful! You are the funniest little
thing I ever saw! Because, you are so sensitive. You hold
yourself to certain lines and are afraid, almost, to branch out into
new ones. You understand?

(I think so.)

Well, it is all nonsense. You want me to tell you exactly as
I see it, don’t you?

(Yes.) .

It is all nonsense for you to have any fear about these things.
After a time, when the breath comes and you are able to stand up
here with an assurance to yourself, why, something comes out
here that is perfectly beautiful and not only beautiful, but seems
to be a wonderful thing; a wonderful thing in its softness and in
its breadth, as though a conception, and that conception so vital-
ized that it speaks!

That is what comes to you, my friend, and it comes from the
spirit and it comes to you. It is the crown of this—of this power
that is yours and it comes across. I don’t know why, but it seems
as though there is something there that all at once you just feel
this wonderful expression pouring down on you and you paint
like a god and, when you have done that, I see something like
great—It is fame, you know. It is fame, just as surely as I have
your hand, and, while fame does not bring all the material things
that you might want, it still opens the door toward more beautiful
expression. I don’t know how rich you ever get, but I know this:
That the time comes when all these things that you have yearned
to do and that you just didn’t have time to do or didn’t quite dare
to do so freely—they find expression, and it is big, big, big. All
I can see is just big, big!

Now, you know—Have you got—You don’t mind my asking
you any question, do you?

(No, certainly not.)
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Have you got a place where you have got a whole lot of can-
vasses? You do use canvasses, don’t you?

(Yes.)

Well, it seems as though I have got a whole lot of canvas
here, not fully painted, you know. There is some things done on
them, like, oh, go ahead; get a little and then I leave it there.

(Yes, I understand.) [Note 102.]

Some—Well, I am looking down on the floor and I see two or
three sizes there and I pull one up and, when I pull it up, it is like
a great cliff, you know.

(Yes.)

As though it is yellow and, then, blue sea out here.

(Yes, yes.)

Have you got one like that?

(Yes.) .

Well, I see that and it seems—You know, it is such a strong
thing, as though, when I take that, it is striking. You know, it
seems to be one of those things that hits you when you look at it.

You understand?

(I understand.)

Well, there is something there—That doesn’t seem to be ex-
actly like New York, you know. It seems like some other scene,
farther off.

(Yes.) [Note 103.]

And it seems that there is—I don’t know what it is: You had
help about that, you know. I just feel as though I felt a swing
to myself that I do not always feel with the influence. Ido. You
know, that is you; I am talking to you.

(Yes.)

102. Mr. Thompson has a number of canvases not completed.

103. The description of this painting is remarkably correct. It repre-
sents a bluff, like a cliff, on the sea, and the colors of the scene are yellow
for the sand or clay bluff and a soft mossy green on top. It is far from
New York.

The significance of this incident can be seen in Figure XXXV, and its
coincidence with the sketch represented by Figure XXXVI. There appears
to be the double coincidence of mediumistic information regarding a
special picture and that between the sketch and the scene at Cuttyhunk,
as represented in the painting.
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Sometimes you do little bits of tiny things, almost like archi-
tecture, you know, they are so fine; so—so detailed—and,—Hm!
Kind of “ picky,” you know.

(Yes.)

They are not your best, while they are good. It is the strong
sweep that I want to get on toward, you know, as though, out of
some of these things, comes the strong sweep.

Now, look! Did you know you had a woman artist close to
you in the spirit?

(N-no. I did not—I did not know it.)

You have. I don’t know who she is, but it seems as though it
is—[Pause.] I cannot tell who she is, but I see this woman who
is—She looks to me like a more modern artist, as though she had
not been of the old type, at all, but she is—She sometimes comes
to you; looks over your shoulder. Her chin rests right on your
shoulder and she looks at you with such an intent, as though she
were, oh, eager to push on.

You don’t need to study so much. What you need to do is to
express. It is all in your soul and you have got to. You cannot
get so much from the copy and from other people as you will from
the spirits. There is an originality with all the ground work you
have got and you have got to gather a little here, there and in the
other place and out it goes, like a wonderful, original expression.
That is what will come to you, you know. [Note 104.]

(Yes.)

Are you glad?

(Yes.)

Ask me something else, if you want to.

(Can you see this man that you spoke of, and this other
woman, here? How are they helping me with the work? Or,
how are they connected with it?)

They don’t paint. You know, it won’t be like they are—What
do you mean, “ the other woman?” The sister?

(Yes, we can call her that.)

Well, their work is more to get the conditions right. You

104. This reference to a woman again should be compared with the
similar statements through the other psychic (pp. 134, 147 and Note 71).
It is a very interesting cross reference.
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could not—You might have a spirit that could interpret art and
could draw artists to you, but you have got to have lines put and
have the things in harmony and a harmonious influence. That
always has to come with any great work, and that is done through
love’s sweet force, and these people have such an interest in your
personality that they just bring all the harmonious things there
so that those older ones and stronger ones may come to you and
do what they want to.

There is a man standing right back of you who has got on a
very peculiar dress. It has got a little black velvet—it looks like
a cap or a hat of some kind. It is funny, you know. It is not
like anything that anybody wears now, and he has got a sort of—
of a cloak or garment that falls from his shoulder and, while he is
—But here is the funniest thing. There is a feather in his hat,
you know, like a—Not an ostrich feather, but more like a little
quill, you know, as though it is there for something. I don’t
[know] what, but it is right there, on his hat. And he is—he has
got—he looks very like those—the times of Shakespeare, you
know, and those times; the times of knights and ladies.

. (Yes.)

Then, he seems to belong to that period and he comes right up
there to you and puts his hand right on your shoulder and looks
right down into your face and there—* Oh, yes; oh, yes. I am
here.” But that man is a foreigner. His language is different
from ours. I don’t know whether it is Italian or French, but it is
something that has got a peculiar little twist to the tongue, and
he stands so close to you and sometimes as though, when you are
sitting, thinking out what you do, and you hardly—You know,
you will work oh, perhaps an hour and nothing comes ; everything
looks so muddy, so bad, so wrong to you, you know.

(Yes.)

As though you got nothing that is any good and you-just
think to yourself that you will take the thing up and toss it away;
it is not good for that day; when, all at once, it seems as though
you are literally controlled, you know ; not altogether like an in-
fluence that speaks for you, but as though your brush goes, you
know, so fast and a stroke or two and the thing is done! You
understand?

(Yes.)
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And I see this man, like a great Master. That is all that I
feel like calling him, is like a Master, who is able to do great
things, and is constantly looking for some personality through
whom he may express to the world again and give them some-
thing of the wonderful power. And what they will do is to put
the spirit of things in it.

You are going to do a great, big canvas; one that you have
dreamed of. It seems to be an ideal thing, as though it is the
perfection. I don’t know whether it is a figure. It seemed—
Have you ever tried figures?

(Yes.)

Well, this looks more like a figure that is pretty much alone.
I don’t think it is—er, a—er—religious subject; does not seem to
be that. It seems to be more like what one would call “ The
Spirit of Art,” or “ The Spirit of Poetry,” or “ Dawn.” A figure
that represents some particular thing. And it a woman, you
know.

(Yes.)

Seems to be this beautiful woman all in such a glorified atmos-
phere, as though you could see clear through, back from whence
she came; all the materialistic conditions swept away; none of
the vases and jars and couches and all those things that only are
foils for her. It is more just like—more like the Old Masters did,
don’t you know, where it seems as though you look through and
through and as though the figure had come out of another world,
just like the dawn of a day. Beautiful! That you do. [Note
105.]

Now, some day, you will look back over this record,—when
this has come to you. I doubt very much if you remember it un-
til after it is all there in outline and begins to form its shape, and
color comes, and then, you will recall this.

And that is the thing that seems to be your masterpiece! But
there will be others. Quantities of them, you know ; other things
that are like and unlike and, yet, this seems to be like a dream;

105. The man with the black velvet cap is not recognized by any one
as related to Mr. Gifford. It is apparent from the context that the refer-
ence is to some great artist long since deceased. This is true on any
theory and hence it is not evidential.
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a vision ; a beautiful thing that comes to you, and the face is ideal,
you know. It is—It is not anybody living ; it does not seem to be
anybody, but as though it comes right out of yourself.

(Yes.)

You know,—right out of the spirit.

(Yes.)

And you get it. And that is—that is the thing that I just hope
and look for for you, but I see it coming. I haven’t any question
about your being able to do it. The question is just when you
get to it, you know. Not that you will do it, but when you will
get to it. You will work along here in this way, sometimes so
tired that you just want to stop. Sometimes people—[Pause.]
Funniest thing, you know. You find people coming to you who
—They pick out the things that are the most sordid and mate-
rialistic and all the finer touches they lose, you know. In your
work. You understand?

(Yes.)

So many times they do that. Don’t you be discouraged. You
are not painting gold dollars. You are drawing from the spirit
and putting something out here that is more beautiful than dol-
lars: As much more beautiful as stars are from ten-cent-pieces,
and that is—that is what will come. There is nothing else—
nothing else in your life that is of any value compared to this ex-
pression that comes to you from the spirit and the great world of
art that is near you to do it. It is no wonder you hear music, be-
cause the whole—the psychic realm opens up those particular
things, you know. Music and art all go together and you could
not help it, you know. You paint better when you hear it. You
know, it would come more beautiful to you. Isn’t that funny?

(Do you see in there the figure of this woman—in this great
picture?)

I think so, but she is the fore figure. I don’t know if I have
made the thing quite plain to you when I say “ fore figure?”

(I understand.)

But, she is the prominent thing. But it seems as though,
either back of it, or—You know, that is the thing I see first:

Then, somewhere, as though back—or almost in the shadow—
is something else that is very like faces. You know the pictures
of Raffael?



A Case of Veridical Hallucinations. 191

(Yes.)

Well, you know, you see cloudy effects that you see some-
thing else through: Isn’t it Raffael does that?

(Yes.)

Well, it is something like that, you know, as though there is
something—It does not seem to be one of those things like you
could name; that, “ Here is a ‘ Crucifixion’” and “ Here is ¢ The
Disciple,”” you know ; not like that. Doesn’t seem so definite as
that.

(No.)

It is more like one of those—oh, you read into it. It is more
as if the whole essence of creation was in this expression and here
it has come right through. O, it is, really—

(Yes, that is true.) :

Oh, it is beautiful and it—that comes about, you know, and
that is the thing.

And, you know, I can see you—You're just like a girl. Fun-
niest thing I ever saw! When this thing comes to you and you
have really gotten your praise, the thing is really a success,—I
see you off by yourself and you sit down and cry! You know,
sometimes now, when you are off all alone, the tears come. You
do not want them to, but they are there, as though you were
living in a dream world.

(Yes.) [Note 106.]

It is the price you pay for the wonderful psychic power that
is about you,—the supersensitiveness—but it is worth it; it is
worth the price, little man; it is, really. Some people get so in-
dependent and strong that tears do not come readily, but it does
not count. It is worth it all and I see you go off, all by yourself,
and sit down. It is more as though you are in the place where
this one and that one and the other one comes to you and says
something about it and then, all at once, you slip away, quietly,
by yourself, and the tears come.for joy; as though you looked
right up to the blessed influences about you, thanking them that
they had made it possible for you to accomplish these things.

106. Mr. Thompson writes that the reference to crying applies as
much to the present as it may to the future. He often has this resort for
working off his discouragements. The psychic makes it present as well
as future.
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And, you know—Of course, some of your things—to come
right down to the material things—some of your things you are
going to sell. You will be able to move them along; they will be
all right. I mean, some of these things that you do, right along.
But,—you are funny! Things that you like very much you don’t
like to sell, do you?

(No.)

They become a part of you, and they—Not a part of you: If
they were, you would sell them very readily. It is because they
seem almost like a gift; dropped down from some other plane to
you,—and it is—“I cannot bear to let them go!” But you will
let them go bye-and-bye, all right, because more and more keep
coming. Don’t get stingy with them, because there is plenty
there. It is not as though you could not get any more. They
will come. The more you do, the more will come, and move them
on; move them on after a little and then more comes and you have
given to the world something that is better than many of the
things that it has now.

Oh, I—I feel all right with you, you know. I feel all right
with your power and all right with the things that come to you
materially. You will live a long time. You have got so much
to do and so many things that you want to accomplish that-it
seems as though it takes the years to do it,—and you do it, bye-
and-bye.

[Pause.] Are you in love

(Reporter: Time, time, time? Time’s up. Starlight.)

with anybody?

[Laughter and confusion.]

In a minute. [To reporter.]

You're not married to them, though, are you?

(I shall have to consult my lawyer before I answer.)

All right. Well, there is great love that comes into your life.
I wanted to say that, too. I think you want to know it, you
know. It just seems as though, back of you, there was some-
thing that made me say it to you.

(Yes, I understand.)

That it is not—Well, if you do understand, that is all. The
love comes, too. Your life is beautiful. You are going through
—or have been through—the worst things, now ; that is, the com-
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ing up to the things, but all the crown is ahead of you. That is
what I see.

(Then, you feel that this new influence—that the Old Master
that you speak of—brings as—)

Brings a power.

(Has superseded the old mﬁuences ?)

No influence that has ever been there to be of use to you will
ever be entirely lost to you. The new influence comes and more
will come, but it is more like a plan, that they come. One can
use you one time, one another, but this is a superseding influence,
you know; but, always, yours will be a growing influence; a
changeable influence ; that what one can do, they can do and, then,
another does, but all in the artistic line. That is what I see. It
is beautiful. :

I suppose I got to let you go. Good-bye.

(I thank you because you have answered all my questions and
have explained my visions to me just as I have seen them.)

I am glad of it.

(A curious thing,—but I have already made a sketch of that
same vision. Perhaps some day, you will see it.)

I hope so. I guess I will, too.

[Mr. T leaves room.]

Isn’t that good?

(Reporter: Splendid!)

Good-bye.

(Good-bye.)

6. Sittings With Mrs. Chenoweth.
B. Automatic Writing.
Introduction.

The previous records are of vocal products by the psy-
chic. That is, in two instances the psychics were in a nor-
mally conscious state. The third was in a light trance. The
last two sittings with Mrs. C. before the present series were
very unsatisfactory as evidence for the identity of Mr.
Gifford. They prevailed in matters of a personal interest to
Mr. Thompson and apparently avoided all efforts to prove the
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identity of the person most important in the case. For this
reason I resolved on some sittings during the deeper trance
when I could try for more definite evidence of the identity of
Mr. Gifford. The remainder of the record is, therefore, de-
voted to automatic writing, except such material as came
during subliminal action both before and after the trance.

This subliminal action affords a good opportunity for
studying psychologically the difference between itself and the
results of the automatic writing. The material obtained
during the subliminal control is very much like the results of
the light trance under the control of Starlight. But it shows
a marked difference from that obtained in the deeper trance
when the other controls assumed supervision, tho the reader
will discover influences from subliminal action still.

I have included the attempt of Prof. Sidgwick to com-
municate in order to illustrate the interesting psychological
complexity of the phenomena and the manner in which they
finally concentrate on the object desired. There is no special
evidence of the supernormal in what purports to come from
Prof. Sidgwick and Mr. Myers in these records, but that is no
reason for excluding them from the account, especially that
Mr. Myers has given previously some evidence of his identity
and adopted a device by which I may immediately recognize
him in other situations. The two other controls or aman-
uenses in these records, acting as agents or intermediaries in
the transmission of messsages are Dr. Hodgson and G. P., or
George Pelham, the person of that name in Dr. Hodgson’s
Report on the case of Mrs. Piper. There is not any scien-
tific evidence of this in the present records, as the problem
was to secure proof of the identity of Mr. Gifford, and there
was no reason to trouble myself about the identity of these
two personalities, as they had satisfied me of their reality in
previous records.
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There is much that will disappoint the sceptic in the rec-
ords. They undoubtedly lack in clearness and specific force-
fulness in the facts, tho many of them are definite enough to
satisfy the most critical. But, while the “ chaff ”’ is less than
in the records of the lighter trance it is still apparent, and
often the incidents are not any clearer. But this is due to
various difficulties which this report cannot discuss in detail,
but which will be the subject of a later publication. What-
ever the limitations, however, of the material, I think the
collective value of the incidents will, in a measure at least,
overcome the faults of the individual failures and perhaps
deprive the failures of any collective importance, as they are
fewer in number than the hits. But the settlement of this
issue may be left to the reader. The present object is to
understand the character of the records.

Detailed Record.

June 2, 1908, 4 P. M.
Medium, Mrs. C. Present, J. H. Hyslop.

[Subliminal No. 1.]

Funniest thing,—every time I close my eyes—yesterday and
to-day—1I keep seeing things like printing, you know. [Pause.]

Did you ever have a pet named “ Daisy?” A great—Not a
very big horse, though. Ain’t that funny?

(Reporter: No, I have been looking for it for a long while.)

It wasn’t yours?

(No.)

There is a man connected with it and with you and the horse
and some very strong association between you and the man and
the horse. I do not know just what it is. Do you know anyone
in connection with it commences with “ V—" “ Vivie ” or “ Vi?”
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It is a woman. I do not think it is “ Vivian.” I think it is “ Vi.”
“Vi-vie.” [Note 107.]
[Eyes close. Head falls back on pillow. Long Pause.]

[Subliminal No. 2.]

Hullo!

(Hullo.)

They're coming, aren’t they?

(Yes.)

[H. opens door and admits Mr. Thompson.]

It is strange, isn’t it, how they seem to make conditions every
time?

(Yes.)

George didn’t speak to you yesterday, did he?

(No.)

But he is here to-day.

(Good.)

You say “ Good ” for everything.

(No.)

Why is it “ Good ” he is here, then?

(A short expression for saying “ I am glad of it.”)

I see. To save your stenographer, again.

(Yes.)

You talk shorthand and she writes it. Hm.

(Yes.)

There is a better way than that.’

(How is that? To keep still?)

No, talk with your spirit. When you know people very well
you do that, don’t you know.

(Yes.)

Have you never seen people that you seem to know instantly
what they mean by their expression and movement and attitude?

107. Miss Allen, the stenographer, had a deceased friend from whom
she was anxious to hear and to have a test. Miss Allen had kept this'a
profound secret. This lady friend had a white horse by the name of
Daisy which she used to drive frequently with Miss Allen, whom she, the
deceased friend, used to call Vivie and Vi (Vee), and never Vivian. Mrs.
Chenoweth was absolutely ignorant of the facts.
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(Yes, but when I have my mind on anything of that sort, you
don’t recognize it. If you did, I would not say anything.)

No, I don’t. I am not very good to catch the thought of other
people, but I am talking about people who, through their normal
senses, do it you know.

(Yes.)

You are talking about doing it through an opaque body, where
there is no expression, no attitude, no gesture; nothing but your
spirit trying to touch mine. You see?

(Yes.) ~

That would come if we both tried, but it—There is a difference
between telepathy and spirit.

(The union—)

Yes. Getting spirit messages, the way I do.

(Is there?)

Yes.

(What is the difference?)

Well, if you were to try to telepath me—You mean myself as
a woman or as a woman released from the spirit, as I am now?
Which do you mean?

(Why, whichever you have in mind.)

You wouldn’t be present to send me a telepathic message, you
know, but you would send it by a guide who was for that purpose.

(Yes.)

To carry it back and forth.

(That is, if I send it between you and me in the living body?)

Yes. Some spirit would take it.

(Yes.)

Transmit it. You have to have a transmitter.

(Yes.)

You can’t send your messages right out into space.

(Why can’t—)

They might hit nowhere and everywhere, you know. You
shoot arrows—Well, you have seen fire-works and you have seen
guns. They are both explosives and they both shoot into the
air. Fire-works shoot up and amount to nothing except that they
have exploded. Guns shoot something because they are aimed.
See? '

(Yes.)
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Well, when you send something—whether it is a thought or a
parcel, got to have some way of transmitting it—delivering it. I
don’t know that I have made it very plain to you—

(Perfectly plain. And, now, how is the process when spirits
communicate with us or with each other?)

You mean, when spirits try to talk with you?

(Yes.)

That is usually done with a transmitter. When I am in the
trance, I serve as a transmitter.

(Yes.)

When it is Starlight, she does. Somebody is there who trans-
mits the messages. :

(Yes, but how do they get the message to Starlight?)

She sees them. She sees the people and catches the word.
She has one foot in spirit and one on earth. That is why you do
not get it as definitely as you would from a person here, you
know.

(Yes.)

because they are trying to drive two horses—the spirit and the
mortal—at the same time. She cannot hear quite as plainly when
she is in control as she can when she is out.

(All right. I want to take that up sometime, and we will
talk about it.)

Yes. Well, I don’t know as I know any more about it than I
have told you.

(Well, we will see.)

Yes. Hm. You are in a hurry about something else, aren’t
you?

(Not especially in a hurry, but I thought I would not take up
the time on this subject now.)

Because your friend wants to see something else?

(Yes.)

You have somebody come most all the time now, don’t you?

(Yes.)

Isn’t that funny!

(Mm-hm.)

I am going, as fast as I can. [Pause.] Do you know—
[Pause, moan.] Do you know—[pause] a [pause.]

(Well?)
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Do you know a—[Pause.] “ Fred?”

(Yes.) [Pause.] (Who says that?)

Oh, I don’t know. Oh! Just a minute. I will try. Itisa
spirit. Do you know “Fred?” ‘Fred.” It is a spirit man
calling it. I don’t know if it is his own name or whether he is
calling somebody.” It is a man in the spirit says he is named
“Fred.” Do you know?

(Yes.)

Well,—Oh! This is not an old man, you know. You—You
are thinking of Mr. Myers. :

(Yes, when you said it was a man in the spirit.)

I thought so. Well, that is who it is. It is so strange that I
should always call him “ Fred,” isn’t it?

(Yes.) :

And he doesn’t seem old. I suppose he was, wasn’t he?

(I don’t know what his age was.)

Oh, my! He must be fifty-eight or sixty years old. Is that
“old?” [Prof. Sidgwick’s age at the time of his death was 62:
Mr. Myers 58.]

(Not very.)

Well, he doesn’t seem old. He seems so vigorous and so
strong and so energetic and, really, I didn’t know it was he when
I heard the voice. Then, all at once—You know, I think his
friends always called him that. Do you know if they did?

(I thought so.)

Well, he is so interested here. There is so much he wants to
say to-day. To-day, you know.

(Yes.)

I guess they are going to write. I don’t like all the things
they do to me. [Voice trembling. Moan.] Why do you sup-
pose they do?

(So that they can write more easily.)

Would you be afraid? [Expression of distress.]

(Not a bit.)

No? Wouldn’t?

(No, not in the slightest.)

Mm-hm. Oh! [Moans.] You won't let them—

(No.)

—hurt me?
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(No, you needn’t be afraid.) [H. takes hand.]

How would you know? There! I like it when you take my
hand. I feel as if I am not lost. [Head falls forward. H. ad-
justs it in rest. Pause. Hand rejects a black pencil but retains
a short brown one.]

[ Automatic.]

Let me be a part of this undertaking for I am as interested now
as when alive and working on the possibilities of this mission of
spirit thought and identity

(Can’t read that.)

identity yes [In answer to reading.] I was with Myers and
the friends assouated [read “ assisted ] associated [read “ as-
sorted ’] associated themselves together for the purpose of in-
vestigation. I S S S Dr.S S S yes why I said I would come
yes [writing begins to be rapid.] I said I would come but I do
not know how to use the light yet have patience I will [read
wait.]

(Yes. I shall be patient.)

will work until I do it.

(Good.)

I said I would come at

(Good ; thank you.)

the other place England [read questioningly] yes [in answer
to reading] bu [t] far away [read “ pray.” Moan] far away yes
[in answer to reading] who is helping me

(I am not sure, but probably George and Hodgson.)

Someone keeps pushing me on to further expression but I am
so slow.

(That is all right. I shall be quite patient so just take your
time.)

Arthur do you know Arthur

(Arthur who?)

My friend Arthur

(I think I do. That is good. Go on.)

Yes if I can I have done something before but this is different
What a change since I [read “is made.” Moan] since I came
away I was so glad to meet Richard [not read and hand starts
writing rapidly and strongly.] Richard
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(Yes, I expect so.) .
It was a great day for us .

(Yes, indeed. What relation to you was Richard? That is,
what relation did he sustain to you when you were—when you
and he were living together?)

You are asking of our work

(Yes.)

We were co-workers but we [read “ he ”] we did not [“ did”
read “ and ”’] did always [not read] always agree

(I understand.)

It was as well for the work as 1f we had but he went faster in
some ways than I did and slower in some others [moans.]

(I understand.)

I seem to take so much of the energy perhaps I had better try
again later

(I hope you will, indeed.)

[Scrawls.] [Note 108.]

108. The expressions of Mrs. C. near the end of the subliminal
action before the automatic writing began rather foreshadowed some-
thing new, but I did not anticipate what was coming, nor did I under-
stand who it was writing until I saw “ Dr.” written. I saw that it was
an unusual communicator, and the appearance of “ Dr. S.” along with the
name Myers identified the person at once and 1t was the first attempt of
Dr. Sidgwick, whose full name was given a little later by Mr. Myers, to
write directly, tho some communications came from him at an earlier sit-
ting. The mention of the name Arthur will probably explain itself to all
who know Prof. Sidgwick and his immediate circle of friends and rela-
tives. I take it to refer to Arthur Sidgwick, a relative who was connected
with the Memoirs of Prof. Sidgwick.

I would say that this interpretation of the name Arthur would be true
superficially on any theory whatsoever. Whatever doubt might exist
about it, on any theory but either conscious or unconscious action on the
part of Mrs. Chenoweth, would be suggested by the earlier appearance of
the name Arthur out of all relevancy to the sitter (p. 129).

The statements made about his relation to Dr. Hodgson and also
about his mental characteristics are correct, but are exposed to the sus-
picion of having been known as they are well enough known to most
people. While I am confident Mrs. C. did not know the two men well
enough to write of them thus, and that the statements have some value
for me personally I can attach no importance to them scientifically.
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[It should perhaps be remarked that the automatic writ-
ing purporting to be directly influenced by Dr. Sidgwick was
very difficult and confused. Only in a few other cases where
the communicator had tried for the first time did the con-
fusion show such evidence of the difficulty. There was no
resemblance in this case to the automatic writing of the other
personalities. ]

[Change of Control.]

[Moan. Cough.]

I am glad he came. They must all learn the way :

(Yes, Mr. Myers. It would be helpful if you would have it
written out here who it was that came.) [I always identify Mr.
Myers by the way he writes the pronoun “1,” spontaneously ar-
ranged by him.]

Do you [“ Do” read “ Dr.” and hand points. Re-read “ Dr.”
and hand re-writes.] Do you think it best for me to tell you

(Why?)

It was Sidgwick

(All right. That is the person that I guessed, but it was ne-
cessary to know in order to make a good point out of what was
said especially with reference to the name that was given,—the
“ friend Arthur.”)

I see and I usually understand about those things but I felt
perhaps he would prefer to tell it himself.

(All right, Mr. Myers. I did not utter it out loud purposely,
and I should be glad to have him tell it sometime.)

Thank you for your consideration. S was a conservative
mich [much] more so than I vas [was] and he put mich [much]
[“ mich ” often written for “ much”] energy and time into his
researches H-—knew him very well before and after his death

(Yes.) [True statement about “ Dr. S.”, but not evidential.]

and felt that [“felt” read “till”] felt he did some good
work. Much that he left was in preparation and while it was in
order it was not complete. you may not know but I do.

(Yes, I understand. I knew little or nothing about his af-
fairs.)
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He had many papers of importance partially [read “ particu-
larly.” Moan] done but needing his [moan. Head raises and
falls back on pillow] brain to finish Do not worry

(No, I shall not.)

about the Light. It is all right I know what is going on.

(All right.)

There is an effort on the part of some spirit to take control

(I understand.)

but simply for purposes of identification

(Yes, I understand.)

I will hold on and work along as best I can

(Good.)

[Moans.] Do you know Addie or does anyone here know her
[Moans become constant.] [Note 109.]

(Someone there knows an “Addie ” and so do 1.)

yes Are you eager to get something from her.

(I should be glad.)

she is so importunate a middle aged woman rather slender
she is Do you know about that.

(Yes, I think I do. Goon.) [Note 110.]

yes I will hold the hand till I can do so now [“w " in “ now ”
erased.]

(Good!)

no longer.

(Good! Take your time.)

[Spoken: Oh, dear, dear, dear! Moans. Body stiffens. H.
puts hand on forehead. Moans.]

Yes I am still here

109. The name Addie is that of an old acquaintance I made with my
wife in Germany. In fact it was in the care of her and her husband that
my wife was left by her father for the period of her work in music before
I became acquainted with her. This Addie was always a friend of the
family. Her husband died many years ago, and his Christian name has
been given at the sittings during this winter. Mrs. C. never heard of her,
and in fact, I am so ignorant myself of what her whereabouts were during
her last years that I would have known nothing of her but for the in-
formation which I have since received in reply to inquiries since this sit-
ting.

110. The Addie mentioned is still living and apparently the reference
to an elderly woman is to her mother who died some years ago.
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[Spoken: Oh!]

(Good?)

[Spoken: Oh, dear! My side! Left hand on heart.]

I am here. [Moans.] It may help us to prove the

{Spoken: Oh, dear; oh, dear! Oh!]

possibility of two at one time I do not

[Spoken: Oh, dear, dear, dear!]

know.

(Good. I can wait. Just you keep on at your work and I
shall wait patiently. There is no need of worry.)

[Quiet for awhile.] Gone I do not know why but for lack of
strength I think.

*(Good. ' I understand.)

[Pencil falls. Head goes forward into rest. Hoarse veice
makes two remarks in apparently Indian. Left hand strikes table
on gloves and clutches them.]

[Change of Control.]

I stopped it I was afraid to let it go on

(All right.) [Note 111.]

we cannot do too much at once.

(I understand. That is all right.)

Now we will go on. I am glad Dr. S. came.

(So am L)

He made his promise some time ago" once he came here and
tried but could not do what he wished

(I understand.)

his name was given here I believe.

(You mean, before?)

yes

(Yes, it was, and I asked for it this time so that it would stand

111. Dr. Hodgson appears here as the control, after the evident trial
of the lady called Addie to write directly. I could tell this by the style of
handwriting. Usually he writes his initials soon after beginning, but as I
was interested in the communications of others and especially the artist I
did not care who the control was. The manner of alluding to the coming
of Dr. S. showed that the control was not Mr. Myers.
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in white and black that my conjecture was correct, you under-
stand.)

certainly and that was right you and I used to say that we
could get nothing without questions sometimes and it is so with
every spirit returning.

(Yes, I understand.) [Note 112.]

You see how plainly I speak of returning spirits

(Yes.)

We may as well understand each other

(Yes.)

for we both believe in that.

(Yes, that is correct. We can assume that here without ques-
tion.)

There is no other explanation as I have said a thousand times
more or less. [Note 113.]

(Yes, so have I said the same thing and just as soon as it be-
comes respectable to think that way, it will go along without any
evidence.)

that is true. now what is this about Judge Do you know
anything about Judge.

(I know a certain Judge Somebody that passed over to your
side recently.)

There has been a great stir about getting a certain Judge to
communicate but as I cannot help much I have left that for the
rest to work on.

112. It was quite characteristic of Dr. Hodgson to say that we used
to say we could not get anything without questions sometimes. He did
not say it in those terms, but he always found that one of the best ways
to get things going rightly was to ask questions or say something to en-
courage the communicator. This is apparent in my Report (Proceedings,
English S. P. R. Vol. XVI). Mrs. C. has not seen this Report, according
to her own statement, having followed the directions of her own guides
and read nothing on this subject from any books. But had she read it
she would not have discovered the sentiment here expressed by Dr. Hodg-
son. I myself ascertained it in conversation with him on the methods of
getting results.

113. “There is no other explanation” might be said to be verbatim
what I have heard Dr. Hodgson say many times. I am confident Mrs. C.
was not familiar with the fact, tho we may perhaps have to assume that
she might have known it in some way.
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(Good. T shall be glad to have him communicate any time
you think best.)

yes he will come in due season.

(Good!) [Note 114.]

it is as hot in here as the old fashioned place of torment.

(All right.) '

it seems quite like it and I believe that is one of the things
which hinders the work '

(Yes, I suspect so. It must make you think of Dante.)

a little bit. [Note 115.] yes. You are interested in some
particular experience I know

(Yes.)

and I cannot get hold of it yet.

(All right; just take your time. No hurry, at all.)

what about this Addie who was trying so hard to [read “ her
hand ”’] hard to control

(Whatever you can say about her will be welcome.)

She was not ready or willing to go I think by the manner she
comes back It was a hard strain but she was eager to communi-
cate. Do you know anything about her people

(Yes, a little I do, and may be able to find more.)

Do you know if she left property

(I do not know about that.)

Some material things hold her and make her anxious to ex-
plain. There are so many people connected with her.

(Yes?)

I see a yellow wooden house with a door in the center which is
apparently a familiar house to her do you know about her [read
“ his ” and hand starts to re-write] home [read “ name ”’] home.

114, 1 could name the “ Judge” to whom this apparently refers, and
many Spiritualist in this country will probably guess at once who it is. But he
was well known to Mrs. C. and so was his death some months earlier. No im-
portance attaches to the mention of him, in this way, except that on the hy-
pothesis of secondary personality I should have gotten much that would bear
on his identity, he being so well known to all Spiritualists.

115. The day was warm and the room in which we were experimenting
had too little ventilation, and as a pillow was placed at Mrs. C.’s back to help
support her more steadily, it is apparent that the heat had affected her body.
The result on the contents of the automatic writing is apparent.
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(No, I do not. Shall have to inquire.)

this is not a very large house and it is surrounded by trees.
It is like a village or small town and sitting in the open door one
looks out across a road and into [pause] a sort of wood and then
far away It is a pretty quiet place and so restful. She did not
[pause] pass away there but in a larger town or city where there
is noise and bustle

(Yes, I.understand. So much is correct.) [Note 116.]

Do you know her avocation [read ‘‘association” and hand
starts to re-write] yes. [in answer to reading.]

(No, I am not certain.)

I see a picture of her sitting a great deal. Whatever she did
she was always a care taking woman and did much sewing

(Good! What was her husband?)

I do not see him I seem to be in an earlier period as if she
taught it looks more like a light profession. Her husband must
have been a man who worked with his head for his hands are
white and long and his brow is the brow of a thinking man.

(Good.)

Do you know him.

(I know the husband of the lady of whom I am thinking and
whom the name “Addie ” suggests.)

[Mr. T. moves and chair creaks.] [Note 117.]

Who is the old gentleman who is standing by our friend. I
see an old gentleman with spectacles and such a kind face, leaning
—[read “ leaving ” and hand starts to re-write] over the third per-
son in this room. He is like a relative of the person. I should
think a father but that I am not sure of yet.

(All right.)

116. For name Cf. Note 109. I do not know anything about her prop-
erty affairs. I merely know that during the pastorate of her husband she lived
with him in a small town in Pennsylvania.

Inquiry shows that the house referred to was of yellow brick and not
wood. There were two rows of trees, one on each side of the street. There
was some trouble at this time about the title and its sale. Both the lady’s
deceased mother and deceased husband knew that she owned the house before
their deaths.

117. I am informed by the lady that her mother was a great sewer and
assumed the whole burden of the family on her shoulders in this respect.
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his face is so gentle and with a quiet bit of fun in his eye he
waits for recognition.

(Good. Now, tell us all you can about that man and, if you
can, before we are through, this week, get his name through.)

I will do the best I can you know that

(Yes, I do.) [Note 118.] )

the man has no concern whatever I mean by that that he is
very patient and ready to obey instructions about getting through
with his evidence.

(Good.)

in his hand he has a long whip. It is like a carriage whip and
he examines it with the air of a man who knows about horses and
the things pertaining to them. I see a board with a railing on
each side very like a gang plank to a vessel.

(Good.) .

He stops at the top and then moves down as if he were going
away on a boat or steamer.

(Good.)

It is like a trip not often taken and I think is not across the
w... [“w” erased] ocean. a short trip.

(Good.) [Note 119.]

Suddenly he pulls out an old wallet worn and smooth and
shiny and with a strap around it one of the old style and he
opens it and takes out some papers and money. the money at
least some of it looks very old and worn. the papers are rather

118. Apparently the change of communicator was suggested by the mov-
ing of Mr. Thompson. As Mr. Gifford was the person sought the point is
to ascertain if the statements fit his identity.

Mrs. Gifford reports that he wore spectacles and all agree that he had a
kind face and was a very gentle man. His photograph would suggest the
latter, but he is not wearing spectacles in it.

119. Mr. Gifford did not own any horses and used them very little in
riding. Years ago he rode somewhat, but there is nothing evidential of his
identity in the matter as referred to. His relation to horses seems to have
been very little characteristic. The reference to a vessel and gang plank is
more suggestive, tho not especially evidential. He had been across the sea
several times, and used a sailing boat much, according to the testimony of Mrs.
Gifford, especially in connection with his journeys to the island where he did
much of his painting. It was, of course, not across the ocean, but across Buz-
zard’s Bay, with the ocean and Vineyard Sound beyond the island.
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important and one looks like a burial permit. It is so unusual
that I speak of it.

(Yes, I understand, exactly.) [Cf. p. 169.]

I hope we on the [so read. Hand paused and pointed to “ we ”
and J. H. H. so read it, when the hand wrote:] are on right line.
[Note 120.] _

(Well, what was the vocation of this man about whom we are
talking?)

I cannot tell that yet

(All right.)

but he is a man of letters take the [read ‘‘ shake ”] pillow
[H. shakes up pillow] take out from the back

(Yes.)

and put it there when it is needed.

[H. puts pillow on dresser behind medium.]

It is most too much to ask a man to play baby even-if he is a
spirit in a borrowed body.

(Yes, good. I understand.)

I feel better now and not so much as if I were ill with grip.

(All right.)

yes [in answer to reading]. Now I am going to work on that
case as much as I can. sometimes I may stay outside and let
someone work here and again I may come in and work as I am
now

(Good.)

I am only telling you this as an explanation.

(I understand.)

You know spirits are seemingly unknown and unreliable
quantities but it is not so It is the dependence which has to be
a part of the expression Do you know if this man lived in a brick
house

120. Cf. Note 91. This is a repetition of a previous incident. It has no
meaning to Mrs. Gifford.

In reply to inquiries, however, about Mr. Gifford’s sketch book, made to
ascertain if this and the earlier reference (p. 169) might refer to that, Mrs.
Gifford says: “ He may have had a memorandum book in which he kept all
sorts of papers, notes, etc. He had numberless little sketch books, one of
which was usually in his pocket; some black, some canvas-covered. They usu-
ally had elastic bands around them. He never had a permit to work on
He did not need one. He had one for Nashawena.”
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(Yes, I understand he did.)

I see a brick house in a block with some other houses. Is
that right.

(Yes, I believe so.)

He steps up lightly a few steps only and enters with such a
fresh buoyant spirit but that was before his illness. He suffered
much at last and grew very weak. that is the way it appears.

(How did he pass out?)

don’t ask too much to-day [Note 121.]

(All right.)

It will come. He is getting used to the work

(All right.) .

himself and will talk it over with me to-night and I hope do
better to-morrow

(Good. I will let you take your own course absolutely.)

That [pencil discarded ; another given] is better We will not
fail you or him if we can help it.

(All right. That is good.)

[Moan. Head twists and raises, coughing. Moans.]

[Spoken:] Si me couche pas larme C’est moi—

(Je ne comprend pas.)

Non, non!

(Je ne comprend pas.)

Je moi comprende pas Jai me nois— O, si bouillir!

(No.)

C’est moi!

(No.)

Si mouiller, Si bouillir!

[Automatic resumed.]

With this man are some friends some whom I know and
some whom I knew only by reputation but the effort is all for
definite and conclusive proof. [Note 122.]

121. Mr. Gifford lived in a brick house in New York, but in a frame at
Nonquitt. He did suffer very greatly the last few days of his life. Angina
pectoris was his disease.

122. The reference to friends with him, as shown in a later inquiry,
seems to have been correct and it certainly represents a fact about which
Mrs. C. could not possibly know anything under the circumstances, tho
we might suppose that it could be guessed, from casual knowledge of the
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(That is right.) [Refers only to effort to get proof.]

the man goes into a room where there is a low light and a
table and many books and papers scattered about. He sts [sits]
there and reads a little and then moves towards the table and
begins to look over the papers such an assortment all kinds of
things but he seems to know what to do with them some he
files some he writes upon and some he lays unfolded together
as if for reference.

(Good.)

It is a sort of study or room of his own work for his own
work I mean.

(I understand.) [Note 123.]

There is [pause, sigh] so much to be said about him that I
hardly know where to begin but I will pick it [“ pick ” not read]
pick up.

(Yes, that is right.)

Do you know if there was a little journey [not read] journey
a short time before his passing. [Note 124.]

(Yes.) [Only general acknowledgment of message.]

He refers to that with something like regret. I am sure he
is going to get along. Who is H—connected with him.

(I do not [know]. You would have to make that “ H—"

fuller ; with the full name.)
It is a last name; family name of someone close to him more

like a physician. [Note 125.] [Cf. Henry p. 128.]
(Don’t know of ‘any “ H—" in that connection.)
I think you will recal. [recall.]

Tavern Club where Dr. Hodgson’s membership was well known. Inquiry of a
member of the Club results in the statement by the gentleman replying: “I
am able to say that probably many of the Tavern Club knew Robert Swain
Gifford, but I know that three did know him.” The three men are named in
the letter. This fact was not known by Mrs. Gifford, as she had never heard
of the Tavern Club or the relation to it of any of Mr. Gifford’s friends.

123. There were many books and papers about his desk and room. There
was no “low light” on his desk, but Mr. Gifford had a lamp on his dining
room table when he wanted to draw and a drop light in a small parlor.

124, He and Mrs. Gifford had gone to Weehawken and taken a stroll
along the docks, crossing the ferry, about a week before his death.

125. Dr. Yale was the name of his physician and a Dr. Wood was called
in at last part of his illness. Initials of Dr. Yale were “ L. M.”
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(All right.)

I think we had better let the rest wat [wait] he has had an in-
troduction.

(Yes, that is right.)

to the work

(Good.)

and will go on [read “an”] on all right now I think [read
“that ’] think. good night

(Good-night, Hodgson. Thanks.)

H—

-

[Subliminal No. 2.]

[Time, 6.00 P. M.]

Put my head back.

[H. does so, putting his left hand on medium’s forehead ; takes
her right hand in his right. Pause. Then, faintly:]

Hullo!

(Hullo.)

Am I coming back?

[Mr. Thompson leaves room.]

What is that noise?

(Door opening.) [Here door slams to.]

Goes right through you, doesn’t it?

(Does it?)

Yes. [Pause.] Dr. Hyslop, have you got a—an old-fash-
ioned blue plate?

(Not that I recall now.)

I see this old-fashioned, blue plate and another piece of china
with it, like a tall tea-pot or jug or something. Do you know if
your sister has got one?

(Don'’t know. I will find out.)

Well, have you got—I don’t suppose you have got such a
thing as a stein, have you?

(No. Don’t drink beer.)

Well, this is not—It is more like a little syrup jug that looks
like a stein.

(Oh, yes! I guess I have a stein.)

Yes, a little—Do you use it for anything special?

(I don’t remember it now. Who told you that?)
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It is in your house, you know.

(Yes.)

As though I seem to want to find it in your house and this
blue thing is near it, you know. A blue plate is right near it. It
seems to be back in the closet, you know.

(Yes.)

Back. Have you got a closet where some dishes are kept?
There is a place—oh, a little place about as wide as that,where the
door does not come. It is not a very deep closet, but it is broad,
this way ; big doors, you know.

(Yes, yes.) :

And it seems to be right around on the side there, as thoug
I would look in and I would find it, about on a level with my face
when I am sitting up. I can look right in around there. Ain’t
that funny?

(Yes.) [Note 126.]

[Pause.] Hm. When people come in it doesn’t go so well,
does it?

(Not quite so well. I didn’t expect it to, either.)

You didn’t?

(No.)

It is because it is—T'here has to be—Haven’t got used to mak-
ing tests of it, you know, except for you. I suppose that is it,
don’t you?

(That is it. The communicator isn’t used to it, but will be.)

Oh, it will come, all right. It was a good sitter, you know.

(Yes.)

Good person. Better than the one you had sometimes.

(Yes.)

Good-bye.

(Good-bye.)

126. I did not at first recognize the reference to a “stein,” but in a mo-
ment I recalled that my wife had brought one from Germany for me. I have
not seen it for a long time and did not remember at the time where it was.
The “blue plate’ was recognizable enough, as we had a number of them of
which my wife was especially fond. There was a large blue pitcher of which
she was also fond. There is a china closet in the dining room where all the
best china and glassware are kept. It is not deep and the doors are rathet
large, and it fills most of the space between the door and the window.
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[Orchestra starts, with violin in lead, down in the foyer of
the hotel.]

Hear that little squeak! I wish you would send my love to
Mrs. L———. Tell her Dr. Hodgson sends his, too.

(Good.)

It seemed as though she has been out riding somewhere and
had something happen, you know; not an accident, but some-
thing had happened that made her kind of impatient.

(Yes?)

It is more like being held up somewhere for something so she
could not go on, you know. He says he was there, you know.

(Yes.)

Some old thing happened. It seems as though—Has she got
an auto of her own?

(I don’t know.)

Do you know if she rides in one a lot?

(No, I don’t.)

You don’t know whether she does, or not?

(No, I do not.)

Well, it seems—It is something where she is riding and she
has to get out and she walks up and down a little, you know;
kind of nervous. [Note 127.]

What is that? [As hand encounters pendant given medium
that day and worn for the first time.]

(Don’t you know what that is?)

No. What is it? It isn’t a cross, is it?

(No.)

It isn’t my locket, either.

(No.)

Something new, isn’t it?

(Yes.)

[Pause, holding jade pendant in hand.] I will have to get
used to it. I don’t know what it is now.

[Subliminal No. 1.]
[6.08 P. M.]

[Smiles.] Hm! I do. Hullo!

127. 1 was not able to make inquiry in time to assure myself whether
there was any coincidence in this reference to Mrs. L. or not.
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(Hullo.)

Hullo, “ Dear.”

(Reporter: Hullo, “ Kiddie.”)

I know it.

(Reporter: I know you do.)

I just wanted to say right out, Oh, pshaw! Come further
back, you know! Gone so far away you forget. That is like
spirits do sometimes; they seem to be so far away they forget,
you know.

(Yes.) .

It is a jade ornament.

(Yes.)

Pretty, isn’t it?

(Yes.)

Do you like it?

(Yes.)

I do, too. [Note 128.] Hm. Did you have a good sitting?

(Very good.).

I don’t think it was much. .

(It was not nearly as good as a great many are, but I did not
expect it to be even anything to-day.)

I didn’t think it was much myself. I wanted to see what you
would say and see if your notions are worth a cent.

(Yes, there were some very good things in it.)

Oh, of course, now and then.

(Wouldn’t prove much.)

No, you couldn’t prove much by it. You have got to have
more than that. Got to have cumulative evidence.

(Yes.)

Cumulative facts.

(Yes.)

128. This discovery of the pendant is interesting, especially on any theory
of secondary personality. Mrs. C. knew well enough in her normal state what
it was. She had bought it or received it that day and put it on her neck her-
self. The reader will observe that there is a change of personality before she
discovers what it is, namely, a “jade ornament.” This subliminal I. is the
state nearest the normal, and usually shows a good memory of normal experi-
ence. Hence it discovers the identity of the ornament, Subliminal II. does
not, as the reader will remark.
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Hm. Getting big, myself. Well, good-bye.

(Good-bye.)

Where is that “ Billy ” who came once?

(Why, he couldn’t come just yet.)

Isn’t he coming any more?

(Perhaps so, if I can get time.)

I mean, the afternoon “ Billy.”

(I know.)

“ Billy Baldhead.”

(Yes, if I can get him here.)

Does he want to?

(Yes.)

Does he, really?

(Yes.)

We are good friends,—he and I. I told him so, didn’t I?

(Yes.) ‘

You forgot to hold my hand. [H. takes right hand extended
to him.] Don’t get too busy.

[Eyes open to consciousness at 6.15.]

June 3, 1908, 4.25 P. M.
Medium, Mrs. C. Present, J. H. Hyslop.

[Subliminal.]

[Eyes close and head falls forward. H. adjusts it on a pillow
which has been placed in chair behind psychic. Long pause.
Then, faintly :]

Do you know an “Arthur?”

(Don’t recall now. What is the last name?)

I will—I will get it in a minute. [Pause.] Johnson.

(I know a Johnson but I am not sure about the “Arthur.”)

Came just as plain as the “Arthur” did. [Pause.] Do you
know what your Johnson looked like?

(No.) .

You don’t? Well, this is a man, I should think—This is in
the spirit land, you know.

(Yes.)

And I should think it was a man about forty-five or forty-
six years old. He is not old, at all, you know, but a strong, good-
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looking man. He is dark and slender and very active and that is
his name. He seems to have known something about Mrs.
Piper, you know.

(I see.)

Because I connect him with Mrs. I keep hearing the
Piper name. He is not a relative of hers, but he must have known
something about her work.

(All right. I will inquire.)

Keeps speaking of her. That is, speaking the name, you
know. [Pause.] [Note 129.]

I feel the spirits awful near, as if they were right in me, some-
way. You know what I mean?

(Yes.)

So close they are, they take possession of me. That sort of a
feeling. Hm. You don’t disbelieve me, do you?

(No.)

Not even if the rest do?

(No. I don’t know that they disbelieve. They just ignore
everything that they do not see with their own eyes.)

Aha. Itis a pretty bad way to be, isn't it?

(Yes.) .

But that is the way most everybody is about these things.

(Yes, and other things, too.)

Yes, sir; that is true. We know the most about the things we
are most interested in, but I guess, if we had some great problem

129. When the name Johnson was mentioned I thought of a deceased
cousin, but it was not Arthur and nothing resembling it. Besides it was
spelled with a “t.” I never heard of any Johnson that was either a sitter or
communicator in the Piper case. The reference to the English a little later,
without any apparent reason to recall them, suggests that the reference might
be to some one related to Miss Alice Johnson who knows something of Mrs.
Piper. But this is probably an extreme suggestion and is certainly not a
necessary one.

Inquiry of Miss Alice Johnson shows that she had a cousin Arthur John-
son, but we can attach no special value to this circumstance. I am more in-
clined to think that the Johnson is a mistake and that the Arthur is a remin-
iscence of this name a little earlier (p. 200), or that what we get is a confused
abbreviation of a reference to Miss Johnson as the one who will know the
meaning of Arthur. The latter supposes that the names have some meaning,
but it would require much straining to give them any such meaning as is here
imagined.
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—some other great problem—you would find they were just as
bad. They certainly were about the United States Government,
wern’t they?

(Yes.)

When that was established—in breaking away from England.
They always are in any great movement, I think; don’t you?

(Yes.)

Hm. Oh, dear! Do you know, I just feel as if I am flying up
in the air, right up over the tops of the houses; in the sky. It
makes me dizzy. I suppose they are going to take my spirit
away somewhere.

(It may be.)

Oh! [Pause.] Don’t you ever get discouraged?

(No.)

Don’t you ever get discouraged over my work?

(No, not at all.)

Well, I do.

(No need to be.)

It seems as though it ought to be so much—Oh, I don’t know
—more definite and more ready, you know; as if there ought to
~ be a time when these things ceased ; this feeling your way along
so. Don't you feel that way about it?

(No. Lots of it is perfectly definite.)

Is it? It doesn’t seem so to me. It seems as though I just
go like a snail, sometimes, that it is so slow. I do want it to be so
good. Oh, dear! The air is awful—awful strong up here, isn’t
it? Oh, ain’t it cold! You feel cold?

(No.)

Oh, yes. Don't you feel that breeze?

(No, I don't feel it.) [Note 130.]

Oh, dear! [Constant moaning.] Oh, it is so dark! It is so
dark! Oh! Why, it is so dark! [Shivers. Pause.] Oh!

[H. opens door and admits Mr. Thompson. Time, 4.35. Hand
moves as if reaching for a pencil.]

What hit me?

(Nothing that I know of. Probably heard a noise.)

130. Cf.'Dr. Hodgson’s reference to passing up through the cool ether in
‘his communications through Mrs. Piper (Journal Am. S. P. R, Vol. I, p. 186).
Mrs. C. may have noticed this as she read the articles.
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Hm. Came back into the light again, didn’t I?

(What?) .

Came back into the light again. Oh, I know what it is!

(What is that?)

You let somebody in.

(Yes.)

Hm. Is it a friendly person?

(Very.)

Who won’t make fun?

(No, not a bit.)

I don’t like to be made fun of.

(No. He believes it.)

Because it is bad enough to be called “ Freaky,” isn’t it?

(Yes, but I never worry about that.)

You don’t, but I do.

(Rather be a freak than anything else.)

Oh, no.

(Yes, I would.)

Why do you? Because you think they are the—

(That is the only way to be right.)

Truthful people—freaky?

(Yes.) ‘

Oh, yes, but that is different from being a freak like I am. If
you had to walk on your head just to show people that the, er—
well—er—the equilibrium could be maintained that way—Could
be, you know—you wouldn’t like it much, would you?

(No, but the way I look at it is this: Everybody is already
walking on his head and that is wrong. I am walking on my
feet.)

Oh, yes. You have decided your feet are best?

(Yes.)

Well, I ought to be able to trust anybody you would bring,
oughtn’t I? '

(Yes.)

But I am not always—Because, you are always free, are€ you?

(Not always. Generally so.)

Well, do you know what I see now?

(What?)

A big city. I am right over it.
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(Yes.)

It is a big, big city that I have never seen before, where nearly
all the houses are flat on top, you know.

(Yes.)

Not so very high, either, and flat, flat.

(Yes. Anything else about the city?)

Yes, sir.

(What is it?)

So many of them are red, like red,—red bricks or tiles, you
know ; something of that sort.

(Yes.)

And it is 'way off somewhere. The sand is as white! Obh,
just as white as a beach everywhere around; see?

(Yes.)

And the water—Oh, it is like a sea, you know.

(Yes.) ‘

Beautiful sea and air. This—this little city is right between
the sea and a river on the other side of it, you know. You can
see each side.

(Yes.)

And now and then—Strange thing, though, Dr. Hyslop : There
are no churches there like your churches here. I see no spires
going up, like they are here.

(No.)

And yet, I see some tall things; they are more like square—
going up ; more like obelisks, you know.

(Yes.) .

Here and there something like that, and everything is so
peaceful, so calm, and the people are different. They are dressed
differently. See?

(Yes.)

They have garments and little things on their heads and gar-
ments that are alike, you know. More uniformity in the ar-
rangement of the dress of the women. Isn’t that strange? I
hope they won’t drop me down there, don’t you?

(No, they won’t.)

Hm. Who has been there. Have you?

(I don’t know what city it is. Can you tell me?)
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I think so. [Pause.] Why, I would think that these people
were Spanish. They look like that, you know.

(Yes.)

And it seems like a Spanish town, but whether it is Mexico or
Spain, I don’t know. The Mexicans are like that, too, aren’t
they?

(I believe so.)

Oh, but it’s a long way off where I am. Have you been
there?

(No.) *

Not to Mexico?

(No.) .

That’s funny!

(Someone else has been there.)

That is in this room?

(No. Someone, perhaps, that wants to communicate.)

Yes, I think so, because I seem to—[Note 131.]

Hm! There is something brought from there by the person,
you know.

(Yes.)

Bits of things like little stones in the hand, you know; little
bits of jewels and things that grow there. You know what I
mean?

(Yes.)

A whole handful of them. Isn’t it hot! It is—Oh! That is

131. Mr. Gifford made two trips to Egypt and Algeria, and painted some
scenes on these trips. He was very fond of the scenes that he saw and painted.
The general fitness of the description will be apparent to any reader after this
account of his travel. The flat houses, the bricks and tiles, the sea, the white
beach, the strange dress, and the recognition of the general type of the people,
which, tho technically false, is right as to general complexion, the reference to
obelisks, etc., all of which, tho it does not indicate what special city, may sug-
gest Cairo or Alexandria. There was practically no possibility that the me-
dium should know of such trips and their interest, tho she may have known
enough to mention the facts from general knowledge, but without associating
them with any particular communicator.

Mr. Thompson had had a number of apparitions of just such a place and
city, with the white sands, and it is possible that both the vision and the refer-
ence here is to the scene represented in Figure XXXI. This at least resembles,
in its general features and the sands, the account in the record and which Mr.
Thompson gave me of his hallucination. Cf. p. 59.
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no one I know, I think,—the spirit. [Pause. Moan.] Put my
head in the thing. [H. places head in rest.] Pull me up a little
bit. [H. arranges pillows behind medium.] Good-bye.
(Good-bye. Have a good time.)
Yes. I hope I won’t be discouraged.
(No, you don’t need to be.) [Note 132.]
. [Hand reaches for pencil. H. gives it a yellow one. Long
pause.] ’

[Automatic.]

again we come Iam G P [Note 133.]

(Yes, how are you, George?)

[H. places left hand on card picture of a lady.]

feeling fine and hope to [read “have to”] hope get some
things through to-day which will [“ which” read “ what” and
hand goes back and points] help a little on the problem '

(Good!)

every day is precious now and we realize it as much as you do

(Yes, we will get along finely.)

Yesterday Richard was rather anxious [“rather” read
“either ”] rather and it brought a disturbed element. no one
knows it better than he but the mental condition is so active in
these matters that it is hard to tell what is going to effect [affect]
and what is not. [Note 134.]

(Yes, I understand.)

132. Mr. Thompson had in his pocket a handful of glass imitation of
diamonds the purchase of which had been suggested to him by one of his hal-
lucinations. The hallucination was of some city like this with white sands and
shores. None of us knew this fact, and after Mrs. C. uttered the statements
he took out a number of them and showed us that he had them.

133. “G. P.” represents the initials of the man whom Dr. Hodgson
called George Pelham in his Report on the phenomena of Mrs. Piper. He is
a frequent control in the case of Mrs. C., often more or less alternates with
Dr. Hodgson.

134. The statement here by G. P. coincides with what I remarked in con-
nection with Dr. Hodgson’s communications through Mrs. Piper. He always
showed such excitement or strong mentality, if I may so express it, that he dis-
turbed the communication, and I usually find him less poised than either G. P.
or Mr. Myers. Mrs. C. knew absolutely nothing of this between them, unless
it might have been a conscious or unconscious inference from what she had
read in the Journal above mentioned.
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The friend who tried to communicate yesterday is here again
and we hope for good things.

(Good.)

There is a lady here also of whom I will tell you She is tall
and slender [*“1” superposed on “ s ’] and quite gray and wears a
cap on her head although she seems not an old woman Her
strength and her spirit are so evidently [read “ constantly "] evi-
dent [read “evidently ” and hand goes back and points] in her
manner that age is not apparent to any great degree. She is very
calm and self-possessed and is associated with the group who
[“ who ” erased] which is trying to manifest. Her name is not
yet given in full but it is rather an odd one and sounds like
“ Priscilla ” or a name of that type I may get it more fully later.

(Good.)

She is very ladylike and yet as earnestly pressing [read ‘ pas-
sive ] pressing in the matter of communication as is possible
with her makeup.

(Good.)

She holds fast [* holds ” read “ talks "] holds to the theme of
identity and desires to make good on that point.

(All right.) [Note 135.]

You remember the man who came yesterday do you not.

(Yes. We have merely to conjecture who it is. We are not
yet sure, exactly, who it was, as we will have some facts to verify
and will need some more specific ones to be perfectly sure who it
was.)

Do you refer to S— or to the later

(To the later person. The “ S—" I know well enough.)

Yes that was what I supposed. that to... [not read] The
later communicator had so much to think of in the coming
that he did not get at what [not read] the at the point which in-
terested, him most. Do you know if the man of whom you spoke
died away [not read] died away from home. [“ home” read
“here ” and hand taps until correctly read.]

135 The lady described here is not recognizable by Mrs. Gifford. Nor is
the name Priscilla.

It is possible, judging from the qualification of the name, that Priscilla is
a symbolic name and intended to represent some characteristic of the person
meant. It matters not what explanation of the message be offered.
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(It seems so.)

you remember yesterday there was a talk about a journey a
little before the death )

(Yes.)

It seems as if the body had to be moved after death and before
the service

(Yes, that is true.)

This was a cause of distress to some of the loved ones but
to him was of no consequence. He was too much interested even
then in the problem to [not read] problem to give it any concern.

(I understand.) [Note 136.]

after the removal and the service there was so much to do to
get everything together and in order for the forces had been
scattered.

(Yes. What particular feature of the problem was he inter-
ested in?)

I mean this problem of return He tried to get at the root of
[not read] root of [not read] root [“t” crossed] the matter at
once for it seemed to him a good chance to try. you must know
that.

(I have my reasons to believe it, but I would like as full an
account of that as you can give here.)

Yes yes it will come.

(Good.)

He

(“ He—" something—"‘ looked even? )

He even lok [erased] looked even He even to see what
was going on in various [not read] various places that he might
identify himself [read “ manifest ”’] identify by some of the inci-
dents [read “ sometimes ”’] incidents but he has not done so yet.

(All right. What means has he taken to manifest himself?)

I do not know yet but I am telling [read “testing ] telling
you that he looked at everything [not read] everything and tried
to remember that he might identify himself.

136. Mr. Gifford did not die away from home, unless we regard his real
home to have been at Nonquitt. He died in New York, and his body was re-
moved to the church before the funeral service. The journey mentioned in this
connection refers to the same incident as spoken of in Note 124. There was
no special distress occasioned by the necessity of removing the body.
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(Good.)

He had so many large interests and so many studies to keep
his attention. You know that also.

(I merely know two things. What was his pro—work?)

You were about to say his profession.

(Yes, that was the word I first thought of.)

I knew it for you almost spoke it Well he was a professional
man along our lines not a psychist as you are but philosophy and
the sort of thing that the rest of us and you also were formerly
interested in. [Note 137.]

(You mean to say that this gentleman—the communicator,
who is in some way related to the friend present—was interested
in our general lines professionally ?)

not psychic but the other general lines. yes. that is what I
meant to say. Then....

(Yes, I understand, but the man—the man I am thinking of
was not in our general line, at all, and it was the man I thought
you were trying to identify.)

that may be all right as far as you are concerned but this man
is interested and while it is not his life work it is an interest deep
[not read] deep and sure which he feels.

(Yes, I believe that must be his deep interest now but I wish
to know just what specific work he did when living that would
identify him.)

That will come along all right

(Good. I will wait.)

Do you know anything about his books

137. All these statements characterize the communicator as trying to iden-
tify himself in various places and as being interested in “philosophy and the
sort of thing the rest of us and you also were formerly interested in.” They
do not describe Mr. Gifford, but do describe Prof. Sidgwick and also correctly
indicates what appears on the surface of many apparent attempts of his to re-
turn and identify himself. The lapse into references to such things is appar-
ently one of G. P.’s own unconscious deviations to the subject in mind the day
before. Cf. Note 108.

We may assume that the amanuensis might often, through association, get
incidents of a previous occasion interfused with those transmitted to him at
another and later time. There is abundant evidence of this in the Piper rec-
ords. If this hypothesis be possible or true we may well understand the error
in relation to Mr. Gifford of the allusions in this passage.
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(No, I do not.)

Does the friend.

(No.)

His own books those he used. Not in his work but those he
had about him. Some times for [not read] times for reference

(Tell us about them.)

There is one small paper covered one with round black figures
on which are small marks. These black spheres are scattered
through the book.

(Good.)

It is more like a stellar geography than anything else but is a
small and as I said paper covered book. [read “ work ” and hand
points] Yes [in answer to correct reading.] do you know about
that. [Note 138.]

(No, I do not, but can inquire. Shall have to inquire about
that.)

All right. now again do you know anything about his voice
[read questioningly] Yes [in answer to reading] it sounds low
and well modulated and flexible and as he talks he sits back in an
easy attitude and uses his hands much. I do not seem to be
getting anywhere but will keep trying. [Note 139.]

138. No one recognizes the book described as any of Mr. Gifford’s. It
might possibly refer to some illustrations of his and the message may have
become distorted in the passage. Representations of a globe often’ appear in
certain types of illustrations. But the mention of such here can have no evi-
dential significance unless having special reference to something characteristic
of the alleged communicator, and that is not certain in this case. Coming-in
such close proximity with apparent references to Prof. Sidgwick suggests ap-
plicability to him, tho I have no reason to believe either that he is intended or
that it would be pertinent. But there is a certain confusion here that reminds
me of similar phenomena in the Piper case.

Mr. Gifford had varied interests besides his painting to look after, but
was not in any respect interested in philosophic problems. He believed in the
immortality of the soul and did not interest himself in psychic matters at all.

It is perhaps proper to add that I saw some volumes at Mr. Gifford’s cot-
tage in Nonquitt which he had himself illustrated. I saw no illustrations in
them answering to the description in this passage, but the type of drawing
mentioned is very common. Cf. p. 162.

139. Mr. Gifford was in the habit of sitting in an easy attitude and had
a low modulated voice, and I imagine from what I know that the same could
be said of Prof. Sidgwick, as of many other people. Apparently there was
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(Yes, go ahead.)

[Moan. Head twists. Sigh. Pause.]

It is not as hard as yesterday and that gives me courage.

(Good. It is all right.)

Some of the earlier incidents of his life have slipped away but
he expresses himself about the funeral service Was there a
double one.

(I believe not.)

that is one at one place and then a [“then” read “there”]
then a little something somewhere else.

(Yes.)

He seems so pleased at what was said and done but there was
a sort of relief when it was all over. a relief for him I mean.

(Yes.)

Some of the people had to hurry right away to get trains and
get back home ask the friend if he went to a station with some-
one immediately after the service.

(No, he did not. This friend was not present at the service.)

There is something wrong then for there is a train and station
and this friend somewhere that this spirit recalls It is after
everything is all over.

(Yes, I understand, but he doesn’t recall any such thing, un-
less it was an event that took place on your side after this spirit’s
departure from this life.)

I do not catch your meaning.

(Possibly, this spirit saw this friend here present to-day at a
station some time after the spirit left the body.)

yes

(That would not prove his identity.)

[Pause.] Do you think I am so far collapsed that I do not
know that What the spirit refers to is a [“a " erased] an event
which I took [read “look” and hand taps] to be immediately
following the funeral service because the reference was imme-
diately after it but when I say there is something wrong here I
mean I have misplaced a real incident

(Yes, I understand that, George.)

some consciousness of confusion, as the moaning usually signifies a conscious-
ness of needed change. The messages at once become more pertinent.



228  Proceedings of American Society for Psychical Research.

That we often do through bad calculation.

(All right.) [Note 140.]

[Pause.]

(I understand that, exactly.)

[Pause.] yes I am only waiting for fuel. [read question-
ingly.] yes [in answer to reading.] when he fills the engine
I... [read “ Feels the energy ] fills engine I will go on.

(Good.) .

Do you know anything about a large pocket handkerchief

(I do not.)

which was in some way connected with this spirit.

(No, I'do not.)

It is like a large linen one which was used about the body.
He speaks of this as being unusual. [not read] unusual. yes

(We shall have to inquire about that.)

It seems to have been either put over the face or touching the
[read “tending the ”] touching face in some way and as if it
were put away with the body.

(Good. We shall have to inquire about that, George. The
fact is that neither of us know any facts whatever about the
funeral service. We shall have to inquire elsewhere for that.)

all the better.

(Yes.)

This handkerchief was not put there by the undertaker but
by some member or friend of the family.

(Good.) [Note 141.]

[Pause.] You have nothing of his have you.

(No, not a thing. Yes, the friend has.)

[H. takes from Mr. Thompson a small package and unrolls
from it a small card, which he puts under medium’s left hand.]

put it in my hand. [H. places card in medium’s hand.]

Thank you. I thought it might help him. [Pause.]

140. There were two funerals for Mr. Gifford, one in New York and the
other in New Bedford. What is said of a friend hurrying to the station after
the funeral applies to a number of persons, but not to any recognizable one in
particular. Mr. Thompson was not at the funeral, as he was neither a special
friend nor aware of Mr. Gifford’s death.

141. Mrs. Gifford does not know whether there is any truth in the inci-
dent about the pocket handkerchief.
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Hodgson seems to know who the spirit is and to have much
concern to have him manifest.

(Yes, I understand, and, if he could tell anything about what
he has done in connection with this gentleman, that would do
much to prove his identity.)

You mean before his death or since.

(I mean, since his death.)

[Pause.] Here is a peculiar thing I see a large hoop yes
[in answer to reading] and a broad flight of stairs. It looks like
a large public building into which our friend here goes for the
stairways are iron and openwork and the stairs are marble. [not
read] of marble Yes [in answer to reading] Does this friend or
has he been into such a building with [read “either”] with a
sense of familiarity about the surroundings.

(Not that he knows of. Does not recall anything of the kind.
[Pause.] He says, yes, he has been in such a place.)

yes well upstairs in that building this spirit has been with
him and seen him sit down and take a paper with writing on it
and [moan] read it over and over. over and over. Yes [in an-
swer to reading] if as [superposed on “if ”’] it were a letter or
paper with writing of consequence on it '

(What—)

concerning our spirit.

(What was the gentleman doing in that building upstairs?
What did he go in there for?)

He went in to go upstairs to sit down in a room waiting for no
not waiting but he stayed some time alone and then talked with a
man and came out. it is not his office but like a place familiar
through a friend He called for some specific thing. [Note 142.]

What has A to do with this.

142. Mrs. Gifford does not recognize the description of the house, but it
l;qcalled to her mind the house of a friend where Mr. Gifford frequently went.
I know the exterior of the house myself and the “hoop” clearly suggests the
circular drive that enters the front, but I know nothing of the interior of the
house. The man’s wealth would enable him to have such a stairway.

The details are not verifiable, except that Mr. Thompson was never in this
building, and none of the incidents fit him. Mr. Thompson did visit the Amer-
ican Art Galleries after his death, as intimated above (p. 32), but the descrip-
tion of the building does not fit this place and neither do the incidents. -
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(Does not recall anything meant by “A.” This is all per-
fectly blind.)

Ar [pause] thur yes [in answer to reading:] Arthur

(Does not know any “Arthur ” at all. If you could tell, spe-
cifically, what this spirit did in life—what his profession was—it
would enable us to know, in one word, whether you are correct,
or not.) [Note 143.]

That seems dead easy but I must wait.

(All right.)

[Pause.] Color

(That suggests.)

more color and more again.

(You are on the right line now.)

Yes dont [read “about”] dont hurry It is coming

(All right; take your time.) [Note 144.]

[Long pause.] The little paper handbook reappears yes [in
answer to reading] it was for some especial design or a part of
the study connected with his art.

(All right, all right. What was his art? Tell that when you
can.)

Yes when he can he is agitated

(Tell him not to worry. He is doing well.)

He does not intend to but it is fine [read ““ true ”] fine work
oh his hands are so deft yes [in answer to reading] deft and

143. There is an apparent interruption here by something related to Prof.
Sidgwick. The name Arthur apparently refers to the same person as before.
Cf. Note 108. The confusion here and previously very much resembles that
which frequently occurs in the experiments with Mrs. Piper. Apparently there
is no distinct knowledge of what I want, and so far as I know the description
of the large public building might describe the House of Parliament or some
other structure in England. The passage is, therefore, extremely equivocal.

Mr. Gifford had no friend by the name of Arthur that Mrs. Gifford re-
calls. His hands were not large and white.

144, The reference to color is the first clear indication of identity that
could be recognized and from this point the confusion between communicators
seems to disappear. Compare my first and second sitting with Mrs. Piper
where I denied the relationship of the woman claiming to be my mother and
finally recognized my brother Charles, so that the second sitting opened with
direct communication with my father and the limitation of the communicators
afterward to the family and relatives (Proceedings English S. P. R.,, Vol.
XVI, pp. 308, 310, and 313).
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strong yes [in answer to reading] and white they are quite large
but white

(Good.)

[Pause.] His work is left behind and tells the story of his
effort in many ways

(Yes, it does.)

It is like a broken lily beautiful [pause] each side the break.
He did two kinds of work the same general work but classified
into two kinds definitely One he [“ one ” read “ and ”’] One did
early and left behind to take up the newer [“ new ” first written;
so read; “—er ” added] Yes [in answer to reading] Such skys
[skies] how he loved them.

(Yes. Go on.)

Always the blue of the sky was so fascinating to him.

(Good.)

His career is not ended but it is for his friends to do much
about his work here now.

(Good.) [Note 145.]

[Pause.] Wait a little

(Yes. All right.)

[Moan. Pause. Moaning. Scrawl.]

[Change of Control.]

I wish I could write for myself it could be more satisfying
help me

(Yes, we shall, by being calm and patient. Take your time.)

It is so much of an effort

(Yes, I understand.)

to keep your memory and all the work at the same time

(Yes, I understand that. You are doing well.)

* * [Scrawl. possible attempt at “we.”] I do not think
so but I want to so much

[Here hand shows signs of agitation and H. puts his hand
over it. Scrawls. Hand drops pencil and reaches for another.

145. Mr. Gifford did two kinds of work, illustrating in his earlier life
when he had to earn his living and painting later, including teaching, as indi-
cated in another passage. His hands were not large and white, according to
the testimony of Mrs. Gifford. But he was excessively fond of the sky, as
perhaps all artists are.
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H. gives it a yellow one, which is thrown away; anot